
Council
Town Hall
Wallasey

4 December 2015 

Dear Councillor

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council to 
be held at 6.15 pm on Monday, 14 December 2015 in the Council 
Chamber, within the Town Hall, Wallasey, to take into 
consideration and determine upon the following subjects : - 

Contact Officer: Patrick Sebastian 
Tel: 0151 691 8424
e-mail: patricksebastian@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Council are asked to consider whether they have any 
disclosable pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest, in 
connection with any matter to be debated or determined at this 
meeting and, if so, to declare it and state the nature of such interest.

2. CIVIC MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive the Mayor's announcements and any apologies for 
absence.

3. PETITIONS 

To receive petitions submitted in accordance with Standing Order 21.

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To deal with questions from members of the public, in accordance with 
Appendix 1 to Standing Orders.



5. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 30)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting(s) of the 
Council held on 12 October and 19 November, 2015.

6. LEADER'S, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' AND CHAIRS REPORTS 
(Pages 31 - 70)

To receive the written reports of the Leader, Cabinet Members and 
Chair of the Policy and Performance Coordinating Committee and 
receive questions and answers on any of those reports in accordance 
with Standing Orders 10(2)(a) and 11.

7. MATTERS REQUIRING APPROVAL BY THE COUNCIL 
(Pages 71 - 240)

To consider any recommendations of the Leader, Cabinet, Cabinet 
Member and Committees which require the approval of the Council. 
The relevant minutes and reports are attached.

A. Capital Monitoring 2015/16 Quarter 2 (Pages 71 – 90)

Minute 65 and the report to Cabinet (5 November, 2015) are 
attached and the Council is recommended to agree the revised 
Capital Programme of £50.2 million.

B. Budget Council Arrangements (Pages 91 – 102)

Minute 67 and the report to Cabinet (5 November, 2015) are 
attached and the Council is called upon to support the 
recommendations as listed.

C. Neighbourhood Planning – Devonshire Park (Pages 103 – 140)

Minute 69 and the report to Cabinet (5 November, 2015) are 
attached and the Council is recommended to support the 
Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Development Plan attached to 
the report, which was endorsed by a majority vote in a referendum 
of local electors, and that the Neighbourhood Development Plan 
be formally ‘made’ under Section 38A(4) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

D. Draft Statement of Policy under the Gambling Act 2005
(Pages 141 – 186)

Minute 11 and the Draft Statement of Policy (revised) reported to 
Licensing Act 2003 Committee (28 October, 2015) are attached 
and the Council is recommended to approve the Draft Statement 
of Policy (as amended).



E. Amendment to Scheme of Delegation – Objections to 
Highways Proposals (Pages 187 – 196)

Minute 10 and the report to Standards and Constitutional 
Oversight Committee (23 November, 2015) are attached and the 
Council is recommended to approve the proposed changes to the 
Scheme of Delegation to the Council’s Constitution as detailed in 
the report (as amended). This item was also considered by the 
Policy and Performance Regeneration and Environment 
Committee (2 December, 2015), Minute 27 (to follow).

F. Summary of the Work and Proposals of the Standards and 
Constitutional Oversight Working Group (Pages 197 – 230)

Minute 11 and the report to Standards and Constitutional 
Oversight Committee (23 November, 2015) are attached and the 
Council is recommended to approve the proposed changes to the 
Council’s Constitution as detailed in the report.

G. Social Media Policy (Pages 231 – 240)

The report to the Policy and Performance - Transformation and 
Resources Committee (3 December, 2015) is attached. Council is 
recommended to approve the Social Media Policy.

Minute 25  (to follow).

8. MATTERS FOR NOTING 

The following matter, determined by the Cabinet, is drawn to the 
Council’s attention in accordance with the Constitution (copies of the 
related reports can be provided for Council members on request).

Cabinet – 5 November, 2015
Minute 64 – Revenue Monitoring 2015/16 Quarter 2 (to September 
2015)

9. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

To consider Members’ general questions to the Mayor, Cabinet 
Member or Committee Chair in accordance with Standing Orders 10 
(2)(b) and 11.

10. MATTERS REFERRED FROM POLICY AND PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEES 

To consider and determine any references from the Policy and 
Performance Committees.

A. The Council is advised that the Notice of Motion, Proposal for a 
Fire Station on Green Belt land in Saughall Massie referred from 
Council at its meeting on 6 July, 2015 (minute 31 (iii) refers) was 
considered by the Policy and Performance Regeneration and 



Environment Committee on 2 December, 2015.

In accordance with Standing Order 7 (5) the Council is asked to 
consider the recommendation of the Policy and Performance 
Regeneration and Environment Committee:

Minute 24 (to follow)

B. The Council is advised that the Notice of Motion, Supporting 
Wirral’s Part in our Nuclear Industries referred from Council at its 
meeting on 12 October, 2015 (minute 59 (v) refers) was 
considered by the Policy and Performance Regeneration and 
Environment Committee on 2 December, 2015.

In accordance with Standing Order 7 (5) the Council is asked to 
consider the recommendation of the Policy and Performance 
Regeneration and Environment Committee:

Minute 25 (to follow)

C. The Council is advised that the Notice of Motion, Open 
Government? referred from Council at its meeting on 12 October, 
2015 (minute 59 (i) refers) was considered by the Policy and 
Performance Transformation and Resources Committee on 3 
December, 2015.

In accordance with Standing Order 7 (5) the Council is asked to 
consider the recommendation of the Policy and Performance 
Transformation and Resources Committee:

Minute 24 (to follow)

11. NOTICES OF MOTION (Pages 241 – 245)

Notices of motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7(1), 
are attached. They are listed in the order received, and the full text of 
each motion is attached. The Mayor, having considered each motion, 
in accordance with Standing Order 7(4) has decided that they will be 
dealt with as follows:

(i) Hamilton Square – Effective Scrutiny of Controversial 
Scheme 
The Civic Mayor to refer to Policy and Performance 
Regeneration and Environment Committee.

(ii) Investing in our Constituencies 
The Civic Mayor to refer to the Cabinet.

(iii) A Strong, Stable Economy and Benefits for Wirral 
Residents
To be debated.



(iv) Trade Union Bill 
To be debated.

(v) Wirral Youth Zone
To be debated.

(vi) CSR and Autumn Statement
To be debated.

12. VACANCIES 

To receive nominations, in accordance with Standing Order 25(6), in 
respect of any proposed changes in the membership of committees, 
and to approve nominations for appointments to outside organisations.

Planning Committee
Councillor Treena Johnson to replace Councillor Matt Daniel (who will 
act as a deputy).

Policy and Performance - Families and Well Being Committee
Parent Governor Representative - Mark Harrison to replace 
Mrs H. Shoebridge. Appointment until 28 October, 2019.

Policy and Performance - Coordinating Committee
Parent Governor Representative - Mark Harrison to replace 
Mrs H. Shoebridge. Appointment until 28 October, 2019.

Birkenhead Business Improvement District Board
Following formal establishment of the above, an appointment is 
required.

13. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

To consider any other items of business that the Mayor accepts as 
being urgent.

Head of Legal and Member Services





COUNCIL
Monday, 12 October 2015

Present: The Civic Mayor (Councillor Les Rowlands) in the 
Chair
Deputy Civic Mayor (Councillor Pat Hackett)

Councillors RL Abbey
T Anderson
B Berry
C Blakeley
E Boult
A Brighouse
D Burgess-Joyce
C Carubia
P Cleary
W Clements
J Crabtree
A Davies
G Davies
P Davies
WJ Davies
P Doughty
D Elderton
G Ellis
S Foulkes
P Gilchrist

JE Green
R Gregson
J Hale
P Hayes
A Hodson
K Hodson
AER Jones
C Jones
B Kenny
A Leech
AR McLachlan
M McLaughlin
C Meaden
D Mitchell
B Mooney
C Muspratt
S Niblock
T Norbury
M Patrick
T Pilgrim

C Povall
D Realey
L Reecejones
L Rennie
D Roberts
J Salter
Tony Smith
C Spriggs
J Stapleton
M Sullivan
A Sykes
J Walsh
G Watt
S Whittingham
J Williamson
I Williams
KJ Williams
S Williams

Apologies Councillors P Brightmore
M Daniel
L Fraser

T Johnson
W Smith
P Williams

41 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Council were asked to consider whether they had any 
disclosable pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest, in 
connection with any matter to be debated or determined at this meeting and, if 
so, to declare it and state the nature of such interest. 

Councillor Denise Roberts declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 
11(v) - Notice of Motion – ‘Supporting Wirral’s Part in our Nuclear Industries’ 
by virtue of her membership of CND (see minute 59 post).

Councillor Steve Niblock declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 
11(v) - Notice of Motion – ‘Supporting Wirral’s Part in our Nuclear Industries’ 



by virtue of his former membership of CND and a personal interest in agenda 
item 11(iv) – ‘Flooding in Moreton’ and the proposed amendment to that 
motion, by virtue of him being a tenant of Magenta Living (see minutes 59 and 
62 post)

Councillors Steve Foulkes and Jeff Green declared a personal interest in 
agenda item 11(iv) – ‘Flooding in Moreton’ and the proposed amendment to 
that motion, by virtue of their membership of Magenta Living (see minute 62 
post).

42 CIVIC MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Mayor noted that apologies were received from Councillors Phill 
Brightmore, Matt Daniel, Leah Fraser, Treena Johnson, Walter Smith and Pat 
Williams.

The Mayor referred to the recent tragic death of Police Constable David 
Phillips and spoke of how much his death had touched the community of 
Wirral. He asked that the appropriate letters be sent to the Police and PC 
Phillips’ family.

The Leader of the Council paid tribute to PC David Phillips who had been 
tragically killed on 5 October 2015. There had been an overwhelming 
outpouring of grief for PC Phillips, his family and friends. Councillor Davies 
had been impressed by the coming together of the community across Wirral 
and by the number of people who had come in to the Town Hall to sign the 
Book of Condolence.

The Police were held in high esteem and did a remarkable job for the 
residents of Wirral. Councillor Davies proposed that, at an appropriate time, 
PC Phillips should be posthumously awarded the Freedom of the Borough 
which would ensure his memory was kept in the minds of the people of Wirral. 
He also informed that the Council would consider what practical support it 
could provide for PC Phillips’ family. He was proud of the show of solidarity 
given by the people of Wirral.

Councillor Green thanked the Leader for sharing his ideas and thoughts on 
appropriate ways of marking the Council’s respect. What he had proposed 
was absolutely right and would have his Group’s full support.

Councillor Lesley Rennie, as a former serving Police Officer, then paid this 
tribute to PC Phillips, 

“Mr. Mayor, as a former warranted officer of Merseyside Police I am humbled 
to be given the opportunity to contribute.



At such a sad time this Council sends it’s heartfelt and deepest condolences 
to the family, friends and colleagues of PC David Phillips; and thanks them all 
for their commitment to ensuring the safety of our residents.

Such dedicated commitment has resulted in the tragic death of a fine, young, 
family man and true professional.

When I woke a week ago and heard the most devastating news many have us 
have received in years, like you all, my heart sank and we all question, “how 
can this happen in this day and age, here in this country and here in our 
neighbourhood?”

But the reality was that it had and a fantastic public servant had lost his life – 
doing his job, ensuring we can all sleep safely in our beds, and serving his 
community.

Over 100 serving police officers have lost their lives since 1970, actively 
serving the public, killed in the line of duty.

We can all remember many of them. I well remember in 1984 WPC Yvonne 
Fletcher shot at the Libyan Embassy in London.

In 1985, Constable Keith Blakelock, surrounded by a mob on the Broadwater 
Farm Estate and dying of his horrific injuries.

More recently in 2012 WPCs Nicola Hughes and Fiona Bone shot in 
Manchester.

There are many more and now our very own Dave Phillips.

Every day police officers go out from their homes to work, the thought of 
never returning doesn’t even enter your head.

All looking forward to parading on duty with their colleagues, joking together in 
the locker room, enjoying the banter and the gossip; sometimes the dark 
humour which gets you through a difficult incident.

They are briefed about recent events and what jobs to expect during their tour 
of duty, never fearing the unknown.

Their colleagues are also their family, hurt or injure one of them, you hurt 
them all. As a police officer you appreciate that your life, their lives and safety, 
depends on supporting each other.

It may be a strange and alien thought to many outside of the police family but 
to police officers it is a way of life. They would lay down their lives for each 



other. PC Phillips has done just that – laid down his life for them, for us and 
for all he served.

There is a saying “behind every great man is a great woman”. Behind every 
police officer is a great, supportive wife, husband, friend, colleague, family.

Behind PC Phillips was a great woman – his wife Jen. She deserves our 
greatest respect, without her support for Dave he could not have been the 
fantastic officer he was – thank you Jen.

To PC Phillips, his wife, children, family and colleagues – this Council is part 
of your family. We are proud of him and all of you. You will not be forgotten by 
Wirral Borough Council.

Dave Phillips, Police Constable 6554, Rest in Peace.”   

Councillor Steve Williams, as a former serving Police Officer echoed the 
comments made.

Councillor Phil Gilchrist also paid tribute to PC Phillips and expressed his 
condolences to his family.

The Council then stood for a minute’s silence in tribute to PC Phillips’ 
memory.

The Mayor then asked his chaplain to say prayers and the Revd Jacky Wise 
then led the Council in prayers.

43 PETITIONS 

In accordance with Standing Order 21, the Mayor received petitions submitted 
by –
 
Councillor Chris Blakeley on behalf of 31 signatories requesting resident only 
parking in Holt Avenue, Moreton.

Councillor Chris Carubia on behalf of:

(i). 130 signatories requesting traffic calming measures between Heygarth 
and Bridle Road prior to the completion of 300 new homes being built at 
Acre Lane and Bridle Road, Bromborough.

(ii).968 signatories requesting that the emergency services be allowed free 
access through the Mersey Tunnels for free.

Councillor Geoffrey Watt on behalf of 454 signatories opposing the loss of the 
No. 80 Newton Circular bus on 1 September. 



Resolved –That the petitions be noted and referred to the appropriate 
Chief Officer in accordance with Standing Order 34.

44 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Mr B Penketh, having given the appropriate notice in accordance with 
Standing Order 11, submitted a question on the collection of business rates.
 
The Leader of the Council responded accordingly.
 
In accordance with Standing Order 10, Mr Penketh asked a supplementary 
question and Councillor Davies replied.

45 MINUTES 

The minutes of three Council meetings held on 6 and 13 July, 2015 had been 
circulated to Members and, it was – 
 
Resolved – That the minutes be approved and adopted as a correct 
record.

46 LEADER'S, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' AND CHAIRS REPORTS 

The Leader of the Council presented his summary report upon matters 
relevant to his portfolio. He responded to questions from Councillors Chris 
Blakeley and Pat Cleary and made a number of comments including –

 With regard to Wirral Waters and the proposed International Trade Centre 
discussions were ongoing and an announcement was imminent.

 The Council was working closely with Neptune Developments on the 
Birkenhead Town Centre masterplan and a period of consultation would 
be held with the public, local residents and across the whole of Wirral, 
although the format of this consultation had not yet been formalised.

Questions were then invited for Councillor Ann McLachlan on her 
Governance, Commissioning and Improvement Portfolio Report and 
responses to questions from Councillors Jean Stapleton, Jeff Green and Dave 
Mitchell included the following comments:

 Other areas of alternative delivery models might include mutual 
organisations or shared services, the Council was looking at a range of 
areas. There were major opportunities to talk about collaboration and 
further announcements would be made over the coming weeks.

 Discussions were ongoing with Trade Unions and she acknowledged there 
would be concerns from the workforce. The idea of alternative delivery 
models was about securing top quality services for Wirral whilst securing 



jobs and she hoped that the Trade Union partners would work with the 
Council.

 She was confident that the new Community Interest Company, Edsential, 
would work. The Business Plan had been worked up jointly with Cheshire 
West and Chester Council partners and the Council was entering into this 
with optimism and enthusiasm.

Questions were then invited for Councillor George Davies on the 
Neighbourhoods, Housing and Engagement Portfolio Report and his 
responses to questions from Councillors Lesley Rennie and Chris Blakeley 
included the following comments:

 He would most definitely call in on Justine Molyneux, Chief Executive of 
Involve Northwest, regarding their work with families who had suffered 
from domestic abuse.

 A plan for new housing needed to be up and running by 2017 with a target 
of 700 properties per year in terms of brownfield sites. He would hope to 
give a five year guarantee that greenbelt land would not be developed but 
if it was absolutely necessary then the Council would have to go out to 
consultation on this.

Questions were then invited for Councillor Pat Hackett on the Economy 
Portfolio report. No questions were posed.

Questions were invited for Councillor Adrian Jones on the Support Services 
Portfolio Report and his responses to questions from Councillors Chris 
Blakeley, Janette Williamson, Chris Spriggs, Chris Carubia and Phil Gilchrist 
included the following comments:

 With regard to Morris Homes and an exclusivity period in respect of the 
Acre Lane site he was not aware of the timescale on this but he would 
report back to Councillor Gilchrist with this information.

 He asked that Councillor Blakeley provide his question regarding IT 
equipment in writing so that he could provide a written response.

 The redesigned Council website was now much easier to use, fully mobile 
responsive for use with tablets, smartphones, laptops or desktop PCs. The 
project had been completed entirely in-house with a spend of just £10,000, 
which was from a Local Government Association grant. 1000 residents 
had taken part in user testing of the new website.

 He reiterated the necessity for the refurbishment works which had taken 
place in Wallasey Town Hall, including the need for a new lift because of 
the additional floor brought into use for a large number of staff and the 
need for new steel staircases under health and safety requirements.

Questions were then invited for Councillor Chris Jones on the Adult Social 
Care and Public Health Portfolio report. No questions were posed. 



Moving onto the Leisure, Sport and Culture Portfolio report, questions were 
then invited for Councillor Chris Meaden. Her responses to questions from 
Councillors Steve Foulkes, Wendy Clements and Chris Blakeley, included the 
following comments:

 She remarked upon the good news for Ridgeway Library which Ridgeway 
High School would now be operating. It would be open from 9.30am to 
3.30pm Monday to Friday and 9.00am to 1.00pm on Saturdays.

 12 Saturday staff had now been taken on so hopefully the recent closure 
of Irby Library would not happen again.

 She was aware of a shortage of Invigor8 staff but more staff had now been 
employed on a rota basis, so hopefully the situation of a leisure pool being 
closed during normal opening times would not re-occur.

Questions were then invited for Councillor Bernie Mooney on her Environment 
and Sustainability Portfolio report. Her responses to questions from 
Councillors Adam Sykes and Chris Carubia included the following comments:

 The problem of litter was taken very seriously and if there was a particular 
problem in Thornton Hough she would be happy to take this up once she 
was provided with the details.

 £3,600 worth of fines had been collected, 97% of which came from 
dropping cigarette waste. Very few fixed penalty notices had been 
contested and of those that were, nobody had won their appeal as all 
evidence was recorded on video.

Questions were then invited for Councillor Tony Smith on his Children and 
Family Services Portfolio report. In response to questions from Councillors 
Rob Gregson, Alan Brighouse and Dave Mitchell his comments included:

 With regard to pledge 2 in the Council Plan, there was a good level of 
development in the Early Years Foundation Stage at school, with 
(provisional) results rising by 6.8% from 2014, to 69.7% this year. This 
compared with a national increase of 6.2% and a national average of 
66.2%. Wirral was also reaching more vulnerable young children from 
disadvantaged backgrounds, giving them the crucial support they needed 
to do well at school and beyond, through the funded early learning for two 
year olds. 

 In respect of pledge 3, provisional GCSE results for 2015 were positive, 
with an increase in children achieving 5 A* - C from 69.2% to 72.8%, and 
an increase in children achieving 5 A* - C including English and Maths 
from 60% to 61.6%.

 There were no implications in terms of extra funding from the Authority for 
the Youth Zone and a presentation on the Challenge Project could be 
made to which all Members would be invited.



Questions were then invited for Councillor Stuart Whittingham on his 
Highways and Transport Portfolio report. His responses to questions from 
Councillors John Salter, Phil Gilchrist and Brian Kenny included the following 
comments:

 It was unavoidable that replacement of the Dock Bridges would lead to 
some disruption but the alternative of doing nothing would also lead to 
disruption when the bridges became unusable.

 He was happy with the performance of the BAM Nuttall Highway Services 
contract.

 Work was ongoing with the LED Street Lighting Strategy and there had 
been lots of favourable comments in those areas where the installation 
had been completed.

Questions were then invited for the Policy and Performance Committee 
Chairs on their report. No questions were posed and it was then –

Resolved –

(1) That each of the Cabinet Portfolio Summary reports be noted.

(2) That the report of the Policy and Performance Committee Chairs be 
noted. 

47 MATTERS REQUIRING APPROVAL BY THE COUNCIL 

In accordance with Standing Order 5(2), five matters were submitted for 
approval by the Council (see minutes 48 to 52 post).

48 REVISED DISCIPLINARY POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

The first matter requiring approval was in relation to the Revised Disciplinary 
Policy and Procedure and the recommendation made by the Transformation 
and Resources Policy and Performance Committee at its meeting on 15 July, 
2015 (minute 7 refers) to approve the revised Disciplinary Policy and 
Procedure.
 
On a motion by Councillor Janette Williamson, seconded by Councillor Phil 
Davies, it was –
 
Resolved (57:1) (One abstention) – That the recommendations contained 
within minute 7 the Transformation and Resources Policy and 
Performance Committee, be approved.



49 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2015/16 

The second matter requiring approval was in relation to a recommendation of 
Cabinet at its meeting on 27 July, 2015 (minute 41 refers) to approve a 
revised Capital Programme 2015/16.

On a motion by Councillor Phil Davies, seconded by Councillor Ann 
McLachlan, it was -

Resolved (58:0) (One abstention) – That the revised Capital Programme 
2015/16 of £61.5 million, be approved.

50 REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 

The third matter requiring approval was in relation to a recommendation of 
Cabinet at its meeting on 27 July, 2015 (minute 42 refers) to approve an 
amended Revenue Budget 2015/16.

On a motion by Councillor Phil Davies, seconded by Councillor Ann 
McLachlan, it was -

Resolved (58:0) (One abstention) – That the amended Revenue Budget 
2015/16, be approved.

51 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S DEPARTMENT - NEW CAPITAL 
SCHEMES 2015/16 TO 2017/18 

The fourth matter requiring approval was in relation to a recommendation of 
Cabinet at its meeting on 10 September, 2015 (minute 51 refers) to approve 
new capital schemes’ inclusion within the overall Capital Programme.

On a motion by Councillor Phil Davies, seconded by Councillor Ann 
McLachlan, it was -

Resolved (58:0) (One abstention) – That the new capital schemes’ 
inclusion within the overall Capital Programme, be approved.

52 ATTENDANCE MANAGEMENT POLICY 

The fifth matter requiring approval was in relation to the revised Attendance 
Management Policy and Procedure and the recommendation made by the 
Transformation and Resources Policy and Performance Committee at its 
meeting on 21 September, 2015 (minute 15 refers) to approve the revised 
Attendance Management Policy and Procedure.

Prior to the vote being taken Councillor Jeff Green referred to a letter he had 
received from UNISON about this matter.



Councillor Janette Williamson commented that the matter had received all 
party approval at the Committee. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Janette Williamson, seconded by Councillor Phil 
Davies, it was –
 
Resolved (57:1) (One abstention) – That the revised Attendance 
Management Policy and Procedure, be approved.

53 MATTERS FOR NOTING 

On a motion by Councillor Phil Davies, seconded by Councillor Ann 
McLachlan, it was –
 
Resolved – That minute 25 (Cabinet – 13 July, 2015) – Financial 
Monitoring Out-turn 2014/15, be noted.

54 MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

Councillor Phil Gilchrist, having given the appropriate notice in accordance 
with Standing Order 10(2) (b), submitted a question addressed to Councillor 
Phil Davies (Leader of the Council), in respect of the South Wirral Youth Hub 
and the delivery plan for the Council 2020 Vision Plan.
 
Councillor Phil Davies responded accordingly.

55 MATTERS REFERRED FROM POLICY AND PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEES 

Three matters had been referred to the Council by three Policy and 
Performance Committees, in accordance with Standing Order 7(5) (see 
minutes 56 to 58 post).

56 WIRRAL'S ECONOMIC SUCCESS - COMMITTEE REFERRAL 

At the meeting of the Council held on 6 July, 2015 (minute 31 refers) the 
Mayor had referred a Notice of Motion ‘Wirral’s Economic Success’ to the 
Regeneration and Environment Policy and Performance Committee. The 
motion was duly considered at the meeting of the Committee on 15 
September, 2015 (minute 13 refers).
 
In accordance with Standing Order 7 (5) the Council was invited to consider 
the recommendation of the Regeneration and Environment Policy and 
Performance Committee which had resolved that –

“The motion be noted.”



Resolved – That the resolution of the Regeneration and Environment 
Policy and Performance Committee be noted.

57 MENTAL HEALTH CHALLENGE - COMMITTEE REFERRAL 

At the meeting of the Council held on 6 July, 2015 (minute 31 refers) the 
Mayor had referred a Notice of Motion ‘Mental Health Challenge’ to the 
Families and Wellbeing Policy and Performance Committee. The motion was 
duly considered at the meeting of the Committee on 8 September, 2015 
(minute 17 refers).
 
In accordance with Standing Order 7 (5) the Council was invited to consider 
the recommendation of the Families and Wellbeing Policy and Performance 
Committee which had resolved that –

“The Council be advised that the Families and Wellbeing Policy and 
Performance Committee fully supports the Notice of Motion in relation to the 
Mental Health Challenge.”

Resolved – That the resolution of the Families and Wellbeing Policy and 
Performance Committee be noted.

58 44 COUNCILLORS - COMMITTEE REFERRAL 

At the meeting of the Council held on 20 October, 2014 (minute 57 refers) the 
Mayor had referred a Notice of Motion ’44 Councillors’ to the Policy and 
Performance Coordinating Committee. The motion was duly considered at the 
meeting of the Committee on 30 September, 2015 (minute 13 refers).
 
In accordance with Standing Order 7 (5) the Council was invited to consider 
the recommendation of the Policy and Performance Coordinating Committee 
which had resolved that –

“(1) The Committee thanks the Mayor for the referral of this Notice of Motion 
and regrets that there has been a delay in it being brought to the Committee 
for its consideration, though it accepts that this was due to a number of 
circumstances which were not in its control; and
 
(2) The Committee considers that factors to be considered when determining 
what constitutes proper, fair representation of Wirral’s population go beyond 
simply numbers and so proposes that it establishes a Task and Finish Panel 
to undertake a more in depth examination of the issues and that this be added 
to the Committee’s Work Programme.”

Resolved – That the resolution of the Policy and Performance 
Coordinating Committee be noted.



59 NOTICES OF MOTION 

Notices of Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7(1) were 
reported to the Council. The Mayor having considered each motion, in 
accordance with Standing Order 7(4) had decided that they would be dealt 
with as follows:

(i). Open Government? - To be referred to the Transformation and 
Resources Policy and Performance Committee.

(ii). Better Planning to Facilitate Cycling - To be referred to the Planning 
Committee.

(iii). Devolution - To be debated.

(iv). Flooding in Moreton - To be debated.

(v). Supporting Wirral’s Part in Our Nuclear Industries - To be referred to 
the Regeneration and Environment Policy and Performance 
Committee.

(vi). Wirral’s Successful Businesses - To be debated.

(vii). Syrian Refugee Crisis - To be debated.

Prior to the first debate it was moved by Councillor Bill Davies and seconded 
by Councillor Phil Davies, that –
 
“Standing Order 5(4) be suspended and Labour motion (vii) be dealt with first 
followed by the Conservative Motions.”

Councillor Chris Blakeley requested that the Conservative motions be dealt 
with in the following order, (vi), (iv) and (iii).

This was agreed unanimously 

On a motion by Councillor Bill Davies, duly seconded it was agreed that, 

“Standing Order 9 be applied at 8.45pm.”

Councillor Jean Stapleton declared a personal interest in agenda item 11(vi) – 
Notice of Motion – ‘Wirral’s Successful Businesses’ by virtue of her son 
working for one of the businesses referred to in the motion.



60 MOTION - SYRIAN REFUGEE CRISIS 

Proposed by Councillor Phil Davies
Seconded by Councillor Ann McLachlan

Whilst Council welcomes a national response to the placement of Syrian 
refugees and will work with authorities across the Liverpool City Region to 
respond to this humanitarian crisis, we call on the Government to fully fund 
the costs of resettlement in the long term and not just for one year. Further, 
that the necessary infrastructure is put in place to ensure that already over-
stretched and under-funded Council services can deliver a proper 
resettlement programme to ensure that refugees and their families can 
integrate into our Communities with the enabling support they will require.

An amendment which had been circulated in advance of the meeting 
was submitted in accordance with Standing Order 12(1) and (9), as 
follows:

Proposed by Councillor Phil Gilchrist
Seconded by Councillor Dave Mitchell

Insert at end:

Council recognises the recent progress reported by the Local Government 
Association in addressing these and other concerns.

Council notes that, according to the LGA:

A. the Government has agreed that there will be funding beyond 12 months 
for each refugee within the scheme. 

B. Government also understands the need for full funding to minimise any 
impact on local services.

C. in the expanded scheme, there will be additional funding for refugees 
beyond the first 12 months and we understand this will not be taken from 
the overall council allocation.

 
And that the LGA is seeking confirmation that:

 these arrangements will be applied to all cases since the 20,000 
expansion was announced so councils which come forward early will not 
be disadvantaged.

 refugees arriving in the first months of this scheme are unlikely to include 
unaccompanied children. We are in separate discussions with the Home 



Office and DfE to develop a fairer national scheme for unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children.

Council, therefore, requests the Leader to work with the LGA to address any 
additional local concerns so that Wirral can play its part in helping.

Following a debate and Councillor Phil Davies having waived his right of reply, 
the amendment was put and carried (58:0).
 
The substantive motion, as amended, was put and carried (58:0).
 
Resolved (58:0) -

Whilst Council welcomes a national response to the placement of Syrian 
refugees and will work with authorities across the Liverpool City Region 
to respond to this humanitarian crisis, we call on the Government to 
fully fund the costs of resettlement in the long term and not just for one 
year. Further, that the necessary infrastructure is put in place to ensure 
that already over-stretched and under-funded Council services can 
deliver a proper resettlement programme to ensure that refugees and 
their families can integrate into our Communities with the enabling 
support they will require.

Council recognises the recent progress reported by the Local 
Government Association in addressing these and other concerns.

Council notes that, according to the LGA:

A. the Government has agreed that there will be funding beyond 12 
months for each refugee within the scheme. 

B. Government also understands the need for full funding to minimise 
any impact on local services.

C. in the expanded scheme, there will be additional funding for refugees 
beyond the first 12 months and we understand this will not be taken 
from the overall council allocation.

 
And that the LGA is seeking confirmation that:

 these arrangements will be applied to all cases since the 20,000 
expansion was announced so councils which come forward early will 
not be disadvantaged.

 refugees arriving in the first months of this scheme are unlikely to 
include unaccompanied children. We are in separate discussions 



with the Home Office and DfE to develop a fairer national scheme for 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.

Council, therefore, requests the Leader to work with the LGA to address 
any additional local concerns so that Wirral can play its part in helping.

61 MOTION - WIRRAL'S SUCCESSFUL BUSINESSES 

Proposed by Councillor Jeff Green
Seconded by Councillor Lesley Rennie

Council notes the following key national growth statistics:

 GDP growth: 0.7 per cent in Quarter 2 2015. Growth in Q1 2015 was 0.4 
per cent.

 Employment up 354,000 on the year. There are now 31.03 million people 
in work.

Council realises that a growing economy means more businesses, creating 
more good jobs – which means more families with the security of a regular 
pay packet. 

With Britain growing faster than any other major advanced economy, and 
wages rising at the fastest rate since 2007, it’s clear that the Government’s 
economic plan is delivering security for families across Britain.

Council further notes that many Wirral businesses are benefitting from the 
improving economic outlook and reporting growth and expansion. These 
include:

 Apollo Care, a care company set up by a former Council employee who 
took early voluntary redundancy in 2011. With initial guidance from Invest 
Wirral in just 4 years Apollo Care has franchised and employs over 50 
people.

 Sovex, the Prenton-based materials handling specialist is the fastest 
growing company on Merseyside and was listed number 82 in the 2014 
Virgin Sunday Times Fast Track Top 100. It recently announced it was 
expanding into the American market. 

 Recruit Right, an industrial and commercial recruitment agency, who have 
seen their highest ever numbers of temp placements rise from 260 to 409 
per week in September. The company started in 2012 and has recently 
announced a further 4 permanent employees have joined their team.



 Daisy and Jake Nurseries who will be opening their fifth nursery at a new 
site in Woodchurch shortly following the successes of their operations in 
Spital, Moreton, Irby and Prenton.

 Park Group plc announced at its AGM in September that sales are 15% 
ahead of the same period last year.

 Progress to Excellence, who recently moved its HQ operation into the 
newly refurbished Pacific Road Business Hub, has acquired Education 
and Youth Services Ltd to extend their training offer across the spectrum 
of lifelong learning.

 The Contact Company who will be expanding their operation into the 
Tower Wharf building, a development made possible by Homes and 
Communities Agency funding.

 Elegant Steps, which has grown from operating from the owner’s house, to 
a small village shop in Oxton, to an international company with a large 
warehouse shipping all over the world.

Council acknowledges that this is just a small snapshot of the commercial 
successes in Wirral and wishes to place on record its thanks and admiration 
for all Wirral’s workers, entrepreneurs and business owners for their 
contribution to growing the British economy,   

Furthermore the whole Council welcomes the success of the Government’s 
economic plan and calls on the Leader of the Council to ensure effective co-
operation with Her Majesty’s Government to lock in and increase Wirral 
residents’ prosperity.

With the agreement of the Council two amendments on this motion were 
withdrawn and with Council agreeing to suspend Standing Orders 12(1) 
and (9), a composite amendment was circulated around the Chamber for 
Members to consider, as follows:

Proposed by Councillor Pat Hackett
Seconded by Councillor Phil Gilchrist

Delete paragraph 3 beginning: “With Britain growing faster than any other 
major advanced economy….”.

Delete the final paragraph.

Add the following:

“Council recognises that the developments listed above together with many 
others such as new retail development off junction 1 of the M53 and new retail 



investment at Croft Retail Park, are the result of the hard work of Council 
officers in partnership with agencies such as Wirral Chamber of Commerce 
and thanks all concerned. We are well placed to achieve the pledges in our 
2020 Plan to create and safeguard 5000 jobs and attract £250m of private 
sector investment to the Borough.

Council recognises the important contribution that all businesses in Wirral – 
along with those to which residents commute – make to the regional, national 
and European economy.

Council also believes that there are now many Wirral residents facing financial 
difficulty as the Government has not created a path that properly cushions the 
introduction of the National Living Wage and the consequent changes in the 
Tax Credit System, the latter leading to many Wirral families being worse off 
in the initial years.

Council is extremely concerned about the Government’s decision to cut tax 
credits for low paid employees and believes that this makes a mockery of the 
Conservatives’ claim to be the party of working people.”

During the course of moving of his motion, Councillor Green paid tribute to 
Kevin Adderley, Strategic Director Regeneration and Environment, who was 
attending his last Council meeting before leaving the Authority, and thanked 
him and his team for all their work in growing the Wirral economy.

Councillor Hackett, the Leader, Councillors Andrew Hodson, Alan Brighouse, 
Adam Sykes, Phil Gilchrist and Lesley Rennie echoed the sentiments 
expressed by Councillor Green in his thanks to Kevin Adderley.

The Mayor also expressed his thanks to Kevin Adderley for all his work with 
the Authority and wished him well for the future.

Following a reply to the debate by Councillor Green, the amendment was put 
and carried (37:18) (Two abstentions).

The substantive motion as amended was put and carried (37:18) (Two 
abstentions).

Resolved (37:18) (Two abstentions) -

Council notes the following key national growth statistics:

 GDP growth: 0.7 per cent in Quarter 2 2015. Growth in Q1 2015 was 
0.4 per cent.

 Employment up 354,000 on the year. There are now 31.03 million 
people in work.



Council realises that a growing economy means more businesses, 
creating more good jobs – which means more families with the security 
of a regular pay packet. 

Council further notes that many Wirral businesses are benefitting from 
the improving economic outlook and reporting growth and expansion. 
These include:

 Apollo Care, a care company set up by a former Council employee 
who took early voluntary redundancy in 2011. With initial guidance 
from Invest Wirral in just 4 years Apollo Care has franchised and 
employs over 50 people.

 Sovex, the Prenton-based materials handling specialist is the fastest 
growing company on Merseyside and was listed number 82 in the 
2014 Virgin Sunday Times Fast Track Top 100. It recently announced 
it was expanding into the American market. 

 Recruit Right, an industrial and commercial recruitment agency, who 
have seen their highest ever numbers of temp placements rise from 
260 to 409 per week in September. The company started in 2012 and 
has recently announced a further 4 permanent employees have 
joined their team.

 Daisy and Jake Nurseries who will be opening their fifth nursery at a 
new site in Woodchurch shortly following the successes of their 
operations in Spital, Moreton, Irby and Prenton.

 Park Group plc announced at its AGM in September that sales are 
15% ahead of the same period last year.

 Progress to Excellence, who recently moved its HQ operation into the 
newly refurbished Pacific Road Business Hub, has acquired 
Education and Youth Services Ltd to extend their training offer 
across the spectrum of lifelong learning.

 The Contact Company who will be expanding their operation into the 
Tower Wharf building, a development made possible by Homes and 
Communities Agency funding.

 Elegant Steps, which has grown from operating from the owner’s 
house, to a small village shop in Oxton, to an international company 
with a large warehouse shipping all over the world.

Council acknowledges that this is just a small snapshot of the 
commercial successes in Wirral and wishes to place on record its 



thanks and admiration for all Wirral’s workers, entrepreneurs and 
business owners for their contribution to growing the British economy,   

Council recognises that the developments listed above together with 
many others such as new retail development off junction 1 of the M53 
and new retail investment at Croft Retail Park, are the result of the hard 
work of Council officers in partnership with agencies such as Wirral 
Chamber of Commerce and thanks all concerned. We are well placed to 
achieve the pledges in our 2020 Plan to create and safeguard 5000 jobs 
and attract £250m of private sector investment to the Borough.

Council recognises the important contribution that all businesses in 
Wirral – along with those to which residents commute – make to the 
regional, national and European economy.

Council also believes that there are now many Wirral residents facing 
financial difficulty as the Government has not created a path that 
properly cushions the introduction of the National Living Wage and the 
consequent changes in the Tax Credit System, the latter leading to many 
Wirral families being worse off in the initial years.

Council is extremely concerned about the Government’s decision to cut 
tax credits for low paid employees and believes that this makes a 
mockery of the Conservatives’ claim to be the party of working people.

62 MOTION - FLOODING IN MORETON 

Proposed by Councillor Chris Blakeley
Seconded by Councillor Steve Williams

This Council:

 Recognises the seriousness of the recent flooding to many homes of 
residents in Moreton and Saughall Massie and to a lesser extent other 
areas of Wirral.

 Recognises that homes have been damaged due to these flood waters 
and debris.

 Recognises that people look to this council to work with other agencies to 
minimise the risk from flood waters and accumulation of debris.

 Thanks those agencies that worked to mitigate the effect of the floods for 
residents.

Council resolves:

 To establish a Working Group including all relevant agencies, including the 
Environment Agency, United Utilities, Meteorological Office, Merseyside 
Fire and Rescue Service, Registered Social Landlords, Merseyside Police 



and Senior Officers to bring forward a co-ordinated approach to flood risk, 
flood defence, flood conveyance and flood prevention.

 To task the Working Group to review current plans, procedures and 
strategies to ensure that is future proofed and aligned with existing and 
planned regeneration, flood defence and flood conveyance measures.

 To ensure a clear and transparent plan, accessible to all, for dealing with 
floods.

An amendment which had been circulated in advance of the meeting 
was submitted in accordance with Standing Order 12(1) and (9), as 
follows:

Proposed by Councillor Bernie Mooney
Seconded by Councillor Anita Leech

Add the following:

Council recognizes that all of the issues covered in this motion have already 
been implemented and that following the severe flooding event in Moreton the 
Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority, was duty bound under the 
relevant legislation to initiate a full and extensive investigation involving all 
relevant parties. This process was initiated immediately following the flood 
and two of the local Councillors attended a briefing where they were informed 
of the actions taken.

Council wishes to acknowledge and thank the residents of Moreton for all their 
hard work and support during and after the event and would also like to thank 
the Environment Agency, United Utilities, Fire Brigade and Police. Council 
also thanks Magenta Housing and other private landlords for their efficiency in 
evacuating and rehousing their tenants, Biffa for supplying extra teams at the 
weekend and all Council staff for their dedication in helping people to clean up 
the area, find replacement accommodation and taking action to ensure that 
tenants could live safely.

Having applied the guillotine in accordance with Standing Order 9 the Council 
did not debate this matter.

The amendment was put and carried (38:18) (One abstention).

The substantive motion, as amended was put and carried (38:18) (One 
abstention).

Resolved (38:18) (One abstention) –

This Council:



 Recognises the seriousness of the recent flooding to many homes of 
residents in Moreton and Saughall Massie and to a lesser extent 
other areas of Wirral.

 Recognises that homes have been damaged due to these flood 
waters and debris.

 Recognises that people look to this council to work with other 
agencies to minimise the risk from flood waters and accumulation of 
debris.

 Thanks those agencies that worked to mitigate the effect of the 
floods for residents.

Council resolves:

 To establish a Working Group including all relevant agencies, 
including the Environment Agency, United Utilities, Meteorological 
Office, Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service, Registered Social 
Landlords, Merseyside Police and Senior Officers to bring forward a 
co-ordinated approach to flood risk, flood defence, flood conveyance 
and flood prevention.

 To task the Working Group to review current plans, procedures and 
strategies to ensure that is future proofed and aligned with existing 
and planned regeneration, flood defence and flood conveyance 
measures.

 To ensure a clear and transparent plan, accessible to all, for dealing 
with floods.

Council recognizes that all of the issues covered in this motion have 
already been implemented and that following the severe flooding event 
in Moreton the Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority, was duty 
bound under the relevant legislation to initiate a full and extensive 
investigation involving all relevant parties. This process was initiated 
immediately following the flood and two of the local Councillors 
attended a briefing where they were informed of the actions taken.

Council wishes to acknowledge and thank the residents of Moreton for 
all their hard work and support during and after the event and would 
also like to thank the Environment Agency, United Utilities, Fire Brigade 
and Police. Council also thanks Magenta Housing and other private 
landlords for their efficiency in evacuating and rehousing their tenants, 
Biffa for supplying extra teams at the weekend and all Council staff for 
their dedication in helping people to clean up the area, find replacement 
accommodation and taking action to ensure that tenants could live 
safely.



63 MOTION - DEVOLUTION 

Proposed by Councillor Jeff Green
Seconded by Councillor Lesley Rennie

Council welcomes the submission to the Comprehensive Spending Review 
2015 of the Potential Devolution of Powers for the City Region following the 
Combined Authority meeting held on 2nd September 2015.

Council is therefore somewhat perplexed that the Leader of the Council and 
40 of his Labour colleagues voted against the Conservative Notice of Motion 
‘The Northern Powerhouse’ at the Council meeting held on 6th July 2015.  

Council notes within The Northern Powerhouse Notice of Motion it was 
recommended that “the Leader of the Council advises the next meeting of the 
Combined Authority to engage enthusiastically in the development of the 
Northern Powerhouse; provide clarity to this Council about the details of any 
devolution of power and budget it is seeking from the Government and 
confirm its support for a directly elected Metro Mayor.”

Council is unsure what caused such a rapid turnaround by the Leader of the 
Council and his Labour colleagues but expresses its support for this change 
of direction and endorsement of Conservative Government Policy.

An amendment which had been circulated in advance of the meeting 
was submitted in accordance with Standing Order 12(1) and (9), as 
follows:

Proposed by Councillor Phil Gilchrist
Seconded by Councillor Dave Mitchell

Delete all after first paragraph and insert:

"Council considers it essential that all Members are kept fully informed 
regarding the discussions taking place, especially around the direction of 
progress and sticking points.

Council requests the Leader to ensure that all Members receive a detailed 
briefing on the progress, with options on the checks and balances for any new 
structure, with a view to making an informed decision in a timely manner."

Having applied the guillotine in accordance with Standing Order 9 the Council 
did not debate this matter.

The amendment was put and carried (38:18) (One abstention).



The substantive motion, as amended was put and carried (37:18) (Two 
abstentions).

Resolved (37:18) (Two abstentions) –

Council welcomes the submission to the Comprehensive Spending 
Review 2015 of the Potential Devolution of Powers for the City Region 
following the Combined Authority meeting held on 2nd September 2015.

Council considers it essential that all Members are kept fully informed 
regarding the discussions taking place, especially around the direction 
of progress and sticking points.

Council requests the Leader to ensure that all Members receive a 
detailed briefing on the progress, with options on the checks and 
balances for any new structure, with a view to making an informed 
decision in a timely manner. 

64 VACANCIES 

The Council was requested to deal with the following matter in respect of 
appointments to outside organisations.
 
Councillor Denise Roberts to be re-appointed to the Birkenhead Sixth Form 
College Governing Body for a further four year term.
 
Resolved – That Councillor Denise Roberts be re-appointed to the 
Birkenhead Sixth Form College Governing Body until 31 October, 2019.





COUNCIL
Thursday, 19 November 2015

Present: The Civic Mayor (Councillor Les Rowlands) in the 
Chair
Deputy Civic Mayor (Councillor Pat Hackett)

Councillors RL Abbey
T Anderson
B Berry
C Blakeley
E Boult
A Brighouse
P Brightmore
D Burgess-Joyce
C Carubia
P Cleary
W Clements
J Crabtree
M Daniel
A Davies
G Davies
P Davies
WJ Davies
P Doughty
D Elderton
G Ellis

S Foulkes
L Fraser
P Gilchrist
JE Green
R Gregson
J Hale
T Johnson
AER Jones
C Jones
B Kenny
A Leech
AR McLachlan
M McLaughlin
C Meaden
D Mitchell
B Mooney
C Muspratt
S Niblock
T Norbury
M Patrick

T Pilgrim
L Reecejones
L Rennie
D Roberts
J Salter
T Smith
W Smith
C Spriggs
J Stapleton
M Sullivan
A Sykes
J Walsh
G Watt
S Whittingham
J Williamson
I Williams
KJ Williams
P Williams
S Williams

Apologies Councillors P Hayes
A Hodson
K Hodson

C Povall
D Realey

66 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Council were asked to consider whether they had any 
disclosable pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest, in 
connection with any matter to be debated or determined at this meeting and, if 
so, to declare it and state the nature of such interest. 

Councillors Jeff Green, Tony Norbury, Stuart Whittingham and Janette 
Williams declared a personal interest in agenda item 3a – Potential Devolution 
of Powers and Resources – Liverpool City Region by virtue of their 
employment (see minute 69 post).



Councillor Jean Stapleton declared a personal interest in agenda item 3b – 
‘Car Parking Charges’ by virtue of her appointment on the Birkenhead 
Improvement District Steering Membership Steering Group (see minute 70 
post).

67 CIVIC MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Mayor noted that apologies were received from Councillors Paul Hayes, 
Andrew Hodson, Kathy Hodson, Cherry Povall and Denise Realey.

The Mayor referred to the recent terrorist attacks in Paris, the Council then 
stood for a minute’s silence in tribute to the memory of those who lost their 
lives.

68 MATTERS REQUIRING APPROVAL BY THE COUNCIL 

In accordance with Standing Order 5(2) two matters were submitted for 
approval by the Council (see minutes 69 and 70 post)

69 POTENTIAL DEVOLUTION OF POWERS AND RESOURCES - LIVERPOOL 
CITY REGION 

The first matter requiring approval was in relation to the report of the Chief 
Executive, on the following matter – Potential Devolution of Powers and 
Resources – Liverpool City Region.

It was moved by Councillor Phil Davies and seconded by Councillor Ann 
McLachlan –

“That the recommendations as contained within the report be noted”.

It was moved as an amendment by Councillor Phil Gilchrist and seconded by 
Councillor Dave Mitchell –

         After 2.1 D add…….

“Council notes that the Devolution Agreement states …

‘Devolution must deliver opportunities for all of those residents and 
businesses, through creating more jobs, improving the skills and 
employment prospects of our residents and allow them a greater say 
over the future of their communities’.

Council also notes that this Agreement:



a. promises (page 6, section 2) to ’build on’ the Governance model used 
by the Combined Authority.

b. offers assurances that ‘The LCR Mayor will also be required to consult 
the Combined Authority members on his/her strategies’ (page 6, 
section 3).

c. in Section 60 page 16 states that…'The Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority is accountable to local people for the successful 
implementation of the devolution deal’.

Council believes it essential that an early steer is given to all those 
developing the Governance model. Council wishes to ensure that the 
Combined Authority and the elected Mayor are as accountable and 
transparent as possible.

Council needs to be assured that the existing provisions regarding 
Scrutiny in the Combined Authority, albeit in their infancy, can be 
strengthened to deal with the increased resources, responsibilities and 
momentum of the new structure.

Therefore, Council suggests that, as the process of governance is 
being developed, early consideration is given to:

a. the creation of an ‘assembly’, with practices similar to that operating in 
London, before which the elected Mayor Is expected to outline his or 
her priorities and proposed actions.

b. a model that allows three members, chosen by the Councillors in each 
Parliamentary Constituency, from amongst their own number, to form 
the basis for such a body.

Council requests that this is considered by the constituent Councils and 
the Combined Authority.”

Following a debate and Councillor Phil Davies having replied, the Liberal 
Democrat amendment was then put to the vote.

At the request of several Members, a ‘card vote’ was then taken on Councillor 
Gilchrist’s amendment to the motion and the Council divided as follows: 

For the amendment (20) Councillors T Anderson, B Berry, C Blakeley,           
E Boult, A Brighouse, C Carubia, W Clements, D Elderton, G Ellis, L Fraser,     
P Gilchrist, J Green, J Hale, D Mitchell, T Pilgrim L Rennie, A Sykes,          
GCJ Watt, Mrs PM Williams and S Williams.



Against the amendment (39). Councillors R Abbey, P Brightmore, Burgess-
Joyce, J Crabtree, M Daniel, A Davies, G Davies, P Davies, W Davies,          
P Doughty, S Foulkes, R Gregson, P Hackett, T Johnson, AER Jones,            
C Jones, B Kenny, A Leech, A McLachlan, M McLaughlin, C Meaden,            
B Mooney, C Muspratt, S Niblock, T Norbury, M Patrick, L ReeceJones,          
D Roberts, J Salter, PA Smith, W Smith, C Spriggs, JV Stapleton, M Sullivan, 
J Walsh, S Whittingham, I Williams, KJ Williams and J Williamson.

Two abstentions – Councillor L Rowlands (Civic Mayor) and Councillor P 
Cleary.

The Amendment was lost (20:39) (Two abstentions)

At the request of several Members, a ‘card vote’ was then taken on Councillor 
Davies’ motion and the Council divided as follows: 

For the motion (59) Councillors R Abbey, T Anderson,B Berry, C Blakeley,      
E Boult, A Brighouse, P Brightmore, D Burgess-Joyce, C Carubia,                 
W Clements, J Crabtree, M Daniel, A Davies, G Davies, P Davies, W Davies, 
P Doughty, D Elderton, G Ellis, S Foulkes, L Fraser, P Gilchrist, J Green,       
R Gregson, P Hackett, J Hale, T Johnson, AER Jones, C Jones, B Kenny,      
A Leech, A McLaughlin, M McLaughlin, C Meaden, D Mitchell, B Mooney,     
C Muspratt, S Niblock,T Norbury, M Patrick, T Pilgrim, L ReeceJones,             
L Rennie, D Roberts, J Salter, PA Smith, W Smith, C Spriggs, JV Stapleton, 
M Sullivan, A Sykes, J Walsh, GCJ Watt, S Whittingham, I Williams,              
KJ Williams, Mrs PM Williams, S Williams and J Williamson.

Against the motion (1) Councillor P Cleary

One abstention – Councillor L Rowlands (Civic Mayor).

The motion was carried.(59:1) (One Abstention)

Resolved (59:1) (One abstention) – That the recommendations contained 
within the report be approved.

70 CAR PARKING CHARGES 

The second matter requiring approval was in relation to the recommendations 
of the Cabinet at its meeting on 5 November 2015 (minute 72 refers). This 
recommendation sought approval of the ‘free after 3’ car parking scheme.
 
It was moved by Councillor Phil Davies and seconded by Councillor Ann 
McLachlan –

“That the recommendations as contained within Cabinet minute 72 be 
approved”.



It was moved as an amendment by Councillor S Whittingham and seconded 
by Councillor J Stapleton –

Addition to Cabinet recommendation:

“The Council has been contacted by businesses requesting that the          
Council supports the national ‘Small Business Saturday’ initiative by 
providing free parking at all Council car parks on Saturday 5th December. 
The budgetary implication of this is an additional £5000 reduction in car 
parking charges but that reduction can be met from within existing 
approved budgets. Accordingly, it is proposed that the Council also agrees 
that: 

“Council agrees that on Saturday 5th December 2015, there be free all 
day parking at all Council owned car parks plus free on-street pay and 
display parking in the Birkenhead area in support of the ‘Small Business 
Saturday’ initiative and that the cost of this proposal be met from within 
existing approved budget”

Following a debate and Councillor P Davies waiving his right to reply, the 
amendment was then put to the vote.

The amendment was carried (59:1) (One abstention).

The substantive motion as amended was then put and carried (59:1) (One 
abstention).

Resolved (59:1) (One abstention) – That 

(1) from Tuesday, 1 December until the end of December 2015 the 
Council cuts the cost of parking in Council owned car parks by 
introducing free parking after 3pm;

(2) on Boxing Day and New Year’s Day the Council provides free all day 
parking in Council owned car parks; and

(3) officers be instructed to evaluate any change in usage in Council 
owned car parks compared to previous years.

(4) that, in accordance with the Budgetary Policy Framework, the matter 
be referred to Council on 19 November, 2015 for approval; and

(5) on Saturday 5th December 2015 there be free all day parking at all 
council owned car parks plus free on-street pay and display parking 
in Birkenhead area in support of the ‘Small Business Saturday’ 



initiative and that the cost of this proposal be met from within 
existing approved budget. 

71 VACANCIES 

The Council was requested to deal with the following matters in respect of 
appointments to outside organisations and Advisory Committees and Working 
Parties.

Outside Bodies

Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust

Councillor Mike Sullivan to replace Councillor Matt Daniel as a Governor 
(appointed until 27 September 2017).

Wirral Chamber of Commerce

Mr Alan Evans to replace Mr K Adderley

Advisory Committees and Working Parties

Birkenhead Business Improvement District Steering Group

Mr Alan Evans to replace Mr K Adderley

Resolved – That the appointments and amendments to the bodies listed 
above, be approved.



COUNCIL
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Phil Davies

CABINET PORTFOLIO Leader of the Council

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER Eric Robinson, Chief Executive

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council 
on matters relevant to his portfolio. 

1. WIRRAL PLAN: 2020 VISION

Work continues to take place to develop the arrangements and plans to deliver 
the 20 ambitious pledges we have signed up to deliver over the next five years.  
In October 2015, Cabinet considered a first phase delivery plan to review 
progress of the plans, and in January 2016 we will receive a set of strategies that 
will set out in detail how we will achieve the pledges by 2020.  

Work is also underway to develop a five year budget strategy which is aligned to 
the Wirral Plan, and which will set out the resources to realise our ambitions and 
work in partnership to deliver our plans.  Cabinet in December 2015 will consider 
a range of budget proposals that will be consulted on before Council approves its 
2016-17 budget in March 2016.

2. CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE

In October and November 2015, the Council invited the LGA to assemble a peer 
review team to conduct a Financial Review and Corporate Peer Challenge which 
specifically focussed on our arrangements to deliver the Wirral Plan.

The Peer Challenge Team was led by Mark Rogers, Chief Executive of 
Birmingham Council who was accompanied by an experienced team of Elected 
Members, Officers and LGA associates.  We asked the team to focus specifically 
on our capacity to deliver the Wirral Plan, our arrangements for working in 
partnership and our proposals to deliver new ways of working through innovative 
delivery models.



The headline findings from the peer review were presented to Cabinet, 
Opposition Group Leaders, Senior Officers and Partners and are extremely 
helpful to move the organisation forward at a considerable pace.  We will receive 
a fuller report shortly, however the interim findings identified that there is strong 
political and officer leadership through the Council Leader and Chief Executive, 
and clear long term planning in place through the Wirral Plan and development of 
a five year budget strategy.  The team also felt that there was an impressive sign 
up to the Wirral Plan by partners which provides a solid platform to deliver our 
ambitious plans.

Key areas of focus include moving quickly to create the Council’s transformation 
capability and to consider our arrangements to move from short term financial 
planning to longer term planning which aligns our available resources to deliver 
the Wirral Plan pledges.  The team also recommended that the Council reviews 
its organisational arrangements to ensure there is appropriate strategic capacity 
in place, especially around the transformation agenda.  I have asked the Chief 
Executive to develop an action plan to promptly address the team’s findings 
which have been fully accepted and acknowledged.  

Since I became Leader of Wirral Council in May 2012, I have been committed to 
sector led improvement and regularly invited external challenge and scrutiny of 
the Council’s plans and ways of working.  This is the fourth external peer review 
that I have commissioned over the last three years, and I intend to publish the 
peer review findings when available to ensure we continue to be open, honest 
and transparent with residents, partners and other stakeholders on the progress 
of the Council to deliver against our plans.  

3. DEVOLUTION

Since we submitted our devolution proposals to Government on 4th September, I 
have continued to lead the negotiations between Central Government and City 
Region partners in working up our Devolution asks.  

I am very pleased to report that this has culminated in the successful agreement 
of a deal, which was signed off on 17th November by the Leaders of the 6 
constituent Councils and the Government. The deal has now been ratified by 
special Council meetings which took place in each of the authorities on 19th 
November and followed by a meeting of the Combined Authority on Friday 20th 
November to accept the devolution deal. 

As part of the deal, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority will adopt a model 
of a directly elected City Region Mayor over the Combined Authority’s area, with 
the first elections to be held in May 2017. Further details about these new 
Governance arrangements will be announced by Government in the coming 
weeks. 



The deal will see almost £3 billion of additional funding for the City Region over 
the next 30 years, together with an increase in local decision-making and funding 
control over the key priority areas of economic development, transport, housing & 
planning, and employment & skills. I believe the deal will directly benefit Wirral 
residents and businesses, with more support and resources designed and 
delivered locally.  I will continue to keep you updated about these significant 
events as they develop in the coming weeks.

4. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION SHARED SERVICES PROJECT

Alongside the development of Devolution proposals for the Liverpool City Region, 
partners have also been having a series of discussions to look at how we can 
increase collaboration and potential delivery of shared services across the six 
Councils of the City Region and/or with neighbouring authorities. 

Wirral is leading this initiative, supported by a working group from across the City 
Region. Following some initial analysis and discussion, a number of service 
areas have been identified as having potential for integration. Work is underway 
to analyse these, and develop some options for how we can generate savings 
through more integrated working. 

One of the service areas being explored is Procurement - where the total current 
spend on this area is estimated to be over £400m a year across the City Region.  
Work is underway to look at a range of proposed options for future delivery that 
could result in some significant savings for all of our partners. 





COUNCIL
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Ann McLachlan

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Transformation and Improvement

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER Joe Blott, Strategic Director-
Transformation and Resources

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to her portfolio. 

1. ALTERNATIVE DELIVERY MODELS

The development of a new operating model for the Council will create a set of 
delivery vehicles which will enable the organisation to become financially 
sustainable.

Work is progressing on scoping the work with all services being grouped 
together in blocks under a common purpose, high level outcomes, and some 
indicative figures around resources. Once the MTFP has been agreed, the 
blocks will be looked at in more detail to consider what can be expected from 
each function/activity. Consideration will also need to be given to any resource 
drawn out to support and strengthen our strategic capacity.

The intention is to have agreement on the composition of the blocks, a narrative 
to support the arrangements, and an indicative timescale for change in place by 
the end of January 2016.

2. TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME

The programme is currently being refreshed in light of the new Wirral Plan and 
the strategies to deliver this, as well as the proposals to establish a five year 
budget strategy.

3. WIRRAL PLAN SCRUTINY

A series of Wirral Plan scrutiny workshops were held at the beginning of 
November for non-executive Members.  A separate workshop was organised 
around each of the Wirral Plan themes: People, Business and Environment with 
presentations on the delivery arrangements for each of the 20 pledges.  This 
provided an opportunity for members of the Council to be briefed on progress 



and help shape the Final Delivery Plan, due to be published in February.  The 
sessions were very well-attended by non-executive Members and the 
discussions were wide-ranging with lots of useful comments and suggestions.  
The sessions also benefitted from the attendance and contribution of a number 
of key partners with some Cabinet Members also attending to observe the 
discussions.  The feedback from these workshops has now been pulled together 
into a report which will be presented to Coordinating Committee on 10th 
December.  The report has been shared with all Pledge Sponsors and Leads.  
The on-going engagement of scrutiny for the duration of the Wirral Plan provides 
an opportunity for Elected Members to be engaged and look for opportunities to 
add value and identify areas for on-going improvement.

4. THE WIRRAL PLAN DELIVERY ARRANGEMENTS- PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Wirral Plan requires a new Performance Management Framework, which is 
being developed and is designed to provide a robust, consistent and integrated 
approach to supporting and monitoring the successful delivery of the plan. The 
framework forms part of a set of guidance documents developed to support the 
delivery of the Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision. These include guidance in relation to 
data quality, indicator design and target setting and benchmarking performance 
and value for money. There has recently been a training event for Member’s to 
introduce them to the principles of the new framework.

5. CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Wirral Plan presents great opportunities to improve the lives of all those who 
live and work here. But none of these can be realised without confronting and 
managing risk. So it is important that we consider and determine the nature and 
scale of the risks that we are willing and able to take to deliver our Plan. Doing 
so will help us to make more informed decisions and empower managers to be 
risk aware not risk averse, such action will support the delivery of our pledges. 
This will be done through an exercise involving Cabinet and SLT between 
November and January. The core of this will be an online survey, in which 
participants will be asked to consider and confirm their appetite for the risks 
associated with a series of key scenarios. 

Work is also being undertaken to ensure that the Council’s corporate risk register 
continues to reflect the most significant threats to the delivery of the Wirral Plan 
and will be re-published in due course and monitored through ARMC.



COUNCIL 
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor George Davies

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Housing and Communities

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER
David Armstrong, Assistant Chief 
Executive 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council 
on matters relevant to his portfolio. 

1.      GOOD QUALITY HOUSING

The Council has received Selective Licensing applications for 970 properties 
to date, 362 of which have been issued. A further 220 properties have been 
identified that are likely to be privately rented and formal letters will be sent out 
to these properties requiring them to submit Selective License applications 
within 14 days of the letter being received.  A final reminder letter will be sent 
out to them, after which time prosecution files will be prepared.  This formal 
action is likely to start in the New Year, but it is hoped a significant proportion 
of identified unlicensed privately rented properties will become licensed in the 
meantime.

Further work is continuing on the ground with the Healthy Homes Team, Fire 
Service, Livewell Teams and Energy Projects Plus working up joint door-
knocking campaigns with the Selective Licensing Team in the 4 Selective 
Licensing Areas starting in December and likely to continue until next 
summer.  Further unlicensed properties are likely to be identified as a result 
and support offered to vulnerable households in these areas focusing on 
home safety and wellbeing and fuel poverty.

As part of providing a greater level of support to residents and landlords within 
the Selective Licensing areas, following an OJEU tender process, Energy 
Projects Plus has been awarded a contract to deliver energy efficiency 
awareness and fuel poverty support. The same tender sought a scheme 
manager for Cosy Homes Solid Wall Insulation Grants for low income 



households; Wessex Energy have been awarded this contract and grants will 
be in place by January 2016.

A successful bid was made to the Department of Communities and Local 
Government’s Single Homeless Fund, by the Liverpool City Region Councils. 
We have worked together to commission a new support service, intended to 
assist the most vulnerable homeless people with multiple and complex needs 
in each Authority. 

The tendering exercise was carried out by Liverpool City Council on behalf of 
the other LCR Councils at the end of the summer. The tenders were 
evaluated by officers from across the whole city region and the contract was 
awarded to The Whitechapel Centre; a Liverpool-based homeless service 
that will commence operations in Wirral in the next couple of months.

The main aim of the service is to identify and review the 6 most complex and 
entrenched homeless people within each authority area. It will ensure that 
their needs are met in a joined up and person-centered way. The service will 
work on the basis of a key worker making contact with each individual and 
endeavoring to engage with them through their journey from crisis, into care, 
treatment and support that meets their needs with the aim of ending the cycle 
of homelessness. The key worker will work in collaboration with existing 
homelessness service provider in Wirral. The LCR wide project will also 
enable the sharing and development of best practice in this area.

 



COUNCIL 
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Pat Hackett

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Business and Tourism 

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER David Armstrong, Assistant Chief 
Executive 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to his portfolio. 

1. WIRRAL GROWTH PLAN 

Significant progress has been made over the last two months in developing the 
Wirral Growth Plan, the strategy that sets out a defining vision for Growth within 
Wirral over the next 20 years. 

The Growth Plan will develop far more integration between seven key action areas 
in order to achieve better outcomes for Wirral. The seven action areas include: 
Business Growth; Inward Investment; Tourism; Transport, Employment, Skills and 
Housing Growth.  

It is essential that Wirral has a robust strategy for generating growth in order to 
deliver the outcomes set out in the Wirral Plan. Progress has also been made in the 
following areas: 

2. INCREASE INWARD INVESTMENT

Drop-in sessions to share the initial concept drawings for the Hoylake Golf resort 
were held between 11 and 13 November in Melrose Hall, Hoylake and between 18 
to 20 November in Westbourne Hall, West Kirby. This was an opportunity for people 
to tell the Council what they thought about the proposals. Both events were very 
well attended and valuable feedback was received. The Council would like to thank 
everyone who came to these events to share their views. A full report on the 
consultation outcomes is being prepared and this will then be reported back to 
Members, the West Wirral Constituency Committee and will also be available to 
access via the Council’s web site. 

In November, Cabinet approved the creation of a new Investment Fund within the 
Wirral Waters Enterprise Zone. This fund will utilise Government Policy to re-invest 
the Business Rate uplift generated by new development within the EZ into catalyst 
projects, speeding up development within both the East Float and West Float areas 
of Wirral Waters. A Place Shaping workshop took place in November including all 



key stakeholders to revisit the master plan based on current projects. This is an 
extremely exciting time for this project.

3. THRIVING SMALL BUSINESS

I gave an update on this work to Council on 12 October 2015. Since then this work 
has been progressing well. I would like to highlight the importance of the Christmas 
period to our local retail centres and note the number of events and the important 
work being done by traders, residents and our Constituency Committees in support 
of this. One such example is the very successful event which took place in Liscard 
Town Centre on 14 November organized by the “Light Up Liscard” community 
project.

4. VIBRANT TOURISM ECONOMY

Wirral has the fastest growing visitor economy in the Liverpool City Region and the 
sector was valued at over £355 million in 2014; employing 4,800 full time equivalent 
jobs; attracting 7.5 million visitors and increased by 8.4% from the previous year.  

It has also grown by over 40% since 2009, adding £103 million to Wirral’s local 
economy. This sustained growth has resulted in a 20% increase in jobs within the 
sector and visitors to the borough have risen by 14% during the same period. A 
piece of research has recently been commissioned that will help partners to further 
understand the motivations and perceptions of existing and potential visitors, the 
evaluation of current marketing and will explore the potential for the investment into 
new major tourism projects in our borough.

5. PLANNING MATTERS

A number of important planning matters have been successfully dealt within over 
the last two months. These include:

 Land at the top of Oxton Road/ Balls Road, Birkenhead: The Council has 
now given planning permission for a new Lidl store to be built on this 
prominent vacant site at the gateway to Birkenhead Town Centre and Oxton. 
Construction is expected to start in early 2016.

 The Wirral Conservation Areas Forum has re-named itself to Conservation 
Areas Wirral and they have recently produced, with the Council’s support, a 
very useful guide to Living in a Conservation Area.  More information on their 
valuable work can be viewed at www.CAWIRRAL.org.uk

 Port Sunlight Local listed Building Consent Order: Planning Committee at its 
meeting on 26 November 2015 will be asked, following the completion of 
consultation, to adopt this Order for a period of ten years which will help to 
simplify the processes for permission where works fall within the scope of the 
Order.

 Brownfield Land Register: following agreement of Cabinet to set up this 
Register in September 2015, preparatory work is now underway to 
commence discussions with ward members in early 2016 about specific sites 
in their wards. The Council will also need to consider the recently published 

http://www.cawirral.org.uk/


Planning and Housing Bill which is likely to bring in further changes to the 
planning system.

6. NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS

The latest Neighbourhood Forum, for Birkenhead and Tranmere, was designated 
by Cabinet on 5 November 2015 (Minute 70 refers).  The relevant legal notifications 
have been sent to the Forum and to other stakeholders, including the statutory 
consultees.  The Forum will then be able to begin formally consulting the local 
community on what should be contained within a Neighbourhood Development Plan 
for the designated area.  Any final proposals, on which the local community must be 
consulted (and will eventually have to pass a local referendum before they can be 
allowed to come into force), must first pass a series of statutory tests.

After the successful vote of local residents in the local referendum on 22 October 
2015 (92% of the 301 people who voted (a 31% turnout), voted in favour of using 
the plan to determine planning applications within the area), the Neighbourhood 
Development Plan for Devonshire Park will be recommended for adoption by 
Council on 14 December 2015.  The Plan is the first Neighbourhood Plan prepared 
by the local community to be adopted in Wirral.

The Hoylake Community Planning Forum (Hoylake Vision) submitted their 
proposed Neighbourhood Plan to the Council in September, following public 
consultation in January 2015. Following the Delegated Decision published on 26 
October 2015, their proposals were published by the Council for public comment on 
9 November 2015, to allow an independent examination to take place in early 
2016.  The deadline for comments to be submitted to the Council is 5pm on 22 
December 2015.  The plan and the comments received will then be considered by 
an independent examiner, to be appointed by the Council with the agreement of the 
Forum.





COUNCIL
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Adrian Jones

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Resources: Finance, Assets and 
Technology

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER Joe Blott, Strategic Director- 
Transformation and Resources

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to his portfolio.

1. TECHNOLOGY AND INFRASTRUCTURE

The new Council website has been live since 6 October; the site continues to perform 
well and is an improved method for residents to access services, information and 
advice. 

A major project to update the operating systems on all of the Council’s Windows 
Servers is underway; the council currently has nearly 600 servers enabling the 
delivery of approximately 300 services.  Server and client device patching is ongoing 
and external security tests will take place in mid-December, in preparation for the 
Council’s PSN submission in February.

The Information Governance team is currently working with Colleagues in Health and 
Social Care to review and agree information sharing arrangements which could 
significantly improve outcomes for patients and help to reduce the cost of health 
care.

The council is also now close to reaching agreement with a local public sector 
partner to share data centre space.  If we can reach agreement, it will remove a 
significant corporate risk. We continue to work with colleagues in the Council to 
identify a suitable location for the second data centre to enhance the resilience of the 
ICT Estate.

The Council provides facilities to members and officers to allow them to work 
remotely while safeguarding the sensitive information that is entrusted to the 
Council’s care.  It does have limitations, but the system works and is secure.
 
Many public hotspots redirect web traffic to a ‘captive portal’ web page at first 
connection. The user then has to input some information before they can connect to 
the internet. While some ‘free’ public WiFi services are safe to use, many have no 
security and are open to attacks from cyber criminals. There is no simple way for us 
to differentiate between the good and the bad free services.
 



It is this risk that has prompted CESG (the Information Security arm of GCHQ) to 
caution public sector IT departments against allowing captive portal connections.  
This is inconvenient; however, the Council provides remote workers and members 
with the ability to connect securely to the Council’s systems from most locations.
 
As has been stated previously, the IT Service is looking for a cost effective solution 
that will allow use of these free facilities while mitigating the risks so long as the 
solution is secure, meets the needs of the Council and delivers both financial and 
business benefits to the Council.

2. ASSETS AND BUILDINGS ARE FIT FOR PURPOSE

Our programme to ensure we make the best possible use of our assets across all 
public sector partners in Wirral continues, with updates available on a number of 
developments:

 Acre Lane: demolition of the building is underway with anticipated 
completion during February 2016. The exclusivity period for the preferred 
developer Morris Homes to undertake their surveys and to present their 
final offer commenced on 16 November. Their final offer will be known by 
March 2016 and a report to Cabinet will follow.

 Manor Drive: bids have been received for this site with David Wilson 
Homes being the preferred developer. Heads of terms are being drawn up 
to enter an exclusivity period for site, to enable investigations to be carried 
out and a final offer to be made.

 Secretary of State submissions have been made for 3 former school sites, 
Foxfield School in Moreton, Pensby Park Primary and Rock Ferry High. 
Further financial information is required and this is being progressed.

A number of other major developments are ongoing, including:

 Negotiations are ongoing with Neptune Developments for the sale of three 
sites at Europa Boulevard to provide a replacement swimming pool and 
fitness suite, Budget Hotel, Food court and Fast Food Drive- through.  
Allied to this as Phase 2 will be the grant of an intermediate lease of 
Birkenhead Market to Neptune to safeguard its continued operation, with a 
view to the eventual grant of a restructured lease to facilitate the 
development of a smaller market which will, in turn, release land for the re-
configuration of The Grange.

 The proposal to establish the Isle of Mann University ICT Faculty in 
Birkenhead is still being worked on. This will utilise the Conway Building 
and Municipal Building in Cleveland Street. Proposed Heads of Term have 
been prepared in anticipation of confirmation from the University that 
funding is in place.

 Negotiations for the disposal of land at Pye Road, Heswall, to Waitrose are 
still active in conjunction with the Council’s property consultants, Lambert 
Smith Hampton.

 Public Consultation is presently being undertaken in respect of the Hoylake 
Golf Resort.  Should this proceed, the Council will contribute a large 
proportion of the land holding required by way of a Development 
Agreement, and new Municipal Course will be created.



Other activities include:

 A new system for school asset data has been activated. Training and 
system testing is going well. This is particularly important for future Service 
Level Agreements with schools which brings in a significant income of 
£400,000.

 Support from the Local Government Association is being secured to assist 
the Council with key office and area reviews and also to establish a wider 
Wirral partnership asset group. This exercise will help deliver savings and 
target service delivery in line with the pledge promises. 

 Edsential and Wirral Evolutions leases are being worked up to permit the 
re-designated use of premises for these new businesses.

 Good progress is being made on Bedford Drive Primary, and the new 
school is planned to open in September 2016. The schools Capital 
Programme is progressing well and will be quickened by the appointment 
of framework architectural and other technical services to support officers 
in delivering larger projects, particularly in meeting additional pupil places.

3. HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Two key policy areas have been updated; Attendance Management & Discipline and 
Dignity at Work (including Grievance and Whistleblowing).  Mandatory training for all 
managers has been scheduled with a good attendance so far.

4. TRANSACTION CENTRE

A wide range of activity is currently underway as part of the further development of 
the Transaction Centre model. Key areas of focus within the centre include training of 
new and existing staff, the commencement of a full end-to-end process review across 
the services and work on a plan to further improve the collection of Council Tax.

Across all services, there is work ongoing to review performance measurements 
available and in use, and to ensure that data is being collected to accurately reflect 
volumes, processing times and quality.

We are 4th best at collecting revenue benchmarked against our relevant 
comparators. We benchmark ourselves consistently in order to learn from others and 
therefore improve our collection rates.





COUNCIL
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Christine Jones

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Adult Social Care & Public Health

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER Graham Hodkinson, Director of 
Adult Social Services

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to her portfolio. 

1. PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES LIVE INDEPENDENTLY

Wirral Evolutions has now taken over the running all Day Services and Day 
Opportunities for people in Wirral, and will act as an independent body 
accountable to its shareholder (the Council). 

Wirral Evolutions Management Board is now well established and is responsible 
for the strategic and operational management of the company.  The company 
has a robust growth strategy and will extend and diversify its offer, attracting new 
customers and moving into new markets.

Our investment in community services to reduce emergency admissions has 
evidenced a positive impact. Our national target to achieve a 3.5% reduction has 
now been achieved. To date, we are currently achieving a 6% reduction. 
Developments have included a Rapid Community Response for GP referrals 
(within 4 hours).  We can support people within their own homes, with access to 
hospitals, intravenous (IV) antibiotics at home, mobile nights, domiciliary care 
and reablement. Our intention is to move to take referrals from North West 
Ambulance Service (NWAS).

We continue to work closely with partners at WUTH to ensure that people are 
discharged from hospital in a safe and timely manner. Wirral partners are part of 
the national Emergency Care Improvement Programme (ECIP) to focus on 
improving discharge pathways and processes.

There is particular focus on early discharge to reduce the average length of stay 
for patients admitted to Arrowe Park Hospital, and significantly improve the 
outcomes for individuals, ultimately reducing the demand on Health and Social 



Care. Additional community capacity for winter pressures is currently being 
implemented. 

Work continues to progress to ensure robust implementation of the Care Act 
locally. A number of revised policies/procedures will be taken to Cabinet in 
January 2016 for approval and implementation.

2. HEALTHY WIRRAL

The Healthy Wirral (vanguard) work stream is progressing well; with integration is 
a key driver and the aim of delivering the Right Care in the Right Place and the 
Right Time. Work has commenced to begin to design the community services 
and resources required. 

The Healthy Wirral launch event took place in November at the Floral Pavilion in 
order to raise awareness with local stakeholders including staff, the public, 
voluntary and community sector and local businesses.  This was to gain insights 
and feedback from stakeholders about the new models of care and develop it 
further to ensure it meets the needs of the local population.



COUNCIL
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Christine Meaden

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Leisure & Culture / Parks & Open 
Spaces 

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER Clare Fish – Strategic Director – 
Families & Wellbeing  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to her portfolio. 

1. LIBRARIES

Income Generation 
 

We are currently reviewing our library fees and charges 2015/16 with a view to an 
increase in all areas.  Birkenhead reference Library has started raising income 
through selling postcards that promote classical engravings from our antiquarian 
collection.  This is also being promoted through Facebook and Twitter.

We have applied to the Carnegie Trust to send an individual member of Wirral staff 
to work with them as Carnegie partners for eighteen months. This will offer the 
successful applicant project funding, an online learning programme, mentoring and 
evaluation and will support them in developing innovative projects for the library 
service.

Currently liaising with Wirral Met College and local schools to take in a series of 
work placements throughout the winter. 

The library management team have been invited to join the nation cluster working 
party arising from the Taskforce for libraries group set up in Liverpool. This is a key 
group and we will be able to feedback on national and local developments

The Universal Learning Offer and Reading Ahead now successfully launched 
alongside a recent visit to the Central library by Andy McNab. Over 50 people 
attended this event to promote library literacy and partnerships.



Volunteers - Pensby volunteers have now started to open Pensby library or provide 
Library Express service 9-1 on Monday mornings in addition to the 9-5 offered on 
Thursdays.

Irby Friends now open the Library 2-5pm on Tuesday afternoons to offer a Library 
Express service.  We are in the process of organising a rota of volunteers and local 
organisations to help maintain public access to collections 

On 22nd October Wirral Libraries had a high profile government visit from Kathy 
Settle (Chief Executive of the Leadership for libraries Taskforce) and Anna 
Wadsworth (Library Secretariat, Department of Culture Media and Sport).The Library 
Taskforce was formed to ensure that the recommendations were implemented from 
the Sieghart Independent Panel Review into Public Libraries (2014).To this end 
Kathy Settle explained she was scheduling visits every fortnight to libraries 
throughout the country. Her visit to Wirral started at Birkenhead Central Library 
where she was given background to the service meeting. A working lunch was held 
at West Kirby Library/One Stop Shop before visits to St James and Rock Ferry 
libraries in the afternoon. She was impressed by our range of co-location and 
partnerships already in place and the diversity of activities taking place. She stated 
that there is no single model for library service delivery but that services should be 
designed around the needs of the local community.

2. PARKS & OPEN SPACES

Allotments Strategy
I would like to thank the allotments community for their input into the production of 
the recently approved allotments strategy.  

Fireworks Night
The borough fireworks displays on the 5 November, one of the wettest nights in 
November, went well although the rain tried its best to dampen proceedings.

Birkenhead Park
The door damaged at the visitor centre when thieves tried to break in has been 
replaced and added security measures are in place. Joint working with the police, 
community patrol and Birkenhead Park’s staff has lead to the arrest of a motorbike 
thief.   

3. CULTURE

Floral Pavilion
The Floral is coming up to the busiest time of the year with its range of Christmas 
galas, its Christmas party nights and very popular pantomime. 21,500 tickets for 
events in December have already been sold and this excludes other events and 
conferences which are also scheduled to take place in the building. The programme 



for January to May 2016 provides an exciting new season for Wirral residents and 
visitors to the venue.

Williamson
Summer art workshops run by the Williamson Art Gallery with support from Wirral 
Methodist Housing Association & the Friends of the Williamson attracted a wide 
range of children who have never been involved before, including a significant 
number from targeted vulnerable groups of looked-after children and young carers 
whose involvement in art workshops is showing a distinct benefit to their lives.

The Museums at Night event on 30th October and the three-week ‘Starkers’ 
installation by Davy & Kristin McGuire has been a popular and critical success, using 
innovative technology to bring a marble sculpture from the Williamson’s collection to 
life. This was supported by Culture 24 following the Williamson’s success in a 
popular vote to ‘win’ the artists’ involvement.

Birkenhead Priory has been taken off the ‘Heritage at Risk’ list and is drawing 
increasing numbers of school and lay visitors.

Culture Strategy
Work is progressing on a Culture Strategy for Wirral in line with the pledge set out in 
the Wirral Plan. It seeks to provide cultural activities for all and focuses on the offer 
from Wirral’s communities as well as looking at opportunities for partnership with the 
Liverpool City Region. I will bring further information on this work as it becomes 
available.

Heritage Matters
The Friends of Birkenhead Park are progressing the development of a bid for World 
Heritage Status for the park and the Friends of Flaybrick are looking for funding 
support from the Council and Historic England to progress their plans for the 
cemetery and former chapel buildings.

The 27th International Guitar Festival of Great Britain
This took place in Wirral during November and featured some of the finest guitarists 
and bands currently playing. The event was well received.

4. LEISURE

Capital Projects in Leisure Centres
The new Fitness Suites at Guinea Gap and West Kirby Concourse opened in March 
and June this year and Invigor8 memberships at Guinea Gap have risen from 676 
members in January 15, to 1586 members in October 15 (an increase of 910 
members) and at West Kirby Concourse, there has been an increase from 1970 in 
Jan 15 to 2977 in Oct 15 (an increase of over 1000). Both Centres have exceeded 
the targets set, with additional income now being achieved.



West Kirby Marine Lake
The plans for the new development at West Kirby Marine Lake are now available on 
line to view. It is hoped that the building works will start in January 2016, with the 
Sailing School and Centre remaining open for general public use throughout the 
contract term.



COUNCIL
14 DECEMBER 2015 

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Bernadette Mooney

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Environmental Protection 

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER David Armstrong, Assistant Chief 
Executive

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to her portfolio. 

1. ATTRACTIVE LOCAL ENVIRONMENT

Ensuring an attractive local environment for local people is a key Pledge in our 2020 
Plan. In a focussed effort to reduce litter, the Council’s Litter Enforcement Contract 
commenced on 1st July 2015 and in just over 4 months of operation have issued 
nearly 5000 fixed penalty notices (FPNs) for littering offences across the Borough. 

The Council’s litter enforcement contractor deploys their uniformed officers across a 
programme of locations 7 days a week with a minimum of 4 enforcement officers 
being deployed on shift at any one time.  Prior to the commencement of enforcement 
operations the Council ran a high profile anti-littering campaign warning that such 
activity will not be tolerated with appropriate action taken. This campaign was followed 
up by further promotion updating on action taken since commencement of operations 
and to inform that income generated through enforcement action has been reinvested 
in facilities such as additional cigarette litter bins.

The payment rate from the FPNs issued so far is 60% with an extended payment 
period provided to those who request it. The Council brought its first 30 litter 
prosecutions before the courts on 4 November 2015 with a further 500 cases due to 
be listed throughout the remainder of November and December.  Early indications 
from recent environmental monitoring are that litter enforcement is having a positive 
effect on environmental conditions through reduced littering.

Baseline recording of recycling performance and participation has now been 
completed.  A Borough-wide recycling campaign was launched in November, to 
introduce our residents to Wirral’s 2020 pledge to create an attractive local 
environment for Wirral residents; and to remind them of the wide range of items from 
around the house that they can recycle in their grey bin.  Every domestic property in 



Wirral will receive a pack through the door; with a handy leaflet detailing items that can 
be collected for recycling and a new information sticker for their grey bin.  

In addition to this, the campaign will feature posters and adverts in local magazines, 
newspapers, shopping areas, bus backs, bin wagons, public buildings and on social 
media.  This intensive campaign will be followed up in the New Year with targeted 
door knocking and roadshows in areas with lower performance and a reusable bag for 
residents to use to store their recycling in their house.  Recycling performance will be 
monitored on a monthly basis, to measure the ongoing impact of the campaign.

Wirral’s Garden Waste Club is now half way through its third year, attracting over 
39,200 annual subscribers following a successful promotion campaign and renewal 
reminders over the summer period.  The offer of free brown bins for a limited period 
has proven to be popular with subscribers and has resulted in the number of additional 
bins residents subscribe for reaching 1,837.  Overall there are now over 41,000 bins 
being collected through the service.

2. ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH & TRADING STANDARDS

The Mayor of Wirral held a Presentation Evening on Monday 26 October 2015 at 
Wallasey Town Hall to express thanks to a group of public spirited teenagers who had 
given up their time to help maintain legal trading practices in Wirral. Twelve volunteers 
were presented with a Certificate from The Mayor in recognition of the work they had 
carried out with Trading Standards. The Volunteers have enabled Trading Standards 
to test what steps traders take to prevent under age sales. The evidence provided by 
these youngsters enables action to be taken against those irresponsible businesses 
who offend.

As part of Wirral Council’s commitment to reducing health inequalities through 
encouraging healthy lifestyles, the Award-winning Project “Takeaway for a Change is 
being rolled out to more schools across the borough.

As part of the roll out of this project, five further schools have now signed up to take 
part in the scheme. These schools were selected based on National Child 
Measurement data which highlighted areas of higher than national average levels of 
childhood obesity (reception and year 6). Officers are delivering the scheme to the 
schools between now and March during which time the children and families will 
benefit from hands on workshops and information to help make sustainable life style 
choices.  The businesses located around these schools are also being visited to 
maximise the sustainable impact of the Takeaway for a Change scheme.   These 
businesses will be actively encouraged to be part of the healthy menu award scheme 
‘Eat Well Wirral’ to enable them to accept the vouchers given to the families who will 
be participating in Takeaway for a Change project.  The scheme has been well 



received by businesses with ten already receiving the bronze and silver award and 
one business achieving the gold standard. We are currently processing a further ten 
applications for businesses located near the five selected schools. 





COUNCIL 
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Tony Smith

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Children and Family Services

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER Julia Hassall, Director of Children’s 
Services

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to his portfolio.

1. VULNERABLE CHILDREN ACHIEVE THEIR FULL POTENTIAL

Work is underway to support the safe reduction of the numbers of children in care who 
are subject to care orders and placed at home with their parents, or who are currently 
in care and will be supported to become permanently attached to their carers through 
them obtaining Special Guardianship Orders. Additional capacity to undertake this work 
has been secured through the Councils transformation fund, and work is being 
progressed through the Family Courts. 

Wirral has joined with other councils in the Liverpool City Region to submit a successful 
bid to progress consideration of a city region adoption agency. The focus of 
regionalising adoption services is to increase efficiencies, improve matching 
opportunities for children, and recruitment of a wider pool of adopters within which to 
place children; and also provide adoption support across a larger footprint. Meetings 
have now taken place with the Government advisor and regional partners, and work is 
now starting to scope out what the adoption service of the future could look like, ready 
for submission by March 2016.

The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is being strengthened, and a new data 
dashboard is supporting much clearer analysis of the needs of children and families 
referred into children’s services; who they are referred by, and the individual journey of 
each child. A new referral form is being developed to make it simpler to get support for 
children and families when they need it, and a review of threshold criteria is soon to be 
undertaken with partners to ensure everyone is clear about when to refer concerns 
about children into the safeguarding hub. This work is being led by a steering group 
which reports into the Local Safeguarding Children Board.  



2. CHILDREN ARE READY FOR SCHOOL

The redesigned service for our youngest children is now progressing following 
Cabinet’s decision on 27th July. Formal consultation with staff commenced on 22 
October, and will be concluded prior to Christmas. The new hub and satellite model will 
be implemented in the New Year. We are now focusing on what services will look like 
in 2020, and how we align all partner spend to commission services together in future 
to support young children and families more effectively and efficiently. There is a strong 
focus on improving information sharing between partners to identify vulnerable children 
and families at the earliest opportunity, and opportunities to integrate services are 
being explored, alongside how we use our buildings to maximum effect. 

3. YOUNG PEOPLE ARE READY FOR WORK AND ADULTHOOD

Supporting young people to develop into resilient adults is critically important; some of 
the activities engaging young people recently include:

 Preparing for the next United Kingdom Youth Parliament elections, which will be 
held in February 2016. We are working with all secondary schools to actively 
support young people in this national democratic process;

 Supporting young people to express their views on what needs to be done to 
improve safety for young people through the Youth Voice Conference, delivered by 
young people in October. Workshops were held on exploitation, being streetwise, 
media pressure, mate crime, bullying, gang culture / peer pressure and internet 
safety. The Conference concluded with young people posing key questions to a 
panel of multiagency partners on matters which most concerned them.

 The annual Youth Parliament which was held on 10 November 2015, when many of 
the issues discussed at the Youth Voice Conference were vigorously debated in the 
Council Chamber.

 National Care leavers’ week, which was held at the end of October was celebrated 
by the Children in Care Council along with corporate parents. This involved a week 
of activities, which included fifteen adults, who work with care leavers, living on the 
equivalent of care leavers financial allowance for food for a week.

Edsential
The new School Shared Service Company with Cheshire West and Chester went live 
on 1st December. This has involved a lot of hard work over a considerable period of 
time for people from both authorities. There is a strong business model and we expect 
business to grow and help deliver improvements to outcomes for children in the future. 
An early focus has been on school catering, with modernised kitchen practices being 
implemented in schools buying back this service, improved menus and more efficient 
planning and ordering of produce. The quality of food has risen, with many 
compliments being received. 



4. INTERVENING EARLY TO SUPPORT CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

The new Family Intervention Service, which started in October brings together the 
existing Intensive Family Intervention Programme (Troubled Families) and Family 
Support Service into a single service. Through combining two service areas, this review 
is realising £1.06m savings; and will deliver a targeted offer, based on what we know 
works. The overarching aims of the service will be to:

(i) Reduce demand on Specialist Services by meeting needs through lower levels of 
intervention
(ii) Improve Health and Wellbeing outcomes for children and families
(iii) Reduce the cost to the public purse by families experiencing multiple and 
complex issues
(iv)Improve aspirations and economic outcomes for Wirral families

 





COUNCIL
14 DECEMBER 2015

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Stuart Whittingham

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Transport, Technology Strategy 
and Infrastructure

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF OFFICER David Armstrong, Assistant Chief 
Executive

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to his portfolio. 

1.  TRANSPORT AND TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE FIT FOR THE FUTURE

As part of the Council’s continuous improvement of its highways and transportation 
service, and to ensure that best practice is being followed as part of the Department 
of Transport’s Highways Maintenance Incentive Fund Self-Assessment process, the 
Council has joined with over 100 authorities as part of the National Highways and 
Transport Public Satisfaction Survey.

The independently conducted Survey has been sent to 3,300 randomly selected 
households in the Borough, and the results will be available in February 2016. The 
Council has always taken a robust approach to the objective survey data regarding 
the condition of highway infrastructure. The annual Public Satisfaction Survey 
outcomes, and our ability to benchmark with a wide range of other authorities, will 
complement this in our measurement of success in delivering this crucial universal 
service.

A major scheme to upgrade the Dock Bridges, to deliver the £7.12 Million 
replacement of the ‘A’ and ‘C’ Dock Bridges has now entered the procurement 
phase to appoint a Design and Build contractor. A number of firms have expressed 
an interest in the scheme, through submission of Pre-Qualification Questionnaires 
(PQQ) and assessment of those PQQ documents will be completed, a tender 
shortlist approved and tenders invited during December 2015.

During the last month, further work has been carried out on site to determine more 
thoroughly the subsurface ground conditions to be experienced by our eventual 
contractor.

Installation of over 7,500 street lighting LED lighting units with Central Management 
System control began on 25 August, and it estimated that 3,700 units will have been 
completed by the end of December, at a cost of approximately £1.45 Million and with 
energy savings of over 1.3 Million Kilowatt-hours (kWh). The project remains on 
target for completion in March 2016. 



A programme to ensure residents have access to safe and sustainable transport 
continues, supporting residents to access employment and training opportunities, 
and work with local businesses to encourage safe and sustainable travel to reduce 
the number of people killed and seriously injured on our roads.  

Between April 1st and 30th September 2015 the scheme received 1301 client 
referrals and is working in partnership with 39 agencies across Wirral. 24 events 
have taken place with employers since April and during this time 350 cycles have 
been safety checked,  with more than 3000 items being issued to support cycle 
safety e.g. lights and reflective bands. 

Very positive feedback has been received from large employers such as The Contact 
Company, Land Registry and Premier Foods. Businesses have received advice and 
support on developing policy and procedures to support safe business travel, and 
practical driving/riding sessions have been delivered to their employees.  

2. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION TRANSPORT PLAN FOR GROWTH - PIPELINE     .    
SCHEMES

Work is ongoing across the Liverpool City Region to develop a long term ‘pipeline’ of 
transport schemes to 2020 with a series of workshops being held in all districts 
regarding regeneration, housing and planning proposals which will impact on future 
transport provision.  

Wirral’s workshops were held in early October (to identify issues) and early 
November (to identify solutions) and then recently to evaluate those solutions. The 
LCR Transport Advisory Group are currently developing an appraisal process for 
identified schemes to be filtered through,  which will then enable a pipeline  of 
transport schemes to be agreed and prioritised at both a local and City Region level. 
The pipeline will ensure that the City Region and Wirral are well placed to access 
and capitalise on future funding opportunities. 

3. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION GROWTH DEAL - SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT    .    
ENHANCEMENTS PACKAGE (STEP)

Works are ongoing to deliver the Sustainable Transport Enhancements Package 
(STEP).  All 2015/16 schemes have been, or are in the process of being, consulted 
upon and subject to the outcome of the consultation, schemes will be completed by 
the end of the financial year.

STEP revenue schemes are all progressing well with numerous applications being 
received from businesses for grant support for sustainable transport measures.  A 
Business Travel Support Officer has been appointed for 12 months using the 
funding, to assist businesses in the Growth Zone to support their employees to travel 
sustainably and promote safe and sustainable transport across the area.

4. PARKING ENFORCEMENT SERVICES CONTRACT

A one year extension to our Enforcement Contract has been approved until 
November 2016, and a review of the contracted services will be carried out in 2016 
to take account of changing technology and to allow for further possible efficiency 
savings from tendering other services within the same contract. This includes 



possibly cash collection and banking services (money collected from the Pay & 
Display machines) and ‘Cashless Parking’; the use of mobile phone technology to 
pay for car parking. Work will start on tendering for a new contract during the first 
quarter of 2016.

5. TECHNOLOGY – MERSEYSIDE CONNECTED

The Merseyside Connected superfast broadband programme is now in the last 
phase of roll out delivery and is on course to be completed in June 2016. This is a 
circa £15.9m investment that in Wirral has already delivered 95 new superfast 
broadband street cabinets linked by a network of new connections across the 
Borough. This represents the second highest investment in Merseyside. As an 
illustration of this investment each cabinet costs around £20,000 to install, power and 
commission. In the near future we will reach the 100th Wirral Cabinet. 

As of October 2015, the total number of premises (TPP) in Wirral stood at 11,317 
with 95 Cabinets live and ready for orders. This represents 89% of the planned 
deployment in Wirral. The planned total of Cabinets live by June 2016 is 113 subject 
to successful deployment of street works. The Business Support element of the 
Merseyside Connected Programme has been successfully completed, delivering and 
in some cases surpassing all of the contracted targets. It has delivered; 

 500 Business Engagements - 100% of target
 316 Business Assist – 105% of target
 250 Business Improvements (GVA) – 100% of target
 151 New Jobs – 101% target 

The Broadband Voucher Scheme is a related support measure to help businesses 
pay for new superfast broadband connections. A grant of up to £3,000 was available 
per business and as the scheme is drawing to a close a total of 192 Wirral based 
companies have been issued with an offer of a voucher and a total of 116 
businesses have actually claimed this offer and drawn down their grant.

The Draft Project Evaluation Report is wide ranging in scope. One of the key 
headlines is the Value for Money section. The headlines are;

 It is modelled that the project up to 2024 will have a Gross Value Added 
(GVA) impact (across Merseyside) of £115.9 million.

 The Benefit Cost Ratio is 11.8 – that is every £1 of public money invested is 
expected to generate £11.80 in net economic benefits across the sub region 
up to 2024.       





WIRRAL COUNCIL
COUNCIL MEETING

14 DECEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: POLICY AND PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEE CHAIRS’ REPORTS

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: POLICY AND PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEE CHAIRS

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

CLLR ANN MCLACHLAN 
(TRANSFORMATION & IMPROVEMENT)

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides Members of the Council with an update on the work carried 

out by each of the Policy and Performance Committees.  The report includes 
contributions from each of the Committee Chairs. Members of Council are 
requested to note the contents of this report.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The Policy and Performance committees are responsible for discharging the 

Council’s scrutiny function. Formal meetings include performance management, 
budget monitoring and policy updates as standing items.  Each committee has 
also developed a work programme which includes a combination of officer 
reports and scrutiny reviews conducted by smaller groups of committee 
members.

3.0 COORDINATING COMMITTEE CHAIR’S REPORT
3.1 A scrutiny review into the potential use of Cumulative Impact Possibility has 

started taking evidence.  This is aimed at improving public health outcomes by 
better understanding the link between the high densities of licensed premises 
and fast food takeaways with excessive alcohol consumption and poor diet.   A 
report setting out the findings will be brought back to committee in the New 
Year.

 
3.2 The Committee also approved an approach for the pre–decision scrutiny of the 

Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vison Delivery Plan, which was subsequently agreed by all 
the chairs and spokespersons of the Policy and Performance committees.  The 
approach took the form of a series of workshops over 3 consecutive nights to 
examine in detail the 20 Wirral Plan pledges and allow members time to 
question officers and make comment on them.  

3.3 The workshops, delivered in the first week of November, were very well 
attended by members and lively discussions followed each of the presentations.  



A follow up report will be presented to a specially convened meeting of the 
Coordinating Committee on 10 December to consider and discuss the 
comments put forward by Members.  The report will be referred on to Cabinet 
as the non-executive Members’ formal response to the consultation on this plan.

3.4 In response to a resolution of the Committee during the summer, a training 
session is being provided for Members in December on performance 
management.  This will include how a new outcome-based framework is being 
developed for the on-going performance management of the Wirral Plan. 

Councillor Moira McLaughlin

4.0 FAMILIES & WELLBEING CHAIR’S REPORT
4.1 At the most recent meeting of the Families and Wellbeing committee, reports 

were presented which updated members on progress with the all Age Disability 
Strategy and Wirral Evolutions, the Local Authority Trading Company set up to 
deliver Day Services.

4.2 The Task and Finish group set up to look at systems in place to reduce 
avoidable admissions to hospital has now held several evidence gathering 
sessions.  There have also been a number of visits to service providers who 
have a key role in reducing the number of people being taken to hospital. Our 
excellent working relationship with Healthwatch continues to develop and Karen 
Prior the Chief Executive has joined the panel for this work.  Members of the 
Committee have also received the Healthwatch Annual Report.

4.3 The Health and Care Performance Panel has met on two occasions and 
continues to monitor progress at Wirral University Teaching Hospital on the 
financial situation as they try to cope with the pressure on services and 
resources. The Panel also reviewed the hospital’s improvement plan following 
recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections.

4.4 In addition we have been looking at complaints to the Department of Adult 
Social Services (DASS) from those using services.  In particular, we have 
highlighted how complaints about commissioned serves are dealt with.

Councillor Moira McLaughlin

5.0 REGENERATION & ENVIRONMENT CHAIR’S REPORT
5.1 The Coastal Strategy review is progressing with a further evidence-gathering 

session being held in December.  A representative from the Environment 
Agency will attend to discuss issues around Partnership Funding and the 
Council’s local levy contributions.  It is anticipated a report will be finalised in 
January before being referred to the Regeneration and Environment Committee 
for consideration.

5.2 A scrutiny review of Tourism has also now begun and a scoping meeting has 
been held.  The review is focussing on how the Council can further market its 
tourism offer, including its key heritage sites.  A number of meetings are to be 
held which will include representatives from the Wirral Heritage and History 
Association and the Local Enterprise Partnership.



5.3 In agreement with the Party Spokespersons, the Regeneration and Environment 
Policy & Performance Committee will now have a standing item on the agenda 
for Members to receive an update from officers on devolution and the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA).  

5.4 The LCRCA Scrutiny Panel has completed a review of Affordable Transport 
which looks specifically at why short journey cash fares are expensive and why 
operators have different fare levels in place across the City Region.  Evidence 
sessions were held with a number of bus operators from different areas.  The 
final report will be presented to the LCRCA Scrutiny Panel on 13 January and 
will be brought to the Regeneration and Environment Committee in March.  The 
Panel has agreed that Housing will be the next topic for examination.

5.5 I would like to thank Members of this Committee for their continued support and 
engagement in developing and delivering the work programme for this year.

Councillor Mike Sullivan

6.0 TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES CHAIR’S REPORT
6.1 At the last Committee meeting in September, it was agreed a task and finish 

scrutiny review of the Council’s disaster recovery arrangements would be 
carried out.  A Review Panel of six Members has been set up with Councillor 
Adam Sykes confirmed as the Chair.  A scoping meeting was held on 29 
October and one of the outcomes for the review is to raise the profile of disaster 
recovery across the Council.  A single evidence session will be held in January 
2016.
 

6.2 A scrutiny review of the Council’s library service was included in the work 
programme for the year and was identified as a priority piece of work.  It was 
subsequently agreed by Members that the review should commence in the New 
Year to ensure that information relating to a number of reviews in progress can 
be made available to Members.  This includes the Leisure and Culture Review 
and a review of the impact of the 18 hours implemented across the community 
libraries.

6.3 I would like to thank the officers and Committee members for their hard work 
and contributions to our valuable scrutiny work.

Councillor Janette Williamson

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
7.1 N/A

8.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
8.1 N/A

9.0 CONSULTATION 
9.1 N/A

10.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
10.1 N/A



11.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
11.1 N/A

12.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
12.1 N/A

13.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
13.1 N/A

14.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
14.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality? (c) No because of another reason which is:
The report is for information to Members and there are no direct equalities 
implications.

15.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
15.1 N/A

16.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
16.1 N/A

17.0 RECOMMENDATION
17.1 Members are requested to consider the contents of this report and whether 

they have any questions for the Chairs of the Policy and Performance 
Committees.

18.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION
18.1 To update Members on the progress with Policy and Performance Committees.

REPORT AUTHOR: Michael Callon
Team Leader Performance and Scrutiny
telephone (0151) 691 8379
email michaelcallon@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
N/A

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
N/A

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Council – Revisions to the Constitution

Council – Reports from Policy and Performance 

30/04/13

14/10/13



Committee Chairs

Council – Reports from Policy and Performance 
Committee Chairs

Council – Reports from Policy and Performance 
Committee Chairs

Scrutiny Annual Report to Council

Council – Reports from Policy and Performance 
Committee Chairs

Scrutiny Annual Report to Council

Council – Reports from Policy and Performance 
Committee Chairs

16/12/13

10/03/14

14/07/14

16/03/15

06/07/15

12/10/15





MINUTE EXTRACT:

CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2015

65 CAPITAL MONITORING 2015/16 QUARTER 2 (TO SEPTEMBER 2015) 

Councillor Phil Davies introduced a report of the Acting Section 151 Officer which 
provided an update on the progress in delivering the Capital Programme 2015/16 at 
the end of September 2015. The report recommended that Cabinet agreed the 
rephasing of the 2015/16 Capital Programme down to £50.2 million and reported 
expenditure to date of £18.2 million.

Councillor Phil Davies commented upon the good work around the use of internal 
borrowing i.e. using the Council’s cash balances rather than having to borrow 
externally. With cash investments currently yielding low rates of return and the 
interest rate on external loans being much higher it was financially advantageous to 
use cash balances to temporarily fund non grant funded capital projects.

Councillor Phil Davies referred to the number of capital projects which were 
generating improved outcomes for Wirral’s residents and businesses.

Councillor Chris Jones referred to the excellent new fitness suite at Guinea Gap 
which had seen an increase in usage and helped towards delivering one of the 
pledges of living healthier lives.

Councillor Chris Meaden echoed these comments and also referred to the increased 
membership at West Kirby Leisure Centre following the improvements to the fitness 
suite there. Improvements at West Kirby Marine Lake were also in the pipeline and 
Sport England had also offered to help with this scheme.

Councillor Pat Hackett commented that the Regional Growth Fund and additional 
grants were providing help with lots of schemes which had started or which were in 
the pipeline creating jobs and helping small businesses.

Councillor Stuart Whittingham stated that nearly 1000 LED Street lights had now 
been installed helping in reducing the Council’s carbon footprint. The competitive 
tendering process had resulted in a contract saving of £1.074 million with the 
scheme being successful in securing an interest-free loan.

Councillor Tony Smith referred to the additional classrooms at Elleray Park School 
which would provide additional places for children with special educational needs.

Councillor Bernie Mooney thanked those officers involved in respect of the West 
Kirby Flood Alleviation scheme, the business case for which had been submitted to 
the Environment Agency. Approval to commence the scheme was awaited and 
anticipated to be primarily in 2016/17.



RESOLVED: That

(1) the spend to date at Month 6 of £18.2 million, with 50% of the financial year 
having elapsed, be noted.

(2) the revised Capital Programme of £50.2 million be agreed and referred to 
Council for approval.



WIRRAL COUNCIL

CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2015

SUBJECT CAPITAL MONITORING 2015/16
QUARTER 2 (TO SEPTEMBER 2015)

WARD/S AFFECTED ALL
REPORT OF ACTING SECTION 151 OFFICER
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO HOLDER COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES
KEY DECISION YES

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1   This report provides an update on the progress in delivering the Capital 
Programme 2015/16 at the end of September 2015. The report recommends that 
Cabinet agrees the rephasing of the 2015/16 Capital Programme down to £50.2 
million and reports expenditure to date of £18.2 million.

2 OVERALL POSITION AT END OF SEPTEMBER 2015

2.1 The actual spend against the Capital Programme is summarised in Table 1.

Chart 1: Capital Programme spend below line of best fit

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

P0 P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9 P10 P11 P12

£m

Months

Capital Programme 2015/16

Revised Programme Actual  spend

3 ORIGINAL AND PROPOSED CAPITAL PROGRAMME FOR 2015/16

3.1 The Programme for 2015/16 is subject to change and reflects the Programme 
agreed by Cabinet on 10 February 2015 together with subsequent amendments. 
Broadly these reflect any re-profiling identified since the 2015/16 Budget Cabinet 
and changes regarding external financial support, primarily the latest grant 
notifications. 



3.2 To aid the monitoring process, schemes are categorised against five gate points 
being Conception, Approval, Start Up, Delivery and Completion. 

Table 1: Capital Programme 2015/16 at 30 September 2015

Capital 
Strategy

Revisions 
Since 

Budget 
Cabinet 

Revised 
Capital 

Programme

Actual 
Spend 

September 
2015

£000 £000 £000 £000
Universal & Infrastructure 8,956 -5,032 3,924 1,671
Families – Children 8,517 2,287 10,804 3,083
Families – Adults 8,263 -2,946 5,317 517
Families – Sport & Rec 1,865 810 2,675 1,164
R&E–  Env & Regulation 12,633 -147 12,486 4,698
R&E–  Hsg & Comm Safety 6,412 -984 5,428 1,308
R& E – Regeneration 1,808 4,736 6,544 5,018
Transformation Resources 1,600 1,404 3,004 735
Total expenditure 50,054 128 50,182 18,194

3.3 As outlined above a number of schemes within the Programme have been 
reprofiled to reflect updated project delivery forecasts and to take account of 
changes in available funding and costs. Variances since June are in Table 2.

Table 2: Variations to the 2015/16 Programme
Scheme £000
Universal & Infrastructure
Building refurbishment to increase occupancy
Cleveland St. Transport Depot
Park depot rationalisation
Demolish Bebington Town Hall and Liscard Municipal
Demolish former Rock Ferry High

Families & Wellbeing – Children
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
Wirral Youth Zone

Families & Wellbeing – Adults
Transformation of day service

Families & Wellbeing – Sport & Recreation
West Kirby Marine Lake
Bidston Tennis Centre re-roofing

Reg & Env – Environment & Regulation
Energy schemes (LED Street Lighting)
Coast Protection
West Kirby Flood alleviation
Highway Maintenance

-519
-2,800

-750
-378
-395

-150
100

-500

-590
-325

-1,074
-134

-1,400
-30



Scheme
Reg & Env – Housing
Aids, adaptations and DFGs
LIFT
Clearance
Home Improvements
Empty Property interventions

Reg & Env – Regeneration
LEP Regional Growth Fund

Overall variation since Quarter 1

£000

-1,235
-296

-1,324
-434

-76

985

-11,325

3.4 Universal and Infrastructure Services

Building refurbishment to increase occupancy. Pending resolution over the future 
occupation of Old Market House there is an impact on other planned works which 
include the Wallasey South Annexe and Bebington Town Hall demolition. These 
form part of the accommodation review and are temporarily on hold.

A further eight schemes are either underway or have been completed (e.g. 
Wallasey Town Hall, Cheshire Lines) that will lead to significantly improved use of 
the Council’s asset base. 

With the Cleveland Street Transport Depot being permanently occupied and 
operational this has resulted in the works being re-phased.

Parks Rationalisation. The review of Parks and Open Spaces is being completed. 
There has therefore been a pause whilst we consider the impact this may have on 
required capital expenditure, ensuring funding gives value for money against 
assets to be retained and fits with the Wirral Plan.

Former Rock Ferry High School. Application will shortly be submitted to Secretary 
of State. Demolition will commence assuming the site proposals are approved.

3.5  Families and Wellbeing - Children

Private Finance Initiative (PFI). No schemes are planned for this year and any 
future schemes will be restricted to the level of reserve funding available (£85,000).

Wirral Youth Zone. Within the revised Children & Young people Capital Programme 
a sum of £500,000 has been identified as a potential contingency sum to support 
the delivery of the project.

Practical completion is expected over the next few weeks in respect of the 
additional classrooms and other works at Elleray Park.



3.6 Families and Wellbeing - Adults

Transformation of Day Services is ongoing. At this stage the scheme has still to be 
developed so the Programme is based on the level of grant funding available 
deferring the requirement for Council resources by £0.5 million.

3.7 Families and Wellbeing – Sport and Recreation

Tenders have been invited for the integrated accommodation works at West Kirby 
Marine Lake and the majority of the expenditure will be incurred in 2016/17.

The re-roofing of the Tennis Centre is currently in the tendering process and a 
preferred contractor has still to be chosen.

Works at Guinea Gap are now complete and, along with the 3G pitches and fitness 
suite, have seen an increased usage of the facilities.

3.8 Regeneration and Environment – Environment and Regulation

Energy schemes (LED Street Lighting). The competitive tendering process has 
resulted in a contract saving of £1.074 million with the scheme being successful in 
securing an interest-free loan.

Coast Protection. The aids to Navigation scheme will now be completed during the 
2016/17 financial year. In respect of West Kirby Flood Alleviation the business 
case has been submitted to the Environment Agency. Approval to commence the 
scheme is awaited and anticipated to be primarily in 2016/17.

3.9 Regeneration and Environment – Housing

In order to allow people with disabilities to live more independently, Aids and 
Adaptations and grants continue to be approved and the spend committed. The 
incurring of this spend is determined by the grant applicant which means that there 
will invariably be works approved which remain uncompleted during the year.

The clearance programme involves complex legal processes and with potential 
Compulsory Purchase Orders, public enquiries and business relocations do impact 
on the delivery of the programme.

Within home improvements expenditure is driven by the level of grant applications, 
the very nature of which translates into some unpredictability in the programme.

3.10 Regeneration and Environment – Regeneration

Regional Growth Fund. Additional grant will be received to match the expenditure 
relating to this particular regeneration activity. Nearly £5 million has been provided 
from this and other growth funds to provide investment and assist with the 
regeneration and development of local businesses.



3.11 Transformation and Resources

The main expenditure relates to the progression of the improvements to 
Information Technology which is continuing.

4 FINANCING OF THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 Table 3 summarises the financing sources for the original and latest programmes.

Table 3: Revised Capital Programme Financing

Capital Programme Financing Capital 
Strategy

Revised 
Programme

£000s £000s
Unsupported Borrowing 19,090 15,875
Capital Receipts 12,693 10,363
Revenue and Reserves 537 622
Grants 17,734 23,322
Total Financing 50,054 50,182

4.2 Any reprofiling of the Programme which reduces the borrowing requirement will 
produce one-off  revenue savings. A permanent saving will only occur if schemes 
are permanently ceased, otherwise the full budget will be required in 2016/17 when 
the re-profiled expenditure is incurred.

5 PROJECTED LONGER TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME

5.1 Funding for the forecast 2015/16 to 2017/18 Programme is in Table 4. This reflects 
the 2015/18 Capital Programme agreed by Cabinet on 10 February 2015 with 
subsequent amendments for reprofiling and revised grant notifications.

5.2 The latest projected programmes for 2016/17 and 2017/18 are included at Annex 
2. These are in the process of being reviewed to ensure that the schemes are 
compatible with the 20/20 Vision and to try and identify any savings.

Table 4: Capital Programme Financing 2015/16 to 2017/18

Capital Programme 
Financing

2015/16 
Revised 
Programme

2016/17 
Revised 
Programme

2017/18 
Revised 
Programme

Total 
Programme

£000 £000 £000 £000
Unsupported 
Borrowing

15,875 10,951 0 26,826

Capital Receipts 10,363 11,869 2,414 24,646
Revenue / Reserves 622 954 66 1,642
Grants 23,322 17,805 9,511 50,638
Total Financing 50,182 41,579 11,991 103,752



6 SUPPORTED AND UNSUPPORTED BORROWING AND THE REVENUE 
CONSEQUENCES OF UNSUPPORTED BORROWING

6.1 Based on the current cost, £1 million of Prudential Borrowing would result in 
additional revenue financing costs of £80,000 per annum in the following year.  As 
part of the Capital Strategy 2015/16 to 2017/18 the Council has included an 
element of prudential borrowing. At Month 6 there is a sum of £27 million new 
unsupported borrowing included over the three years, which will result in 
approximately £2.1 million of additional revenue costs detailed at Table 5, if there is 
no change in the Strategy.

Table 5: Unsupported Borrowing Forecasts & Revenue Costs

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
£000 £000 £000 £000

New Unsupported Borrowing
Cumulative

15,875
15,875

10,951
26,826

0
26,826

0
26,826

Annual Revenue repayment costs 
Cumulative 317 1,488 2,145 2,145

6.2 The re-profiling of the Capital Programme, the use of internal borrowing i.e. using 
the Councils cash balances rather than taking out external loans and means that 
the 2015/16 borrowing will be delayed until 2016/17. With cash investments 
currently yielding low rates of return and the interest rate on external loans being 
much higher it is financially advantageous to use cash balances to temporarily fund 
non grant funded capital projects. Savings from these measures  and from applying 
policies for minimising revenue provision (principal) costs on Treasury Management 
costs are anticipated to total £2.5 million in 2015/16.

7 CAPITAL RECEIPTS POSITION

7.1 The Capital Programme is reliant on the Council generating capital receipts to 
finance future schemes. Available capital receipts at 1 April 2015 were £8.3 million. 
The table assumes the proposed spend, set out at Table 1 is agreed. Receipts and 
funding assumptions are based upon the latest estimates available.

Table 6: Projected Capital Receipts position

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
£000 £000 £000

Capital Receipts Reserve 8,300 337 3,468
In - Receipts Assumption 2,400 15,000 10,500
Out - Funding assumption -10,363 -11,869 -2,414
Closing Balance 337 3,468 11,554



7.2 In respect of progress on the major site disposals. The Council should soon be 
entering a 16 week exclusivity period with the preferred purchaser of Acre Lane. 
Bids have been received for the sale of the Manor Drive site and these are currently 
being assessed. The former Rock Ferry High School site requires Secretary of 
State approval and Cabinet on 10 September 2015 agreed that an application be 
submitted for change of use of the Rock Ferry site to a mixed use basis with an 
element retained for green space. With the major sites the capital receipts will take 
the form of a series of phased payments to the Council which are likely to 
commence in 2016 and the receipts assumptions in the above table reflect the best 
estimate of these.

8 RELEVANT RISKS

8.1 The possibility of failure to deliver the Capital Programme will be mitigated by the 
monthly review by a senior group of officers, charged with improving performance.

8.2 The generation of capital receipts may be influenced by factors outside the 
authority’s control e.g. ecological issues. Lambert, Smith, Hampton are still 
providing external support.

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1 No other options have been considered.

10 CONSULTATION

10.1 No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report.

11 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS

11.1 There are no outstanding actions.

12 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

12.1 As yet, there are no implications for voluntary, community or faith groups.

13 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

13.1 The whole report is about significant resource implications. 

14 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

14.1 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.

15 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

15.1 An Equality Impact Assessment is not attached as there are none.



16 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

16.1 There are no carbon reduction or environmental implications arising directly from 
this monitoring report.

17 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

17.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

18 RECOMMENDATIONS

18.1 That Cabinet is asked to note the spend to date at Month 6 of £18.2 million, with 
50% of the financial year having elapsed.

18.2 That Cabinet is asked to agree and refer to Council the revised Capital 
Programme of £50.2 million (Table 1).

19 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

19.1 Regular monitoring and reporting of the Capital Programme enables decisions to 
be taken faster which may produce revenue benefits and will improve financial 
control of the Programme.

REPORT AUTHOR: Reg Huyton
Principal Accountant
Telephone 0151 666 3415
Email reghuyton@wirral.gov.uk

ANNEXES

Annex 1 – Capital Programme and Funding 2015/16
Annex 2 – Capital Programme 2016/17 and 2017/18
Annex 3 – Capital Receipts 2015/16

SUBJECT HISTORY

Council Meeting Date
Capital monitoring reports presented to Cabinet
       previous report to Cabinet  2015/16 (Quarter 1)
Capital Programme – Council
Capital Programme – Council 

27 July 2015
25 February 2014
24 February 2015



Capital Programme and Funding 2015/16 ANNEX 1

Universal & Infrastructure

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend to 
Date 
£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Building refurbishment to increase 
occupancy 1,600 1,201 1,600 - - 1,600
Fund to assist land assembly and re-sale 587 45 587 - - 587
Cleveland St. Transport Depot 315 37 315 315
Park depots rationalisation 520 132 520 520
Energy efficiency Initiatives 596 175 596 - - 596
Demolish Stanley Special & external 150 81 150 - - 150

renovation work
Demolish Foxfield 156 - 156 - - 156

3,924 1,671  3,924 - - 3,924



Families and Wellbeing - CYP

Revised 
Programme 

£000 

Spend to 
Date 
£000 

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Elleray Park Special School redevelopment 850 674 850 - - 850
School remodelling/additional classrooms 

(Primary Places) 2,050 173 1,800 - 250 2,050
Condition/Modernisation 4,658 1,441 - - 4,658 4,658
Basic Need allocation 1,897 243 - - 1,897 1,897
Children's centres 53 - - - 53 53
Aiming Higher 24 53 - - 24 24
Youth Capital 149 98 - 51 149
Birkenhead High Girls Academy 80 157 - 69 11 80
Funding for 2 year olds 18 - - - 18 18
Universal Free School Meals 209 32 - - 209 209
Somerville Mobile Replacement 366 164 366 - - 366
Family Support Scheme 200 54 200 - - 200
Youth Zone 100 92 100 100
Stanley Special - additional classrooms, 

medical/hygiene provision 150 - 150 - - 150
10,804 3,083 3,564 69 7,171 10,804



Families and Wellbeing - DASS

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend to 
Date 
£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Citizen and Provider Portal for Social and 
Health Services 617 - - - 617 617

Transformation of Day Service 615 173 - - 615 615
Integrated IT 1,085 344 1,000 - 85 1,085
Community Intermediate Care Services 1,000 - - - 1,000 1,000
Integrated Social Care and Health Learning 
Disability Service - Girtrell Court 2,000 - 2,000 - - 2,000

5,317 517 3,000 - 2,317 5,317

Families and Wellbeing - Sports & 
Recreation

West Kirby Concourse Fitness Suite 112 - 112 - - 112
Guinea Gap 3G Football pitches 99 - 99 - - 99
West Kirby/Guinea Gap/Europa Pools 2,024 1,164 2,024 - - 2,024
Refurb of Artificial Turf Pitch & perimeter 

fence repairs at the Tennis & Sports 
Centre 240 - 240 - - 240

West Kirby Marine Lake – Integrated  
accommodation and service delivery 100 - 100 - - 100

Bidston Tennis Centre re-roofing 100 - 100 - - 425
2,675 1,164 2,675 - - 2,675



Regeneration and Environment - 
Environment & Regulation

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend to 
Date 
£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Road Safety 157 45 84 - 73 157
Active Travel 185 30 185 - - 185
Transportation 104 23 104 - - 104
Bridges 1,566 482 728 - 838 1,566
Street Lighting 76 28 26 - 50 76
Highway Maintenance 3,935 3,283 1,400 - 2,535 3,935
Transport for Growth 1,698 80 - - 1,698 1,698
Start Active, Play Active, Stay active 34 12 34 - - 34
Wirral Way - widening and safety improvements 14 6 14 - - 14
Cemetery Extensions and Improvements 171 5 171 - - 171
Coast Protection 117 22 117 - - 117
Energy schemes (LED Street Lighting) 3,162 255 3,162 - - 3,162
Allotments 165 - 165 - - 165
Parks Improvements 38 23 - 13 25 38
Parks vehicles replacement 684 404 684 - - 684
West Kirby Flood Alleviation 100 - - 100 - 100
Dock Bridges Replacement 280 - 280 - - 280

12,486 4,698 7,154 113 5,219 12,486



Regeneration and Environment - Housing & 
Community Safety

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend 
to Date 

£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Aids, Adaptations and Disabled Facility Grants 2,000 732 - - 2,000 2,000
LIFT 2 2 2 - - 2
Clearance 516 184 215 100 201 516
Home Improvement 420 138 270 150 - 420
Improvement for sale grants 180 - - 180 - 180
Empty Property Interventions 160 37 150 10 - 160
New House Building Programme 1,500 215 1,500 - - 1,500
Cluster of Empty Homes Fund 650 - - - 650 650

5,428 1,308 2,137 440 2,851 5,428

Regeneration and Environment - Regeneration

Other Regional Growth Fund Schemes 3,208 2,883 - - 3,208 3,208
LEP Regional Growth Fund Schemes Targeted 

Assistance 2,087 2,087 - - 2,087 2,087
Business Investment Grants 780 239 780 - - 780
The Priory 69 12 - - 69 69
Hamilton Square Accessibility Improvements 400 7 - - 400 400

6,544 5,018 780 - 5,764 6,544



Transformation & Resources

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend 
to Date 

£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

CCTV cameras and other equipment 100 - 100 - - 100
I.T Development 2,904 735 2,904 - - 2,904

3,004 735 3,004 - - 3,004

Programme Total 50,182 18,194 26,238 622 23,322 50,182



Capital Programme 2016/17 and 2017/18 ANNEX 2

2016/17 2017/18
Universal & Infrastructure £000 £000

Building refurbishment to increase occupancy 2,019 250
Cleveland St Transport Depot 2,800 -
Demolish Bebington Town Hall/Liscard Municipal 378 -
Demolish former Rock Ferry High 395 -
Parks depot rationalisation 750 -

6,342 250

Families and Wellbeing - CYP
School remodelling and additional 

classrooms (Primary Places) 1,500 750
Stanley Special School – additional

 classrooms, medical/hygiene provision 600 -
PFI 85 -
Condition/Modernisation 4,500 -
Youth Zone 1,900 -
Family Support 100 -

8,785 750

Families and Wellbeing – DASS
Community Intermediate Care Services 1,000 -
Pensby Wood day service remodelling 1,200 -
Extra Care Housing 2,500 -
LD Extra care Housing 3,000 -

7,700 -

Families and Wellbeing - Sports & Recreation
West Kirby Marine Lake – Integrated 

accommodation and service delivery 740 -
Bidston Tennis Centre re-roofing 325 -

1,065 -



Regeneration and Environment
     - Environment & Regulation
West Kirby Flood Alleviation 1,900 -
Highway maintenance 3,060 2,938
Coast Protection 134 -
East Float Access ImprovementsTower Road 200 -
Wirral International Business Park Connections 200 -
East Float Access Improvements to Duke Street 400 -
Dock Bridges Replacement 2,530 4,310
Preventative Maintenance to Unclassified 

and Residential Streets 500 500
Cemetery Extensions and Improvements 150 -

9,074 7,748

2016/17 2017/18
Regeneration and Environment £000 £000

- Housing & Community Safety
Aids, Adaptations and DFGs 4,308 2,573
LIFT 296 -
Clearance 1,324 -
Home Improvement 434 -
Empty Property Interventions 178 -
Cluster of Empty Homes 603 -
Housing Renewal 570 670

7,713 3,243

Regeneration and Environment - Regeneration
Hamilton Square Accessibility 

Improvements 700 -
Business Investment Grants 300 -

1,000 -

Total 41,579 11,991



Capital Receipts 2015/16 ANNEX 3

Cash Received
£000

Ex-HRA Magenta Housing Right to Buy 699
Ingleborough Road, Covenant 500
New Hall Farm 295
Empty Homes (various) 209
Plot 9 Tarran Industrial Estate sale of ground lease 30
Land at Belmont Road 92
Ashford Road (Family Support) 26

Total 1,851





MINUTE EXTRACT:

CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2015

67 BUDGET COUNCIL ARRANGEMENTS 

Councillor Phil Davies introduced a report of the Head of Legal and Member 
Services, proposing Cabinet recommend to Council that:

 Budget Council scheduled for 23 February 2016 be re-scheduled to Thursday, 3 
March 2016 (with a reserve date of Wednesday, 9 March 2016); and

 The Agenda and Procedure for Budget Council set out in Appendix 1 of the report 
be approved.

The Council was required to set its Budget for the 2016/17 financial year by 10 
March 2016.  

The Agenda and Procedure had been prepared following consultation with all the 
three Political Group Leaders.

RESOLVED: That - 

(1) the Budget Council Agenda and Procedure set out at Appendix 1 to the 
report, be approved.

(2) Council be recommended to change the date of the Budget meeting of the 
Council, currently scheduled for 23 February 2016, to Thursday, 3 March 
2016 with a reserve date of Wednesday, 9 March 2016 (and the Calendar of 
Meetings be amended accordingly).

(3) Council, at its meeting on 14 December 2015, be recommended to adopt the 
Agenda and Budget Council Procedure set out at Appendix 1 to the report 
in respect of the said Budget meeting of the Council above. 

(4) Council be recommended to authorise the Head of Legal and Member 
Services to make changes to the Budget Council Agenda and / or 
Procedure set out at Appendix 1 to the report providing the consent of all 
the three Political Group Leaders has been obtained. 





WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET

5 November 2015

SUBJECT: Budget Council Arrangements

WARD/S AFFECTED: All

REPORT OF: Head of Legal & Member Services

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

Leader of the Council

KEY DECISION?  No

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report proposes that Cabinet recommends to Council that:

 Budget Council scheduled for 23 February 2016 be re-scheduled to 
Thursday, 3 March 2016 (with a reserve date of Wednesday, 9 March 
2016); and

 the Agenda and Procedure for Budget Council set out at Appendix 1 be 
approved.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 Standing Order 13 provides that the Head of Legal & Member Services: 

“shall, prior to the Budget meeting of the Council, consult with the Leaders of 
each political group and submit to the Cabinet and Council a suggested 
procedure to be adopted at the budget meeting, but if no such procedure is 
adopted the normal procedures of the Council in relation to amendments to 
Cabinet recommendations will apply”. 

3.0 Budget Council Date

3.1 The Budget meeting of the Council is scheduled to take place on 23 February 
2016. However, it is proposed that that date be changed to Thursday, 3 March 
2016 (with a reserve date of Wednesday, 9 March 2016) to allow further time 
for budget options to be considered and details of precepts to be determined. 

3.2 The Council is required to set its Budget for the 2016/17 financial year by 10 
March 2016.



4.0 Proposed Budget Council Agenda and Procedure

4.1 The Agenda and Procedure for the Budget meeting of the Council is set at 
Appendix 1 to this report and has been prepared following consultation with all 
the three Political Group Leaders. 

4.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
4.1 The Council is under a legal obligation to set a lawful budget. The proposed 

Budget Council Agenda and Procedure seeks to facilitate and assist the 
Council in this regard. 

5.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
5.1 No other options were considered given that all three Political Group Leaders 

were consulted in relation to the proposed Council Budget Agenda and 
Procedure.

6.0 CONSULTATION 
6.1 All three Political Group Leaders were consulted in relation to the proposed 

Budget Council Agenda and Procedure.

7.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
7.1  None.

8.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
8.1 None.

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
9.1 The Council is required to set a lawful balanced budget for the forthcoming 

financial year 2016/17.

10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
10.1 The legal implications are set out in the main body of the report.

11.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
11.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

No such implications arise.

12.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
12.1 None

13.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
13.1 None



14.0 RECOMMENDATION/S

14.1That Cabinet:

 approves the Budget Council Agenda and Procedure set out at Appendix 
1 to this report.

 recommends to Council that the Budget meeting of the Council currently 
scheduled for 23 February 2016 be changed to Thursday, 3 March 2016 
with a reserve date of Wednesday, 9 March 2016 (and the Calendar of 
Meetings be amended accordingly).

 recommends to Council at its meeting on 14 December 2015 the 
adoption of the Agenda and Budget Council Procedure set out at 
Appendix 1 to this report in respect of the said Budget meeting of the 
Council above.

 recommends to Council that the Head of Legal and Member Services be 
authorised to make changes to the Budget Council Agenda and/or 
Procedure set out at Appendix 1 providing the consent of all the three 
Political Group Leaders has been obtained.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 To give effect to Standing Order 13 of the Council Procedure Rules set out in 

the Council’s Constitution.

REPORT AUTHOR: Surjit Tour
Head of Legal & Member Services and Monitoring Officer
telephone (0151) 691 8498
email surjittour@wirral.gov.uk 

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 - Budget Council Procedure

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
None

mailto:surjittour@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

BUDGET COUNCIL 
AGENDA and PROCEDURE

COUNCIL
3 March 2016

1. Apologises for absence

2. Declarations of Interest / Restrictions on voting

3. Mayor’s Announcements

4. Approval of Minutes

5. Petitions (pursuant to Standing Order 5(2)(d) Council Procedure Rules)
However, if a petition relates to the setting of the Budget, the member who presents it 
should be given the opportunity during the main debate to speak to it, in order that the 
Council can take account of it in that context.

6. Suspension of Standing Orders of the Council’s Constitution

(i) Standing Order 12(1)relates to ‘Motions and Amendments’ and provides 
that:

“A motion or amendment shall relate to a recommendation of a 
committee submitted in accordance with Standing Order 5.2(i), or to a 
matter referred to in Standing Orders 7 and 8. It shall not be discussed 
unless it has been proposed and seconded.

The terms of any amendment or notice of motion shall not be varied 
except with the agreement of the Council.”

(ii) Standing Order 12(9) relates to ‘Amendments’ and provides that:

“Subject to Standing Order 7(5) an amendment to a motion or 
recommendation of the Cabinet or of a Committee shall be relevant to 
the motion or recommendation under consideration and shall be either

(a) to refer or refer back a subject of debate for consideration or 
reconsideration as the case may be;

(b) to leave out words;
(c) to leave out words and insert or add others;
(d) to insert or add words.



as long as the effect of any amendment is not to negate the motion or 
recommendation.”

(iii) Standing Order 12(10) relates to ‘Amendments to be dealt with in order’ 
and provides that:

“Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time”.

For the purposes of the Budget Debate, Council is requested to suspend:

(a) Standing Orders 12(1) insofar as it relates to amendments;
(b) Standing Order 12(9); and 
(c) Standing Order 12(10). 

7. Council Budget 

The Budget Debate will only consider:

(i) the Cabinet’s Budget Recommendations/Minutes, which shall 
include any additional paragraphs/ recommendations (e.g. those 
relating to precepts), together with any other 
recommendation(s)/minute(s) from the Cabinet meeting to be held 
on 22 February 2016 (and/or any other relevant Cabinet meeting) 
that require approval by the Council; and

(ii) any Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment(s) to the 
Cabinet’s Budget Recommendations/Minutes referred to at (i) above 
duly lodged with the Head of Legal & Member Services on or before 
12noon on Monday, 29 February 2016.

(iii) Budget Debate shall be conducted in accordance with the Budget 
Debate Process set out at Annex 1 to this Appendix.

8. Appointments

Council shall consider any recommendations referred for appointment, approval 
and/or designation (as appropriate). 

9. Vacancies

Council shall consider any appointments to be approved or any changes 
proposed to existing appointments. 

10. Any Urgent Business

Council to consider any urgent business approved by the Mayor



ANNEX 1

Budget Debate Process

1. Cabinet Minute

a. The Cabinet’s Budget Recommendations/Minute(s) referred to at 
7(i) of the Budget Council Procedure is formally moved by the 
Leader of the Council.

b. The Cabinet’s Budget Recommendations/Minute(s) is formally 
seconded.

2. Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendments

a. The Mayor will advise Council that Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s) or Amendments (submitted in accordance with 7(ii) 
of the Budget Council, Procedure) are to be proposed by both 
the other two Political Group Leaders and the Green Party 
Member (if applicable).

First Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment

b. The Mayor will invite the Group Leader of the largest opposition 
political group to first propose his Alternative Budget Proposal(s) 
or Amendment.

c. The Group Leader of the largest opposition political group 
formally moves his Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or 
Amendment.

d. The Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment is formally 
seconded.

Second Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment

e. The Mayor will invite the Group Leader of the other opposition 
political group to propose his Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or 
Amendment.

f. The Group Leader of the other opposition political group formally 
moves his Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment.

g. The Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment is formally 
seconded.



Third Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment
(If applicable)

h. The Mayor will invite the Green Party Member to propose his 
Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment.

i. The Green Party Member formally moves his Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s) or Amendment.

j. The Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment is formally 
seconded.

In the event that there is no seconder, the Third Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s) or Amendment(s) shall not be debated or voted upon.

3. Debating and Voting 

The moved and seconded Cabinet’s Minute and Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendments shall be debated together (in accordance with 
the Rules of Debate set out below) and a vote then taken on each of them 
in turn.

Order of Speakers

a. The Leader of the Council will speak to the Cabinet Budget 
Recommendations/Minute(s) (15 Minutes).

b. The Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services will speak to the 
Schools’ Budget element of the Cabinet Budget 
Recommendations/Minute(s). (7 Minutes).

c. The Group Leader of the largest opposition political group will 
speak to the First Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment 
(15 Minutes). 

d. The Group Leader of the other opposition political group will 
speak to the Second Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment 
(15 Minutes).

e. If applicable, the Green Party Member will speak to the Third 
Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment (15 Minutes).

f. Other members wishing to speak shall indicate to the Mayor, 
who will call them to speak in the order determined by the Mayor 
(Each Member - 3 Minutes).



g. The budget debate shall end with the Seconders, unless they 
have spoken earlier. (Each Seconder - 7 Minutes)

Right of Reply

h. If applicable, the Proposer of the Third Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment will be invited to exercise his right of 
reply. (5 Minutes).

i. The Proposer of the Second Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment will be invited to exercise his right of 
reply. (5 Minutes).

j. The Proposer of the First Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment will be invited to exercise his right of 
reply. (5 Minutes).

k. The Leader of the Council will be invited to exercise his right of 
reply. (5 Minutes).

Speakers

Speakers will be allocated the following time: 

The Leader of the Council speaking to the Cabinet’s 
Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s)

15 minutes

The Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services (speaking on 
the Schools’ Budget element)

7 minutes

The Group Leaders of the opposition political groups  and 
Green party Member (if applicable) speaking to their 
respective Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/ Amendment

15 minutes

Other speakers 3 minutes

Seconder of an Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment (as applicable)

7 minutes 

The Seconder of the Cabinet Budget 
Recommendation(s)/Minutes(s)

7 minutes 

The Group Leaders of the opposition political groups and 
Green Party Member (if applicable) – right of reply

5 minutes 

The Leader of the Council – right of reply 5 minutes 

(For the avoidance of any doubt the times mentioned in the table above shall not affect the 
Mayor’s discretion to permit a speaker to speak beyond the allotted time). 



4. Voting

The order of voting shall be as follows (and subject to 4(d)(ii) below):

a. If applicable, Third Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/ Amendment

A vote will be taken on the Third Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment.

b. Second Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment

A vote will be taken on the Second Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment.

c. First Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment

A vote will be taken on the First Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment.

d. Cabinet Recommendation(s)/Minute(s)

(i) If all the Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendments to the 
Cabinet’s Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s) fall, a vote 
will be taken on the Cabinet’s Budget Recommendation(s)/ 
Minute(s).

(ii)_ If the Cabinet’s Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s) are 
amended or an Alternative Budget Proposal(s) carried 
pursuant to 4a–c above, that decision will be regarded as an 
in-principle decision, and the Budget meeting of the Council 
shall be adjourned to 6:15pm on Wednesday, 9 March 2016 
unless the Leader of the Council confirms to Council that he 
does not intend to challenge the in-principle decision, in 
which case it shall become effective. 

In the event that the meeting is adjourned, the Council will 
reconsider its decision having regard to the Leader of the 
Council’s written submission which must be submitted to the 
Head of Legal & Member Services by 4.00pm on Monday, 7 
March 2016.  

At that the adjourned meeting, the Council can:

(i) accept the Cabinet Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s) 
(without amendment); or



(ii) re-affirm its approval of the in-principle decision made on 
Thursday, 3 March 2016, upon the occurrence of which it 
will shall become effective; or 

(iii) approve a different decision that does not accord with 
the Cabinet Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s).

NOTE: The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 requires a recorded vote (i.e. names of all councillors voting 
and how they voted) to be taken in respect of all votes.



MINUTE EXTRACT:

CABINET

5 NOVEMBER 2015

69 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING - DEVONSHIRE PARK 

Councillor Pat Hackett introduced a report from the Assistant Chief Executive, 
reporting that a local referendum on the making of a statutory Neighbourhood 
Development Plan for Devonshire Park was held on 22 October 2015. 92% of the 
303 people who voted, had voted in favour of the Council using the Neighbourhood 
Development Plan to help in deciding planning applications in Devonshire Park.  

The report therefore recommended that the Neighbourhood Development Plan for 
Devonshire Park, attached to the report was ‘made’ by a resolution of the Full 
Council. 

Councillor Pat Hackett thanked all the community in the area for all their hard work 
with the Neighbourhood Plan and commented that this would be the first one in 
Wirral.

RESOLVED: That

(1) Cabinet recommends to Council that the Devonshire Park Neighbourhood 
Development Plan attached to the report, which was endorsed by a majority 
vote in a referendum of local electors, is formally ‘made’ under Section 
38A(4) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) the Assistant Chief Executive be authorised to take all the steps necessary 
to comply with the remaining legal requirements under Section 38A of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Part 5 of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for the Economy. 

Councillor Phil Davies vacated the Chair and left the room during consideration of 
the next two items.

Councillor Ann McLachlan in the Chair





WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET – 5 NOVEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING – MAKING 
OF A NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN FOR 
DEVONSHIRE PARK

WARD/S AFFECTED: DEVONSHIRE PARK IS IN PRENTON WARD 
BUT LIES DIRECTLY ADJACENT TO THE 
WARDS OF BIRKENHEAD AND TRANMERE 
AND OXTON

REPORT OF: ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

COUNCILLOR PAT HACKETT
ECONOMY

KEY DECISION? YES

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 A local referendum on the making of a statutory Neighbourhood Development Plan for 

Devonshire Park was held on 22 October 2015. 92% of the 303 people who voted, 
voted in favour of the Council using the Neighbourhood Development Plan to help in 
deciding planning applications in Devonshire Park. 

1.2 This report therefore recommends that the Neighbourhood Development Plan for 
Devonshire Park attached to this report is ‘made’ by a resolution of Full Council.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum, which was designated by the 

Council in April 2013 as the statutory neighbourhood forum for Devonshire Park, 
formally submitted their proposed Neighbourhood Development Plan to the Council for 
publication and independent examination in November 2014. 

2.2 The Council has now completed the legal process set out in Section 38A of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004; Schedule 4B of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990; and Part 5 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012.  

2.3 The draft Plan was publicised between 8 December 2014 and 6 February 2015, to bring 
it to the attention of people who live, work or carry on business within the designated 
Neighbourhood Area. The comments submitted were considered by an independent 
examiner, appointed with the agreement of the Forum, from the national Neighbourhood 
Planning Independent Examiner Referral Service, in March 2015.  

2.4 The examiner concluded, in May 2015, that the draft Plan would meet all the relevant 
legal requirements and should be submitted to a local referendum, subject to a series of 
recommended modifications. The Council agreed with the examiner’s recommendations 
and published the examiner’s report and the modified documents in July 2015. The 
period for judicial review expired in August 2015.

2.5 A referendum on the modified Plan was held on 22 October 2015, to allow the local 
community to vote on whether the Plan should be used by Wirral Council to help decide 



planning applications in the Neighbourhood Area. More than half (279 or 92%) of the 
303 people who voted, voted in favour of the Plan. 

2.6 The Council is now obliged by law to make the proposed Neighbourhood Development 
Plan part of the statutory Development Plan for Wirral by a resolution of Full Council 
(Section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 refers).

2.7 A copy of the successful Neighbourhood Development Plan for Devonshire Park is 
attached to this report.

 
2.8 On the basis that the Plan attached to this report has complied with all the relevant 

legislative requirements and would not breach or otherwise be incompatible with any 
EU obligation or any Convention rights within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 
1998, it is recommended that the Plan is now formally brought into force by a resolution 
of Full Council.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 The Council must comply with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and their 
associated national regulations. Processes that do not comply with statutory 
requirements will be vulnerable to legal challenge and could incur additional and/or 
abortive costs.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other option is available to the Council once a majority vote in a local referendum 

has been obtained and the plan has met all the relevant statutory requirements.  

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 The Neighbourhood Development Plan attached to this report has been prepared 

following community consultation undertaken in August 2011, February 2012 and May 
2013; publication by the Council in December 2014; independent examination in March 
2015; the publication of modified documents in July 2015; and a majority vote in a local 
referendum held on 22 October 2015.     

5.2 The decision to make the Plan, a copy of the Plan and the reasons for making the Plan 
must be published on the Council’s website, made available for public inspection and 
brought to the attention of people who live, work or carry on business within the 
Neighbourhood Area. 

5.3 The Plan will therefore be made available for public inspection on the Council’s website; 
at Birkenhead Central Library; and at the North Annexe of Wallasey Town Hall; the 
Council will notify previous respondents; and will publish a public notice in the weekly 
planning notice in the local free press; in addition to more local notification through the 
monthly newsletter prepared and delivered to every property within the designated 
Neighbourhood Area by the Devonshire Park Resident’s Association.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
6.1 Voluntary, community and faith groups have been able to take part in all the previous 

stages of the Plan’s preparation. 



6.2 The Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum and its founding Residents’ 
Association will continue to operate and will assist in the ongoing monitoring and review 
of the adopted Plan. 

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
7.1 The staffing required to support the preparation and adoption of the Neighbourhood 

Development Plan for Devonshire Park has been provided from existing resources for 
Regeneration and Planning. 

7.2 The preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan has also incurred the following additional 
costs, which have been offset by grants from the Department of Communities and Local 
Government:

 publication and deposit of the submitted documents - £375
 independent examination - £3,854
 publication of modified documents - £405
 local referendum - £5,000

7.3 An Officer Decision Notice for the procurement of the independent examiner was 
approved by the Head of Regeneration and Planning on 23 May 2014 and by the 
Council’s Procurement Manager in July 2014.

7.4 The costs associated with the final adoption of the Plan will also be met from existing 
resources for Regeneration and Planning. 

8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
8.1 Subject to a majority of vote in favour of making the Plan, the Council must make the 

proposed Neighbourhood Development Plan part of the statutory Development Plan for 
Wirral by a resolution of Full Council, as soon as reasonably practicable after the 
referendum is held.

8.2 The decision to make the Plan is subject to a six-week period for judicial review, 
beginning with the day after the day on which the decision to make the Plan is 
published.

8.3 The Plan will remain in force until 2030, unless a material change in circumstance 
intervenes.

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
9.1 Has the potential impact of your proposals been reviewed with regard to equality?

(a) Yes and the impact review can be accessed at 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0

9.2 The accompanying equality impact assessment indicates that appropriate mitigation for 
any potential negative impact on people with lower incomes or people needing to live in 
flats, residential institutions or hostels has already been provided within the wording of 
the proposed Neighbourhood Development Plan and by the existing provisions of 
national planning legislation.

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0


10.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 The revised Sustainability Assessment Report for the Plan, as modified following 
independent examination, indicates that the proposed Neighbourhood Development 
Plan would support a sustainable pattern of future development. 

11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1 Once made by Council resolution, the Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Development 

Plan will form part of the statutory land-use Development Plan for Wirral alongside the 
Council’s Unitary Development Plan, the Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and 
Halton and the emerging Core Strategy Local Plan and will be used to help in the 
determination of individual planning applications falling within Devonshire Park. 

11.2 There are no community safety implications arising from the Devonshire Park 
Neighbourhood Development Plan.

12.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
12.1 That Cabinet recommends to Council that the Devonshire Park Neighbourhood 

Development Plan attached to this report, which has been endorsed by a majority vote 
in a referendum of local electors, is formally ‘made’ under Section 38A(4) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

12.2 That the Assistant Chief Executive is authorised to take all the steps necessary to 
comply with the remaining legal requirements under Section 38A of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Part 5 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for the Economy.

13.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
13.1 To comply with the requirements of Section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) and Regulations 19 and 20 
the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.

REPORT AUTHOR: Andrew Fraser
Forward Planning Manager
telephone: (0151) 691 8218
email: andrewfraser@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Proposed Neighbourhood Development Plan for Adoption 

REFERENCE MATERIAL
Localism Act 2011 (Part 6, Chapter 3 and Schedules 9 to 12)
The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (2012, No. 637) (Parts 2, 3 and 5) 
Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012 No. 2031)(as amended)
National Planning Policy Framework and Practice Guidance (CLG, March 2012)

Additional background on the Neighbourhood Development Plan for Devonshire Park can be 
viewed on the Council’s website at www.wirral.gov.uk/nhoodplan
 

mailto:andrewfraser@wirral.gov.uk
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/made/data.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2031/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2031/contents/made
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/nhoodplan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/nhoodplan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/nhoodplan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/nhoodplan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/nhoodplan


SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Cabinet - Neighbourhood Planning Forum Designations 
– Devonshire Park and Hoylake (Minute 221)
Council - Neighbourhood Planning Forum Designations 
– Devonshire Park and Hoylake (Minute 147)
Delegated Decision – Neighbourhood Planning – 
Devonshire Park

14 March 2013

30 April 2013

25 November 2014





 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 1 

 
 
 

DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD 
PLANNING FORUM 

(DESIGNATED 30 APRIL 2013) 

 
 

 
 

DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
2014-2030 

 
 

Made by Resolution of Wirral Council – xx xxxxx 20xx 
 
 
 

For further information please contact the Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum at http://devonshirepark.wordpress.com/ 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[blank for copying] 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 3 

 

Contents 
 

                   page 
 

1. Introduction           5 
 
2. National Context for the Neighbourhood Development Plan     7 
 
3. Wirral Development Plan Context        8 
 
4. Wirral Core Strategy Local Plan        9 
 
5. Evidence and Neighbourhood Plan Issues       9 
 
6. Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Plan Aims     15  
 
7. Neighbourhood Development Plan Policies     16 
 
8.  Delivery, Monitoring and Review      22 
 
9. Conclusions         22 
 
Figure 1 - Neighbourhood Plan Area       25 
 
Figure 2 - Wider Context         27 
 
Appendix - Devonshire Park Residents Association Goals and Objectives  29 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[blank for copying]



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 5 

Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum 
 

Neighbourhood Plan for Devonshire Park 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 As one of the oldest residential areas in the historic town of Birkenhead, 

Devonshire Park has a unique identity born of its heritage and character. The 
Area is one of four remaining examples of Birkenhead’s Victorian Villa 
Estates; of which two are now designated conservation areas and the other 
recognised as being of special historic interest.  

 
1.2 The Neighbourhood Plan Area is defined by the borders of North Road, 

Borough Road, Prenton Road East and Greenway Road.  There were 654 
dwellings in Devonshire Park at 2011, with an estimated population of 1,420 
people.1  The Plan Area is largely residential, with good access to Birkenhead 
and Liverpool by bus. 

 
1.3 The population is served by Devonshire Park Primary School, just outside the 

boundary of the Plan Area on Temple Road, and local shops at the perimeter 
along Borough Road.  Nearby, Tranmere Rovers football club is a focal point 
for leisure and community activity. 

 
1.4 St Joseph’s Parish Centre is a focal point for all aspects of community life.  

Much use is made of the parish hall and social club for public meetings, 
interest groups and family ceremonies and celebrations.  There is a Kingdom 
Hall on Stuart Road and a Dental Practice on Greenway Road. 

 
1.5 Devonshire Park is a peaceful enclave, typified by broad streets with well-

spaced houses set back from the road, enhanced by attractive gardens and 
original features such as York stone pavements, ornate Victorian drain covers 
and garden walls built with much sought after Sherwood sandstone quarried 
locally at nearby Hinderton and Storeton Quarry, which has now closed. 

 
1.6 Residents take great pride in the appearance of their homes and gardens.  

The Villa Estate benefits from many mature trees.  There is an assortment of 
flowering plants and a thriving bird population including sparrows, blackbirds, 
mistle-thrush, tits, a variety of finches, house-martins and bats.  The heron is 
a frequent visitor to local garden ponds, and there are occasional sightings of 
the sparrow hawk. 
 
 
 
 

                                                
1
 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics (ONS), Table KS102EW based on data from 

constituent Lower Level Super Output Areas (Wirral 21C, 22A and 22B) 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 6 

Housing Stock 
 
1.7 The Plan Area is characterised by large, Victorian and early Edwardian 

character-houses, alongside some contemporary properties built post-World 
War Two. 

 
1.8 There are a number of buildings of particular interest, including the Victorian 

cottages on Willowbank Road and the Merseyside Bridge Club on Clarence 
Road.  A greater proportion of the Victorian housing consists of 4-7 bedroom 
properties of which a significant number have been converted to flats or bed-
sits. 

 
1.9 Of the residences within Devonshire Park, over 40% are already flats/bed-

sits, which is significantly above the national average of 22%.  The 
comparable figure for Wirral is 17%2.  In addition, there are 16 supported 
housing facilities within the Plan Area. 

 
Community 

 
1.10 Devonshire Park is home to a population of approximately 1,400 residents3. 
 
1.11 The community has formed a vibrant Residents’ Association tasked by its 

constitution to: ‘represent and promote the interests of all residents within the 
Devonshire Park area’4. 

 
1.12 All members of the community are valued and represented. There is 

particular concern for the protection of vulnerable members of the community, 
benefiting from supported living in the Plan Area. 

 
1.13 The Residents’ Association is a diverse group and takes its communal and 

civic role seriously. A number of members enrolled on a Government 
sponsored ‘Community Development’ course in 2010/11. 

 
1.14 The Residents’ Association was established in 2006, initially to co-ordinate 

local representations against a commercial housing scheme that residents 
successfully argued would be detrimental to the character of the area and 
sustainable balance of community.  The proposed development was 
replicating a model used elsewhere which had adversely impacted on another 
local community.  Since that time the Association has flourished into a strong 
and progressive vehicle for positive community engagement, extending its 
reach and influence into community development, safety, conservation and 
land use planning.   

 

                                                
2
 At the 2011 Census, the figures were 28% for enumeration districts including Devonshire 

Park and 17.5% for Wirral Borough (ONS Table KS401EW) 
3
 Estimated at 1,420 from ONS 2011 Census Table KS102EW 

4
 the goal and objectives of the Association are included in the Appendix to this Plan  



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 7 

1.15 Members stay in constant touch through a community Blog, regular monthly 
newsletters hand delivered to every home, well attended community meetings 
and organised social events using the local Parish Centre. 

 
1.16 Devonshire Park is in many ways a community to which other areas could 

aspire.  By getting as many people as possible involved in building and 
growing community spirit, protecting and building on local assets and  by 
valuing every member, a strong sense of pride and local identity has been 
established.  Examples are the number of residents who display the 
Devonshire Park logo on their wheelie bins and the success of the Area’s 
annual festival of Gardens and Hanging Baskets. 

  
1.17 In order to comply with the Government’s Neighbourhood Planning 

Regulations5, Devonshire Park Residents’ Association has established the 
Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum, to take forward the 
preparation of the Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Plan.  The application to 
designate the Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum and 
Neighbourhood Area on 30 November 2012 was subject to public 
consultation and was confirmed by Wirral Council on 30 April 2013. 

 
2. National Context for the Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 
2.1 The Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Development Plan was initially brought 

forward in the context of the Government’s Neighbourhood Planning ‘Front 
Runner’ project.  Whilst its planning policies must be developed under the 
Government’s Neighbourhood Planning Regulations and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, this Neighbourhood Development Plan is a 
statement of the community’s aspirations for their neighbourhood, reflecting 
the freedoms introduced by the Government. 

 
2.2 Spatial planning is a process of place shaping and delivery.  The National 

Planning Policy Framework states that spatial policy should: 
 

1. “be genuinely plan-led, empowering local people to shape their 
surroundings, with succinct local and neighbourhood plans setting out a 
positive vision for the future of the area.  Plans should be kept up-to-date, 
and be based on joint working and co-operation to address larger than 
local issues.  They should provide a practical framework within which 
decisions on planning applications can be made with a high degree of 
predictability and efficiency”; 

 
2. “not simply be about scrutiny, but instead be a creative exercise in finding 

ways to enhance and improve the places in which people live their lives”; 
 

                                                
5
 Town and Country Planning, England, The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 

2012, SI 637, March 2012 (as amended) 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 8 

3. “always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings”; and 

 
4. “take account of the different roles and character of different areas…”; 

 
2.3 These four principles are taken from the twelve core land-use principles that 

the National Planning Policy Framework says should underpin both plan 
making and decision taking within the planning system6. 

 
2.4 This document therefore sets out the community’s vision for the future of 

Devonshire Park over the next fifteen years.  It is based on evidence of 
existing conditions, community derived objectives and the community’s sense 
of the local distinctiveness of the Plan Area.  The proposed policies are 
intended to create a framework for private investment that will promote the 
economic, environmental and social wellbeing of Devonshire Park. 

 
2.5 The Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum therefore considers 

that this Neighbourhood Development Plan is consistent with national 
planning policy. 

 
3. Wirral Development Plan Context 
 
3.1 The statutory Development Plan for Wirral currently consists of the Wirral 

Unitary Development Plan (adopted February 2000) and the Joint Waste 
Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton (adopted July 2013).   

 
3.2 Appendices 4.1 and 4.2 to the Basic Conditions Statement that accompanies 

this Neighbourhood Development Plan show how the Plan is in general 
conformity with the strategic policies of the existing Development Plan.  The 
Neighbourhood Plan will, in particular, provide additional local context to 
assist in the application of Policy HS4 - Criteria for New Housing 
Development, Policy HS7 - Sheltered Housing, Policy HS8 - Nursing 

Homes/Residential Care Homes, Policy HS13 - Self-Contained Flat 
Conversions and Policy HS14 - Houses in Multiple Occupation from the Wirral 
Unitary Development Plan7 and will operate alongside Policy WM8 - Waste 
Prevention and Resource Management and Policy WM9 - Sustainable Waste 
Management Design and Layout for New Development, in the Joint Waste 

Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton8. 
 
3.3 Once confirmed following local referendum, the Devonshire Park 

Neighbourhood Plan will also become part of Wirral’s statutory Development 
Plan. 

                                                
6
 National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 17 (CLG, March 2012) 

7 UDP Policies can be viewed online at http://dru7.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-
plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan 
8 Joint Waste Local Policies can be viewed online at http://dru7.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 9 

 
4. Wirral Core Strategy Local Plan 
 
4.1 Wirral Council is preparing a Core Strategy Local Plan, to replace the 

strategic policies in the Unitary Development Plan.  A Proposed Submission 
Draft was consulted on in December 2012 and proposed modifications were 
consulted on in July 2013 and December 2014.  Although the emerging Local 
Plan currently carries limited weight, more weight will attach to the Core 
Strategy as it advances further towards adoption.  

 
4.2 Appendix 4.3 to the Basic Conditions Statement that accompanies this 

Neighbourhood Plan shows how the Plan is considered to be in general 
conformity with the strategic policies of the emerging Core Strategy Local 
Plan, including the Spatial Vision, Strategic Objectives, Broad Spatial 
Strategy and Proposed Submission Draft policies, Policy CS6 - Priorities for 
Suburban Birkenhead, Policy CS21 - Criteria for New Housing Development, 
Policy CS23 - Criteria for Specialist Housing, Policy CS42 - Development 

Management and Policy CS43 - Design, Heritage and Amenity9. 
 
4.3 The Neighbourhood Plan will, where appropriate, also supplement the 

remaining policies of the Unitary Development Plan until they are replaced in 
a site-specific Local Plan. 

 
5. Evidence and Neighbourhood Plan Issues 
 

Historical Development 
 
5.1 At the beginning of the 19th Century, the emerging economy of both Liverpool 

and Birkenhead produced not only magnificent civic buildings but also a 
massive increase in housing needed specifically for the labour force, reflected 
in the increase in population in Birkenhead from 100 in 1800 to 2,500 by 
1830.  Although these terraced and ‘dock cottages’ had every amenity they 
were criticised for their lack of space.  It was decided in the 1830’s a new type 
of development was needed, that of the ‘Villa Estate’, particularly for the 
merchants and professional classes, who could cross the River Mersey using 
the new steam ferries. 

 
5.2 The Villa Estates immediately improved the character and appearance of 

Birkenhead and became much sought after dwellings.  These spacious family 
homes were built from high quality local brick and sandstone, and the estates 
were often gated (although these gates now only survive at Rock Park and 
Egerton Park).  The Villa Estates not only acted as an impressive adjunct to 
Birkenhead’s on-going improvements, but acted as a foundation for 
community life. 

                                                
9
 The policies of the emerging Core Strategy Local Plan can be viewed online at 

http://dru7.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-
plans/core-strategy-local-plan 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 10 

 
5.3 Devonshire Park was developed from the 19th Century as one of a series of 

five Victorian ‘Villa Estates’ in Wirral (Parkfield, Rock Park, Egerton Park, 
Clifton Park and Devonshire Park).  Devonshire Park became the last ‘Villa 
Estate’ to be built, with rapid development from 1877.   

 
5.4 The status of Rock Park (dating from the 1830’s) and Clifton Park (dating 

from the 1840’s) has been reflected by their designation as Conservation 
Areas (designated in 1979 and 2004 respectively). 

 
House Types 

 
5.5 Devonshire Park had 654 dwellings in 2011, with a vacancy rate very similar 

to that for Wirral (4.3% in Devonshire Park from 2011 Census data for the 
Park and surrounding Lower Super Output Areas10 and 4.4% in Wirral11).  
However, the type of housing in Devonshire Park is markedly different from 
the pattern across Wirral: 

 
Table 1 – Provision of flats, maisonettes and apartments including in 
converted or shared houses and above commercial property 
 Devonshire Park Wirral 

 Number 2011 % 
2011 

Number 2011 %  
2011 

Total dwellings 654 100% 145,693 100% 
 

All flats 281 43.0% 25,548 17.5% 
of which are… 
Purpose-built 
flats 

56 8.6% 17,222 11.8% 

Flats – part of a 
converted or 
shared house 

220 33.6% 6,317 4.3% 

Flats above 
commercial 
property 

5 0.8% 2,009 1.4% 

Source: Devonshire Park - Property Count from Council Property Records 2011;           
             Wirral - 2011 Census (ONS) Table KS401EW 

 
5.6 The proportion of flats/bed-sits is very high, at 43% of the total 2011 stock.  Of 

the 8.6% of purpose-built flats, 30 are within the sheltered housing scheme at 
Maritime View in Stuart Road and 12 in the flatted scheme at 1-23 Stuart 
Road. 

 

                                                
10

 2011 Census data is derived from Lower Super Output Areas constituting Devonshire Park 
(ONS Table QS417EW) 
11

 The Wirral dwelling vacancy rate is taken from the Council’s HSSA return to Government 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 11 

5.7 The proportion of properties converted from large single dwellings to 
flats/bed-sits is now estimated at over 33%.  Due to the Lower Super Output 
Area boundaries used in the 2011 Census, it is not possible to precisely 
calculate the proportion of dwellings by category within the Plan Area from the 
Census alone.  The counts of dwelling types within Devonshire Park at 2011 
are therefore absolute, based on Council land and property records. 

 
5.8 The distribution of dwelling types within Devonshire Park differs markedly 

from Wirral as a whole, with a lower rate of purpose-built flats than in Wirral 
but a rate of converted flats eight times greater than in Wirral as a whole. 

 
Age Structure 

 
5.9 The age structure of Devonshire Park is similar to Wirral Borough, although 

the proportion of young adults (20-29 years old) and 30-44 years old adults is 
higher than the proportion across Wirral. 

 
Table 2 – Age Structure in Devonshire Park 
 Devonshire Park Wirral 

 Number 2011 % 2011 Number 2011 % 2011 
Total residents 1,420  319,783  
Age  
0-4 73 5.1% 18,514 5.8% 
5-9 62 4.4% 17,677 5.5% 
10-14 83 5.8% 19,005 5.9% 
15-17 67 4.7% 12,525 3.9% 
18-19 33 2.3% 7,338 2.3% 
20-24 103 7.3% 18,069 5.7% 
25-29 92 6.5% 17,939 5.6% 
30-44 283 19.9% 58,992 18.4% 
45-59 325 22.9% 67,018 21.0% 
60-64 78 5.5% 21,740 6.8% 
65-74 117 8.2% 31,319 9.8% 
75-84 82 5.8% 21,313 6.7% 
85-89 14 1.0% 5,481 1.7% 
90+ 8 0.6% 2,853 0.9% 
Source: 2011 Census (ONS) Table KS102EW 
Notes: Devonshire Park % 2011 from constituent Lower Super Output Areas 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 12 

Household Structure 
 
5.10 Whilst Devonshire Park’s age structure is broadly similar to that for Wirral as 

a whole, the concentration within the dwelling stock of flats and bed-sits is 
reflected in the household structure.   

 
5.11 There is a markedly higher proportion of single non-pensioner households 

than in Wirral as a whole (26% in Devonshire Park compared to 19% across 
Wirral in 2011). 

 
5.12 Family groups (couples and lone parents) are under-represented in 

Devonshire Park, compared to the pattern across Wirral.   
 
5.13 The only group of households apart from adult single person households to 

have a higher representation are the ‘other households’ group, which consists 
of non-related adults living together and sharing dwellings (often in flats and 
bed-sits) (8% in Devonshire Park compared to 5% across Wirral in 2011) . 

 
Table 3 – Household Structure in Devonshire Park 

 Devonshire Park Wirral 

 Number 
2011 

% 2011 Number 
2011 

% 2011 

Total households 635 100% 140,583 100% 
One person - 
pensioner 

91 14.3% 20,621 14.7% 

One person - other 166 26.1% 26,708 19.0% 
One family and no 
others - all 
pensioners 

30 4.7% 11,955 8.5% 

One family and no 
others - couple - no 
children 

87 13.7% 20,970 14.9% 

One family and no 
others - couple - 
dependent children 

88 13.9% 23,907 17.0% 

One family and no 
others - couple - no 
dependent children 

45 7.1% 9,862 7.0% 

One family and no 
others - lone parent - 
dependent children 

54 8.5% 12,735 9.0% 

One family and no 
others - lone parent - 
no dependent 
children 

22 3.5% 6,259 4.5% 

Other households - 
other 

52 8.2% 7,566 5.4% 

Source: 2011 Census (ONS) Table KS105EW 
Notes: Devonshire Park % 2011 from constituent Lower Super Output Areas 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 13 

 
Townscape Character 

 
5.14 Devonshire Park is set on the western side of the Tranmere ridge to the south 

of Birkenhead Town Centre.  The street pattern is predominantly north-south, 
with cross streets climbing up the hill completing the grid.   

 
5.15 The grid layout to the Villa Estate was set in the 1870’s and pairs of houses 

were placed within it.  By the 1890’s a large number of pairs of semi-detached 
villas were completed, setting the space standards of the estate, with front-to-
front elevation distances of between 22 and 25 metres, together with the form 
of front garden walls and gate-piers.   

 
5.16 At that time, land to the west of Borough Road was undeveloped, although 

the tramline ran along Borough Road to Prenton Road West (finishing just 
before the present Tranmere Rovers football ground). 

 
5.17 The majority of dwellings in the Plan Area are 2-3 storey Victorian/Edwardian 

semi-detached villas.  A short terrace of cottages in Willowbank Road, which 
pre-date the main building of the Estate, have long front gardens set above 
the street.  A two storey block of more modern flats is at the top of Stuart 
Road, opposite a Maritime Housing Association sheltered housing scheme 
built in 1984 on the site of a water reservoir. 

 
5.18 The eastern end of Stuart Road has a tighter form of layout than the rest of 

the Estate, with dwellings set closer together and front elevation distances of 
18 metres.  The shorter front gardens in this area and the steepness of the 
street enhance this tighter feel. 

 
5.19 Only North Road and Prenton Road East have long views, up to the 

Tranmere Ridge.  Elsewhere, east-west views are shorter, as streets such as 
South Road and Clarence Road terminate at Willowbank Road.  The north 
south streets are curved at their northern ends, leading the eye towards North 
Road. 

 
5.20 The Plan Area is therefore visually contained and there are few views out of 

the Estate to the wider area.  There is however, a view north from Heathbank 
Road, which is close to the top of the Tranmere ridge, towards Birkenhead 
Town Centre. 

 
5.21 There are no formal areas of public landscaping or greenspace in the Estate 

and the character of the Plan Area is given by landscaping of individual 
residential plots.  The Residents’ Association has encouraged garden and 
boundary wall maintenance, through ‘Best Kept Garden’ and ‘Hanging 
Basket’ competitions.  Mersey Park and Victoria Park are nearby and provide 
open space for the Estate’s residents. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 14 

5.22 The boundary treatments to buildings within the Plan Area are varied, from 
brick and stone walls, sometimes with formal capping, to timber fences and 
hedges on some elevations.  A variety of heights and materials, together with 
instances of neglect and poor repair give some parts of the Plan Area a poor 
appearance.  In some cases, front walls have been demolished to allow for 
off-street parking, although gate piers may still be in place.  Flat conversions 
often have unsuitable tarmac car parking areas taking up a large proportion of 
the site. 

 
5.23 During the initial consultation exercise, carried out by the Residents’ 

Association in the summer of 2011, many residents commented on the loss of 
historic pavement materials, where York stone slabs have been replaced by 
tarmac. 

  
Building materials 

 
5.24 Most of Devonshire Park’s dwellings are of brick, with some stone or 

terracotta detailing on the Victorian and Edwardian property.  Roofs were 
originally of slate and many were consequently steep-pitched.  Windows were 
originally large sash of timber construction. 

 
5.25 The only listed building in the Plan Area is St Joseph’s Church but the 

character of the Plan Area is given by the homogeneity of many of the 
dwellings, in spite of some unsympathetic redevelopment.  Modern houses 
are of brick with concrete roof tiles. 

 
Negative Factors 

 
5.26 The Residents’ Association questionnaire responses highlighted the problem 

of the high proportion of flat and bed-sit conversions, which have often 
resulted in detrimental impacts on the built environment and social character 
of the Plan Area.   

 
5.27 In physical terms, the conversion to flats has involved the demolition of front 

garden walls and the laying of tarmac across front gardens for off-road 
parking, with a consequent loss of mature trees and shrubs. 

 
5.28 In social terms, the lack of interest shown by absentee landlords has resulted 

in poor property and garden maintenance, with for some properties a 
damaging effect on the quality of the landscape.   

 
5.29 The Plan Area is predominantly residential and disturbance can be caused by 

the behaviour of some, particularly short-term residents, who tenant some of 
the flats and bed-sits. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 15 

6. Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Plan Aims 
 
6.1 Based on clear values and aspirations, Devonshire Park is a community 

seeking to take a lead in regeneration, achieved through the continued 
development of a thriving and sustainable community with a strong sense of 
civic pride and investment in the Plan Area. 

 
6.2 Preservation of the unique character and heritage of the Plan Area, based 

around preserving the character of the original Villa Estate, is key to local 
engagement, pride and identity of community.  

 
6.3 This, along with the encouragement of appropriate complementary 

development will, over time, restore the balance of housing so that the 
proportion of single dwellings within the Plan Area is consistent with the local 
average. 

 
6.4 The availability of affordable family housing as part of the overall housing mix 

will enable long-term stakeholders to remain and/or settle in the Plan Area, 
reducing transiency and assisting in the development of a strong and 
sustainable community with a long term investment in the future of 
Devonshire Park.  

 
6.5 The following aims are considered integral to the future viability and character 

of Devonshire Park: 
 

 
1. Building a thriving, sustainable, resident community to invest in the long 

term future of Devonshire Park 
 
2. Maintaining the remaining stock of larger family sized housing and 

encouraging the development of new family sized housing where 
redevelopment and conversion opportunities arise 

 
3. Providing a safe, secure, neighbourly environment for residents and 

visitors 
 
4. Protecting the environment through conservation of the area’s trees, walled 

gardens and green spaces 
 
5. Preservation or enhancement of the fabric and architectural features that 

combine to provide Devonshire Park with its unique aesthetic and social 
character 

  

 
6.6 The community holds that preservation or enhancement of the current stock 

of family housing is essential to a sustainable future for Devonshire Park; in 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 16 

order to encourage families into the Plan Area and to promote a sustainable 
and balanced community. 

 
6.7 The predominance of families and family housing is considered to be a 

fundamental aspect that contributes to the unique character of the Plan Area 
in terms of its peaceful and aesthetic environment. 

 
6.8 This is therefore the statement and vision for our Neighbourhood Plan for the 

next fifteen years, as designed and articulated by residents. 
 
6.9 Any proposals for development within Devonshire Park can be discussed with 

the Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum, who can be contacted 
at http://devonshirepark.wordpress.com/  

 
 
7. Neighbourhood Development Plan Policies 
 

Building a Sustainable Community in Devonshire Park  
 
7.1 Both the Unitary Development Plan and the emerging Core Strategy Local 

Plan seek to promote urban regeneration and environmental enhancement.  
The objectives for the emerging Core Strategy include meeting local housing 
needs while preserving and enhancing locally distinctive characteristics and 
the Broad Spatial Strategy, in particular, seeks to ensure that new 
development makes a positive contribution to local character and amenity and 
maintains and enhances local character.    

 
7.2 This Neighbourhood Development Plan seeks to contribute towards the wider 

regeneration of the area by promoting the provision of new family housing, re-
establishing a high quality residential area and controlling the concentration of 
properties in multiple occupation within the Neighbourhood Area.  The overall 
objective is to promote a more balanced housing stock that will support a more 
sustainable mixed community, with a long-term commitment to the Area and a 
pattern of land use and development that will better reflect the character of the 
Villa Estate. 

 
7.3 The Neighbourhood Plan will also contribute to the delivery of the wider 

strategy for the area by providing the additional local detail that should be 
taken into consideration in Devonshire Park, to maintain the distinctive 
character of the Neighbourhood Area, alongside the other policies of the 
Development Plan. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 17 

 

Devonshire Park Policy 1 – Re-Establishing a High Quality Residential 
Environment 
 
A The provision of dwelling houses, through new development or 

through the conversion or change of use of existing buildings, will 
be supported within the Neighbourhood Plan Area, subject to the 
design criteria in Part B being satisfied. 

 
B All development within Devonshire Park will be required to meet the 

following design criteria in order to restore and preserve the 
predominant character of the Villa Estate: 

 
(1) front and rear separation distances, building heights, plot 

frontages and set-backs should reflect those of plots in the 
immediate locality; and 

 
(2) frontages and boundary treatment should reflect those in the 

immediate locality; and 
 
(3) development should respect the local distinctiveness of its 

surroundings through sensitive design and detailing, including 
appropriate siting, orientation, scale, materials and landscaping. 

 
The definition of a dwelling house will be the same as in the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (SI 2015 No. 596) and does not include a building containing one or 
more flats or a flat contained within such a building. 

 
Policy Justification 

 
7.4 The Devonshire Park Villa Estate contains a number of large Edwardian and 

Victorian villas and semi-villas, of which a high proportion has been converted 
into bed-sits and small flats.  These conversions have often had a detrimental 
effect on the character of the neighbourhood, with front garden walls 
demolished to provide paved parking areas on former front gardens.  The 
additional households also result in high levels of on-street parking, 
particularly as the neighbourhood is also close to the Tranmere Rovers 
Football ground, which on match days generates a lot of non-resident 
parking. 

 
7.5 The overall level of converted flats in Wirral is 4.3%12, whilst there are 220 

flats in converted buildings in Devonshire Park, representing over 33% of the 
total dwellings in the area13.  This level of over-development has been 

                                                
12

 2011 Census, ONS, Table KS401EW - flat, maisonette or apartment; part of a converted or 
shared house (including bed-sits) 
13

 See Table 1 above 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 18 

highlighted as a problem by 69% of respondents to the area-wide consultation 
carried out over the summer of 2011 and the community holds that 
preservation or enhancement of the current stock of family housing is 
essential to a sustainable future for Devonshire Park, in order to encourage 
families into the Plan Area and preserve the residential family balance. 

 
7.6 The principle of re-introducing family housing into the Plan Area has been 

highlighted as desirable by the majority of respondents to the Residents’ 
Association questionnaire.  Re-use of existing buildings for family housing will 
help to restore the balance of households within Devonshire Park.  Some 
buildings have already been converted back from bed-sits to single family 
dwellings and this is to be encouraged. 

 
7.7 Part B of Policy 1 sets out the design principles necessary in order to restore 

and preserve the character of the Villa Estate. Planning applications will need 
to show how all future development will relate well with surrounding properties 
and to demonstrate that provision is made for preserving or enhancing the 
quality and setting of existing buildings of local character or historic and 
archaeological interest in accordance with the relevant adopted Development 
Plan policies for Wirral.  St Joseph's Church, a grade II listed building with 
distinctive early English-style exterior in ruabon red brick, terracotta 
dressings, lancet widows and arched braced roofs, together with high quality 
features and fittings throughout, is worthy of special protection in its own right. 

 
7.8 Developers will also be required to address other relevant adopted 

Development Plan policies for Wirral, along with any additional statutory 
responsibilities for the prevention of groundwater contamination and the 
appropriate management of surface water run-off. 

 
7.9 Development which may result in a likely significant effect on an 

internationally important site must be accompanied by sufficient evidence to 
enable the Council to make a Habitats Regulations Assessment. Adverse 
effects should be avoided, or where this is not possible they should be 
mitigated, to make sure that the integrity of internationally important sites is 
protected. Development which may adversely affect the integrity of 
internationally important sites will only be permitted where there are no 
alternative solutions and there are imperative reasons of overriding public 
interest, and where compensatory provision has been made. This also 
applies to sites and habitats outside the designated boundaries that support 
species listed as being important in the designations of the internationally 
important sites. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 19 

 

Devonshire Park Policy 2 – Controlling the Concentration of Multiple 
Occupation  
 
Applications for additional flats, maisonettes or apartments, including 
converted or shared houses, will only be permitted within the 
Neighbourhood Area where the following criteria are met: 
 
(1) a clear local need within Devonshire Park is demonstrated for 

small flatted accommodation and houses in multiple occupation 
where planning permission for a change of use is required; and 

 
(2) the proposals comply with the design criteria set out in Policy 1; 

and 
 
(3)  the development proposed would not detract from the unique 

character of the Villa Estate; and 
 
(4) the development proposed would not harm the living conditions 

for occupants of neighbouring properties. 

 
Policy Justification 

 
7.10 Residents are concerned to uphold the residential character and living 

environment of the Neighbourhood Plan Area. The use of properties for 
multiple occupancy, whether they are apartments or houses in multiple 
occupation, is significantly different to that of a family dwelling.  More 
intensive use and greater activity would be likely to increase the noise and 
disturbance for neighbouring occupiers. There are also concerns from 
residents and from Merseyside Police about community safety issues which 
may arise as a consequence of the further addition or change of use of 
housing to provide for houses in multiple occupation14. 

 
7.11 The community holds that the preservation and enhancement of the current 

stock of family housing is essential to a sustainable future for Devonshire 
Park, in order to encourage families into the Plan Area and preserve the 
residential family balance. 

 
7.12 The overall level of converted flats in Wirral is 4.3%15, whilst there are 220 

buildings converted into flats in Devonshire Park, representing over 33% of 
the total dwellings in the Plan Area16. 

                                                
14

 Uses falling within Use Class C4 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended) and sui generis uses for which no Use Class is specified 
15

 2011 Census, ONS, Table KS401EW - flat, maisonette or apartment; part of a converted or 
shared house (including bed-sits) 
16

 See Table 1 above 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 20 

 
7.13 Responses to the Residents’ Association questionnaire highlighted the 

problem of the high proportion of flat and bed-sit conversions, which have 
often resulted in detrimental impacts on the built environment and social 
character of the area.   

 
7.14 In physical terms, the conversion to flats has involved the demolition of front 

garden walls and the laying of tarmac across front gardens for off-road 
parking, with a consequent loss of mature trees and shrubs.  In social terms, 
the lack of interest shown by absentee landlords has resulted in poor property 
and garden maintenance, with for some properties a damaging effect on the 
quality of the landscape.   The Plan Area is predominantly residential and 
disturbance can also be caused by the behaviour of some, particularly short-
term residents, who tenant some of the flats and bed-sits. 

 
7.15 As there is already an apparent over-provision of this type of property within 

the Plan Area, compared to the Borough average, applicants will need to 
demonstrate that a clear local housing need exists within the Plan Area 
before any additional provision requiring planning permission will be 
approved. 

 
7.16 The Borough average for the provision of flats, maisonettes or apartments 

including converted or shared houses and houses of multiple occupation will 
be calculated from nationally published datasets for the Borough, such as the 
2011 Census (Table KS401EW or equivalent). 

 
7.17 The proportion of flats, maisonettes or apartments including converted or 

shared houses and houses of multiple occupation within the Plan Area, will be 
calculated from the Council’s Local Land and Property Gazetteer, 
supplemented by local survey information, where available.   

 
7.18 The figures in Table 1 above will be held to apply until equivalent alternative 

figures are made available. 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 21 

 

Devonshire Park Policy 3 – Controlling the Concentration of Residential 
Institutions and Hostels 
 
Applications for residential institutions or hostels will only be permitted 
within the Neighbourhood Area where the following criteria are met: 
 
(1) a clear local need within Devonshire Park is demonstrated for 

residential institutions and hostels falling within Use Class C2 
and C2A; and 

  
(2) the proposals comply with the design criteria set out in Policy 1; 

and 
   
(3) the development proposed would not detract from the unique 

character of the Villa Estate; and 
 
(4) the development proposed would not harm the living conditions 

for occupants of neighbouring properties, in particular by giving 
rise to noise and disturbance. 

 
Policy Justification 

 
7.19 A number of properties within the Plan Area are used by residential 

institutions or provide supported or sheltered accommodation.  Although the 
balance of uses has not yet significantly eroded the Area’s overall character, 
which remains that of a residential family area, there are concerns from 
residents about the further concentration of such properties within the Plan 
Area. 

 
7.20 The use of properties by a residential institution or for supported or sheltered 

accommodation is significantly different to that of a family dwelling.  More 
intensive use and greater activity would be likely to increase the noise and 
disturbance for neighbouring occupiers. There are also concerns from 
residents and from Merseyside Police about community safety issues which 
may arise as a consequence of the further addition or change of use of 
housing to provide for residential institutions or hostels17. 

 
7.21 The community holds that the preservation and enhancement of the current 

stock of family housing is essential to a sustainable future for Devonshire 
Park, in order to encourage families into the Plan Area and preserve the 
residential family balance.  Residential institutions or hostels requiring 
planning permission will therefore only be approved where it can be 
demonstrated that a clear local need exists within the Plan Area. 

                                                
17

 Uses falling within Use Classes C2 and C2A of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) and sui generis uses for which no Use Class is specified 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 22 

 
7.22 The definition of a residential institution or hostel will be the same as in the 

Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (SI 1987 No. 764, as 
amended). 

 
8.  Delivery, Monitoring and Review 

 
8.1 Once the Neighbourhood Plan has been ‘made’ by Wirral Council, the 

Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Development Plan will carry weight as part 
of the statutory Development Plan for Wirral and will provide additional local 
detail to be taken into consideration alongside other adopted policies. 

 
8.2 The Council will determine all planning applications, pre-application enquiries 

and other proposals in the light of the policies set out in the Devonshire Park 
Neighbourhood Development Plan alongside other relevant policies in the 
Wirral Unitary Development Plan and the Council’s emerging Core Strategy 
Local Plan. The Devonshire Park Residents’ Association and Neighbourhood 
Planning Forum will look to actively promote the delivery of the 
Neighbourhood Plan and apply the Neighbourhood Plan’s policies in its own 
decision making. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their 
applications how their proposals conform to the Neighbourhood Plan policies. 

 
8.3 Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum and Wirral Council will work 

together to monitor progress on the Neighbourhood Plan. They will bring 
forward proposals to review the Plan as necessary during the plan period 
following procedures for review as may be set out in Neighbourhood Planning 
Regulations applying at that time. The need for review, for example, will be 
considered once the Wirral Core Strategy Local Plan is adopted. 

 
9. Conclusions 
 
9.1 The Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Plan aims to achieve the objectives of 

the Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Planning Forum to preserve and 
enhance the character of Devonshire Park, which is one of the historic Villa 
Estates in Birkenhead.  These objectives have been formulated by 
engagement with the local community and reflect the objectives of the 
National Planning Policy Framework for Neighbourhood Plans. 

 
9.2 The Neighbourhood Plan is consistent with the policies of the Council’s 

Unitary Development Plan; particularly Policy HS4, which requires new 
housing development to comply with all of its policies, including that the 
proposal does not result in a detrimental change in the character of the area; 
and with the Vision, Objectives, Broad Spatial Strategy and local priorities of 
the Council’s emerging Core Strategy Local Plan, including Proposed 
Submission Draft Policy CS21 – Criteria for New Housing Development. 

 
9.3 The accompanying Sustainability Assessment Report shows that the 

Neighbourhood Plan would support sustainable development by continuing to 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 23 

provide for the beneficial use of land and property while promoting a more 
balanced population structure, without causing significant harm to other local 
objectives.   

 
9.4 The Neighbourhood Plan is particularly likely to have a positive impact on 

environmental protection and enhancement and on quality of life and on the 
character of the Plan Area, by introducing additional controls on certain forms 
of higher density residential development, which have often resulted in 
increased disturbance and detrimental impacts on the built environment of the 
Villa Estate.   

 
9.5 The accompanying Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening Report 

indicates that the Neighbourhood Plan is not likely to have significant 
environmental effects and the accompanying Habitats Regulations 
Assessment Report indicates that the Plan is not likely to have a significant 
effect on any European Site.     

 
9.6 The Neighbourhood Plan is compatible with the European Convention on 

Human Rights and complies with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 
and the prescribed conditions of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 201218.   

 

                                                
18

 Statutory Instrument 2012 No. 637 (in force from 6 April 2012, as amended) 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[blank for copying] 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1 - Neighbourhood Plan Area 
 
 
 



Figure 1 - Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Plan Area

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey Licence 100019803. You are not
permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2 – Wider Context  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Figure 2 - Wider Context

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey Licence 100019803. You are not
permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 29 

Appendix – Devonshire Park Residents Association Goals and Objectives 
 
Devonshire Park Residents Association Goal: 
 
“Preserving the unique environmental character and heritage of Devonshire Park and 
promoting the sustainable balance of community.” 
 
The Residents Association has six objectives: - 
 
1. To create and sustain a stable and supportive community consistent with 

national norms in terms of modes of occupation of properties to preserve the 
character of the area; working together, to ensure developments are 
compatible with the historical nature and ambience of the estate. 

 
2. To pursue as a matter of first priority the interests of those residents with a 

long-term investment in the community but also to give transient and temporary 
residents a stake in the maintenance of standards of good neighbourliness, 
care for properties and respect for the environment in general. 

 
3. To engender a meaningful community spirit and supplement the valued efforts 

of the Local Authority and the professional support services on a voluntary 
basis by: 

 

• establishing points of contact and support for the vulnerable, isolated and 
lonely; 

• preventing crime and providing support for those in fear of crime and anti-
social behaviour; 

• fostering, through community activity, a sense of involvement for the 
disengaged and disaffected – in particular young residents; 

• producing information on matters relevant to the community on a regular 
and accessible basis; 

• actively fostering pride in the cleanliness, maintenance and appearance of 
all of the public and private areas of the Estate and in standards of 
behaviour in and around the area; and 

• co-ordinating, harnessing and maximising the capacity of people in the 
community to improve the lives of fellow residents. 

 
4. To maintain the diverse nature of our community, within Devonshire Park we 

will seek to preserve or enhance our: 
 

• 2 centres of religion 

• social care housing (from nursing to outreach) 

• homes with from 1 to 8 bedrooms 

• a convent 

• small business 

• a medical centre 

• properties aged from 20 to 150 years old 



 
 
 
 
 
 
DEVONSHIRE PARK NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CABINET 5 
NOVEMBER 2015 
 
 

 30 

5. To contribute to the wellbeing of Wirral as a whole by establishing modes of 
local co-operation that may be successfully copied elsewhere. 

 
6. To conserve and enhance the fabric and architectural features that combine to 

provide Devonshire Park with its unique aesthetic and social character. 
 
The Residents’ Association continues to develop ties with other bodies within the 
wider area and further a-field.  Close contact has been developed with other 
Associations within the wider area to assist with their own issues and the Residents’ 
Association was identified by CLG as a national ‘Front Runner’ for the 
implementation of the Localism Bill, to help local communities, local authorities and 
the Government gain insight into how neighbourhood planning was to work in 
practice. 
 
Through the powerful medium of the Residents’ Association, Devonshire Park 
residents have also formed a strong partnership with local agencies and services. 
 
The Residents’ Association has a designated Community Safety Officer and has 
nurtured a positive relationship with the local police team. 
 
Most residents believe that Devonshire Park is a relatively safe place to live, due 
mainly to the residential family balance of the area and a relatively settled population. 
 
In recent years, the Devonshire Park Community Safety Officer has worked closely 
with the Police Community Support Officers, to allay residents’ anxiety and fear in 
relation to crime and incidents that at times have occurred.  Every effort has been 
made to assist with the needs of vulnerable members of the community.  Residents 
and Police make a connection between levels of crime and flats/bed-sits, a link 
verified by Home Office statistics. 
 



MINUTE EXTRACT:

LICENSING ACT 2003 COMMITTEE

28 OCTOBER 2015

11 DRAFT STATEMENT OF POLICY UNDER THE GAMBLING ACT 2005 

The Strategic Director of Regeneration and Environment sought Members’ approval of the 
Draft Statement of Policy under The Gambling Act 2005 in order that it may be presented to 
Council for approval on 14 December 2015.

The Licensing Manager reported that The Gambling Act 2005 required the Council to 
prepare and publish a Statement of the principles to be applied when exercising its functions 
under this Act and that it was a requirement this policy document be reviewed every three 
years.  Members were informed that as this Policy had first been published in December 
2006 it must now be reviewed and published no later than December 2015.

The Licensing Manager advised that the draft Statement of Policy which had been agreed on 
7 July 2015 had been circulated for consultation to a number of consultees and had also 
been publicised on the Council’s website during the period 13 July to 13 October 2015 and 
that one comment had been received from Public Health who suggested that paragraph 8.4 
of the Policy be amended as outlined within the report.

The Licensing Manager responded to a number of questions from Members and confirmed 
that some of the wording within the Policy had been taken directly from The Gambling Act 
2005 and therefore could not be amended.

Councillor D Realey expressed her concerns in respect of the reference to New Brighton 
within the Policy and proposed that this be removed.  After taking this proposal to the vote 
no other Members wished that the reference to New Brighton be removed.

In response to further questions from Members, the Licensing Manager confirmed that any 
objection from a religious group would likely be in respect of the impact of gambling on 
young people.  Queries were also raised in respect of bingo and the Licensing Manager 
advised that individual circumstances would need to be taken into account when considering 
whether this activity would need to be licensed as separate Guidance was available in 
relation to bingos.

It was moved by Councillor S Niblock and seconded by Councillor A Hodson that – 

“(1) The Draft Statement of Principles be amended in accordance with the suggestion 
from Public Health.

(2) That the Draft Statement of Policy, subject to the amendment, be recommended for 
approval by Council on 14 December 2015.”

Resolved – 

(1) The Draft Statement of Principles be amended in accordance with the 
suggestion from Public Health.



(2) That the Draft Statement of Policy, subject to the amendment, be 
recommended for approval by Council on 14 December 2015.



 

     

DRAFT

Statement of Policy

Gambling Act 2005

December 2015

Wirral Licensing Authority
Town Hall
Brighton Street
Wallasey
CH44 8ED

0151 691 8043



ii



iii

Table of Contents
Item Page No.

The Licensing Objectives 1
Introduction 2-4
Declaration 4
Responsible Authorities 4-5
Interested Parties 5-6
Exchange of Information 6-7
Enforcement 7-9
Licensing Authority Functions 9
Allocation of Decision Making Responsibilities 9-10
Premises Licences 10-13
Location 14
Planning and Building Control 14
Duplication with other regulatory regimes 14
Licensing Objectives 15-16
Conditions 16-18
Door Supervisors 18
Adult Gaming Centres 18-19
Licensed Family Entertainment Centres 19
Casinos 20
Bingo Premises 20
Bingo in Clubs and Alcohol Licensed Premises 20-21
Betting Premises 21
Travelling Fairs 22
Provisional Statements 22-23
Reviews 23-25
Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 26-27
Premises Licensed to Sell Alcohol 27-28
Prize Gaming Permits 28-29
Application for Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 29-33
Temporary Use Notices 33-34
Occasional Use Notices 34

APPENDICES

Appendix A - Scheme of Delegation
Appendix B – Consultees
Appendix C – Responsible Authorities



iv



1

The Licensing Objectives

In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, (The Act) Wirral 
Borough Council as the Licensing Authority must have regard to the following 
Licensing Objectives:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being 
associated with crime and disorder or being used to support crime

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The requirement in 
relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling”.

This Licensing Authority is aware that in accordance with Section 153 of the 
Gambling Act 2005, in making decisions about premises licences and temporary use 
notices it should aim to permit the use of premises so far as it thinks it is:

 In accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 In accordance with any relevant Guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 Reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives in accordance with the 
Licensing Authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy.



2

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Wirral Borough Council is situated in the County of Merseyside, which 
contains no district Councils, but 5 metropolitan councils: Knowsley, Liverpool, 
Sefton, St Helens and Wirral.  The Council area has a population of 319,800 
(ONS 2010 midyear population estimates) making it the second largest after 
Liverpool in the County in terms of population.  In terms of area it is the largest 
in Merseyside, covering 60.1 square miles.  The Borough is mainly urban in 
outlook, with 32.85 square miles (54.66% of the borough) covered in 
Residential, Industrial or Commercial buildings.

The key provided identifies the urban / rural areas as well as regeneration 
priority areas.



3

1.2 Licensing Authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 
statement of the principles which they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  The 
statement must also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts 
re-consulted upon.  The statement must then be re-published.

1.3 The Gambling Act 2005 requires that the following parties are consulted by 
Licensing Authorities:

 The Chief Officer of Police

 One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the 
interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Authority’s 
area

 One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the 
Authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005

1.4 A list of the persons that the Council sent this document to for consultation is 
illustrated at Appendix B.

1.5 The draft was also circulated to consultees and additional copies were 
available on our web site www.wirral.gov.uk as well as at the Town Hall, 
Brighton Street, Wallasey, Wirral, CH44 8ED.

1.6 Consultees were advised to send any comments to:

Wirral Licensing Authority
Town Hall
Brighton Street
Wallasey
Wirral
CH44 8ED

Email: licensing@wirral.gov.uk

Fax: 0151 691 8215

The closing date for comments on the draft policy statement was 13 October 
2015.

1.7 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any 
person to make an application, make representations about an application, or 
apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits 
and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.  

1.8 In determining this policy, the Licensing Authority has had regard to the 
‘Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities’ issued by the Gambling 

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/


4

Commission.  In determining what weight to give to particular representations, 
the factors to be taken into account will include:

 who is making the representations (what is their interest or expertise)

 relevance of the factors to the Licensing Objectives

 how many other people have expressed the same or similar views

 how far the representations relate to matters that the Licensing 
Authority should be including in its policy statement.

2.0 Declaration

2.1 In producing the final statement, this Licensing Authority has had regard to the 
Licensing Objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission, the Licensing Conditions and Codes of Practice and 
any responses from those consulted on the statement.

3.0 Responsible Authorities

3.1 The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 
writing, a body which is competent to advise the Authority about the protection 
of children from harm.  The principles are:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of 
the Licensing Authority’s area

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group

3.2 In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
for Local Authorities, this Authority designates the Wirral Safeguarding 
Children Board for this purpose as a Responsible Authority.

3.3 Safeguarding children is a key priority for Wirral Council, and the Licensing 
Authority expects all licensees to have strict control measures in place to 
mitigate any risks to underage gambling.  The Licensing Authority will consult 
with the Safeguarding Children Board in the development of our local area 
profile. 

3.4 The Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 are:

 Licensing, Wirral Borough Council

 The Gambling Commission

 The Chief Constable, Merseyside Police



5

 Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority

 Planning, Wirral Borough Council 

 Environmental Health, Wirral Borough Council

 Wirral Safeguarding Children Board

 H.M. Revenue & Customs (HMRC)

Subject to any other person being prescribed in Regulations by the Secretary
of State. The contact addresses for these Authorities are illustrated at
Appendix C. 

4.0 Interested Parties

4.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or 
apply for a review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

 “For the purposes of this Part a person is an Interested Party in relation to an 
application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the 
Licensing Authority which issues the licence or to which the application is 
made, the person-

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the
authorised activities

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)

4.2 The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles we 
will apply in exercising our powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an Interested Party.  

4.3 When determining what ‘significantly close to the premises’ means the 
Licensing Authority will take into account:

  the size of the premises
  the nature of the premises
  the distance of the premises from the location of the person making the

 representation
 the potential impact of the premises such as the number of customers, 

routes likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment
 the circumstances of the person who lives close to the premises. This is 

not the personal characteristics of the complainant, but their interests 
which may be relevant to the distance from the premises



6

The Licensing Authority may determine that ‘sufficiently close to be likely to be 
affected’ could have a different meaning for (a) a private resident, (b) a 
residential school for children with truanting problems, and (c) a residential 
hostel for vulnerable adults.

4.4 In determining whether there is a business interest the Licensing Authority will 
take into consideration the size of the premises, the catchment area of the 
premises and whether the person making the representation has a business 
interest in that catchment area that could be affected.  The nature and scope 
of business interest that could be affected will also be taken into consideration.

4.5 In considering whether there is a business interest the Licensing Authority will 
consider business interests in its widest possible interpretation, to include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices.

4.6 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as 
Councillors, M.P.’s etc. No specific evidence of being asked to represent an 
interested party will be required as long as the Councillor / M.P. etc. 
represents the Ward likely to be affected. Save for democratically elected 
persons, other representations may include bodies such as trade associations 
and trade unions, and residents’ and tenants’ associations.  A School Head or 
Governor might act in representing the interests of pupils or parents and a 
community group might represent vulnerable people living near to the 
premises.  This Authority will generally require written evidence that a 
person/body (e.g. an advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who either 
lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities and/or has business interests that might be affected by 
the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons, requesting the 
representation is sufficient.

4.7 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views 
then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the Licensing 
Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are any doubts then 
please contact the Licensing Department at the Town Hall, Brighton Street, 
Wallasey, CH44 8ED or email licensing@wirral.gov.uk. 
 

5.0 Exchange of Information

5.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that shared regulation depends on 
effective partnership and collaborations. The exchange of information between 
the Commission and Licensing Authorities is an important aspect of that and 
to the benefit of both. Licensing Authorities play a particular role in sharing 
information about gambling activity at a local level, which is important for the 
Commission’s overarching view of gambling activity, not least because that 
enables the Commission to identify risks and feed information and intelligence 
back to licensing authorities. It also enables the Commission to fulfil its duty to 
advise the Secretary of State about the incidence of gambling and the manner 
in which it is conducted.  



7

Section 29 of The Gambling Act 2005 enables the Commission to require 
information from Licensing Authorities, including the manner in which the 
information is compiled, collated and the form in which it is provided, providing 
that it: 

 forms part of a register maintained under the Act 

 is in the possession of the Licensing Authority in connection with a 
provision of the Act.

5.2 This Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the 
Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the provision 
that the Data Protection Act 1998 will not be contravened.  We will also have 
regard to any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to Local 
Authorities on this matter, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the 
Secretary of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.  

5.3 Section 350 of The Gambling Act 2005 allows Licensing Authorities to 
exchange information with other persons or bodies for use in the exercise of 
functions under the Act. Those persons or bodies are listed in Schedule 6(1) 
as: 

 a Constable or Police Force 
 an Enforcement Officer 
 a Licensing Authority 
 HMRC 
 the First Tier Tribunal 
 the Secretary of State 
 Scottish Ministers. 

5.4 As a Licensing Authority we will maintain data on Premises Licences. As part 
of the application process for a premises licence, applicants will forward notice 
of the application to the Commission, and we will subsequently notify the 
Commission of the outcome of each application, whether it is granted or 
refused. The Act also requires Licensing Authorities to notify the Commission 
of other matters such as when a licence has lapsed or been surrendered, and 
the cancellation of certain permits and registrations. Under s.29 of the Act, the 
Commission has identified further information requirements that it is necessary 
for Licensing Authorities to provide, which form part of the Licensing Authority 
Return in the Single Data List.

5.5 Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with 
other bodies then they will be made available.

6.0 Enforcement 

6.1 Licensing Authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 
to state the principles to be applied by the Authority in exercising the functions 
under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the 



8

powers under Section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in 
respect of the offences specified.

6.2 This Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities and will apply the principles of 
good regulation in accordance with the principles of better regulation and the 
Regulators’ Code.  This means that inspections and enforcement activities will 
be undertaken in accordance with the following principles:

 Proportionate: We will only intervene when necessary:  remedies will be 
appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised

 Accountable:  We will justify our decisions and be subject to public scrutiny

 Consistent:  Rules and standards will be joined up and implemented fairly

 Transparent:  We will be open and transparent and keep regulations simple 
and user friendly

 Targeted:  Regulation will be focused on the problem, and minimise side 
effects 

6.3 In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities 
this Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other 
regulatory regimes so far as possible.  

6.4 This Licensing Authority is developing a risk-based inspection programme, 
which will target high risk premises which require greater attention and will 
operate a lighter touch in respect of low risk premises.  The criteria the 
Licensing Authority will use to determine the level of risk will include;

 The Licensing Objectives
 Relevant Codes of Practice
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36
 The principles set out in this statement of Licensing Policy
 The Local Area Profile of Wirral

6.5 The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in 
terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the 
premises licences and other permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling 
Commission will be the Enforcement Body for operating and personal 
licences.  Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines 
will not be dealt with by the Licensing Authority but will be notified to the 
Gambling Commission.  

6.6 Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this Licensing Authority’s 
enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon 
request at the Licensing Department, Town Hall, Brighton Street, Wallasey 
CH44 8ED and on the Council Website – www.wirral.gov.uk.



9

6.7 In accordance with the Regulators Code this Licensing Authority has produced 
an Enforcement Policy which is available upon request at the Licensing 
Department, Town Hall, Brighton Street, Wallasey CH44 8ED and on the 
Council Website – www.wirral.gov.uk.

7.0 Licensing Authority Functions

7.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to 
take place by issuing Premises Licences

 
 Issue Provisional Statements

 Regulate Members’ Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes who wish to 
undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or 
Club Machine Permits

 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs

 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres

 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 
2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines

 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines

 Register Small Society Lotteries below prescribed thresholds

 Issue Prize Gaming Permits

 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices 

 Receive Occasional Use Notices 

 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 
issued

 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 
functions

8.0 Allocation of Decision Making Responsibilities

8.1 The Licensing Authority is involved in a wide range of licensing 
decisions and functions which will be administered by the Licensing Act 
2003 Committee and Sub-Committees thereof.



10

8.2 Many of the decisions and functions will be purely administrative in nature and 
the grant of non-contentious applications, including for example, those 
licences and permits where no representations have been made, is delegated 
to Council Officers.

8.3 The table shown at Appendix A sets out the agreed delegation of decisions 
and functions to the Licensing Act 2003 Committee, Sub-Committees and 
Officers.  This form of delegation is without prejudice to an Officer referring an 
application to a Sub-Committee, a full Committee, or to full Council, if 
considered appropriate in the circumstances of any particular case.

8.4 The Licensing Authority’s decision making process will be informed by the 
local area profile and will have particular regard to the proximity of gambling 
premises to schools, vulnerable adult centres, residential areas where there is 
a high concentration of families with children and areas of the Borough that 
are particularly attractive to children such as New Brighton.

8.5 Each application will be decided on it merits taking into consideration how the 
applicant can demonstrate that they can overcome concerns that the 
Licensing Objectives may not be met.

9.0 Premises Licences

General Principles

9.1 Premises Licences are subject to the requirements set-out in the Gambling Act 
2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions 
which are detailed in Regulations issued by the Secretary of State.

9.2 The Licensing Authority are able to exclude default conditions and also attach 
other conditions, where we believe it to be appropriate.

9.3 This Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about premises 
licences we should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as 
we think it is:

 In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 In accordance with any relevant Guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 Reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives 

 In accordance with this Statement of Licensing Policy

The Licensing Authority will not take into consideration whether there is 
demand for a particular gambling premises when making it’s decision.



11

9.4 It is appreciated that gambling can be an emotive subject but acknowledge 
that in accordance with Gambling Commission Guidance for Local Authorities, 
“moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for 
premises licences”. 

9.5 Representations made in respect of applications should be based on the 
Licensing Objectives as set out at Page 1 of this Policy.  It is important to note 
that the Licensing Objectives are different to those set out in The Licensing Act 
2003 and do not include the prevention of public nuisance or public safety.

9.6 Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”.  Different premises licences 
cannot apply in respect of a single premises at different times. It is however 
possible for a single building to be subject to more than one premises licence, 
providing that each licence is for a different part of the building and such 
different parts can be properly regarded as different premises.

9.7 The Licensing Authority will judge each case on its individual merits to decide 
as a matter of fact, whether different parts of a building can be properly 
regarded as being separate premises.

9.8 The Gambling Commission, in their guidance, do not consider that areas of a 
building that are artificially or temporarily separate for examples by ropes or 
movable partitions, can be properly regarded as different premises.  This 
Licensing Authority supports this view.

9.9 The location of the premises will clearly be an important consideration and a 
significant factor that the Licensing Authority will consider is whether the 
premises are genuinely separate premises that merit their own licence and are 
not artificially created part of what is readily identifiable as a single premises.   
The suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for discussion between the 
operator and the Licensing Officer.  As stated above areas of a building that 
are artificially or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable 
partitions, will not properly be regarded as different premises.

9.10 The Licensing Authority make particular note of the Gambling Commission’s 
“Guidance to Licensing Authorities” which states that: Licensing Authorities 
should take particular care in considering applications for multiple licences for 
a building and those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other 
(non-gambling) purposes.  In particular they should be aware of the following:

 The third Licensing Objective seeks to protect children from being harmed 
by gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking 
part in gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to 
gambling.  Therefore premises should be configured so that children are 
not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe 
gambling where they are prohibited from participating.

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not 
‘drift’ into a gambling area.  In this context it should normally be possible to 



12

access the premises without going through another licensed premises or 
premises without a permit.

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 
premises licence.

9.11 In determining whether premises are truly separate the Licensing Authority will 
consider the following factors:

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?
 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or 

someone else?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 

passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises?

9.12 An issue that may arise when division of a premises is being considered is the 
nature of the unlicensed area from which a customer may access a licensed 
gambling premises. The precise nature of this public area will depend on the 
location and nature of the premises. As a Licensing Authority we will need to 
consider whether the effect of any division is to create a machine shed-type 
environment with very large banks of machines, which is not the intention of 
the access conditions, or whether it creates a public environment with 
gambling facilities being made available. 

9.13 The Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default Conditions) Regulations 9 
sets out the access provisions for each type of premises. The broad principle 
is that there can be no access from one licensed gambling premises to 
another, except between premises which allow access to those under the age 
of 18 years and with the further exception that licensed betting premises may 
be accessed from other licensed betting premises. Under-18s can go into 
Family Entertainment Centres (FEC), tracks, pubs and some bingo clubs, so 
access is allowed between these types of premises.

9.14 The relevant access provisions for each premises type is as follows:

Type of Premises Access Provisions
Casinos  the principal entrance to the premises must 

be from a ‘street’ 
 no entrance to a casino must be from 

premises that are used wholly or mainly by 
children and/or young persons 

 no customer must be able to enter a casino 
directly from any other premises which holds 
a gambling premises licence.

Adult Gaming 
Centres (AGC)

 no customer must be able to access the 
premises directly from any other licensed 
gambling premises

Betting Shops  access must be from a ‘street’ or from other 
premises with a betting premises licence 



13

 no direct access from a betting shop to 
another premises used for the retail sale of 
merchandise or services. In effect there 
cannot be an entrance to a betting shop from 
a shop of any kind unless that shop is itself a 
licensed betting premises.

Tracks  no customer must be able to access the 
premises directly from a casino or AGC

Bingo Premises  no customer must be able to access the 
premises directly from a casino, an AGC or a 
betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment 
Centres

 no customer must be able to access the 
premises directly from a casino, an AGC or a 
betting premises, other than a track.

9.15 This Authority will consider the above requirement and other relevant 
factors in making its decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.

10.0 Premises “ready for gambling”

10.1 The Guidance states that a Licence to use premises for gambling should only 
be issued in relation to premises that the Licensing Authority can be satisfied 
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the 
premises are brought into use. 

10.2 If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, 
or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an 
application for a provisional statement should be made.

10.3 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this Authority will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration 
process:-

 First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling 
 Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to 
be before gambling takes place

10.4 Applicants should note that this Authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to 
grant such a licence. 



14

11.0 Location

11.1 This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered in 
relation to the location of premises but that considerations made in terms of 
the Licensing Objectives can be considered.

11.2 The Licensing Authority, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
“Guidance for Local Authorities”, will pay particular attention to the protection 
of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder.

11.3 This Authority has not adopted any specific policy in relation to areas where 
gambling premises should not be located. Should any such policy be decided 
upon regarding such areas where gambling premises should not be located, 
this policy statement will be updated.

11.4 It should be noted that any such future policy will not preclude any application 
being made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus 
upon the applicant showing how any potential concerns can be overcome.

12.0 Planning and Building Control

12.1 In determining applications the Licensing Authority will undertake its duty to 
take into consideration all relevant matters and not to take into consideration 
any irrelevant matters, in effect those not related to gambling and the 
Licensing Objectives. One example of an irrelevant matter would be the 
likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building 
regulations approval for their proposal. 

12.2 When dealing with a Premises Licence application for finished buildings, the 
Licensing Authority will not take into account whether those buildings have or 
comply with the necessary planning or building consents. Nor will fire or health 
and safety risks be taken into account.  Those matters should be dealt with 
under relevant Planning and Building Control and other regulations, and will 
not form part of the consideration for the Premises Licence.  Section 210 of 
the 2005 Act prevents Licensing Authorities taking into account the likelihood 
of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or building consent when 
considering a premises licence application.  Equally the grant of a gambling 
premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be 
appropriate under the law relating to Planning or Building Control.

13.0 Duplication with other Regulatory Regimes

13.1 This Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory / 
regulatory systems where possible, including planning.  This Authority will not 
consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval, in its consideration of it.  It will 
though, listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which 
are not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a 
situation arise.



15

14.0 Licensing Objectives 

14.1 Premises Licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the Licensing 
Objectives.  With regard to these Objectives, this Licensing Authority has 
considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities and 
some comments are made below.

14.2 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime.
This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a 
leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime. The 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance does however envisage that the Licensing 
Authority should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this Licensing Objective.  Therefore, where an area has known 
high levels of organised crime, we will consider carefully whether gambling 
premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions may be 
suitable, such as, the provision of door supervisors.  Responsible Authorities 
would however have the right to make representation with regard to such 
premises.

14.3 The Licensing Authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and 
nuisance and will consider factors such as whether Police assistance was 
required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it, so 
as to make that distinction. It should be noted that prevention of nuisance is 
not a Gambling Act Licensing Objective.

14.4 In considering licence applications, the Licensing Authority will particularly 
take into account the following:

 The design and layout of the premises

 The training given to staff in crime prevention measures appropriate to those 
premises

 Physical security features installed in the premises.  This may include matters 
such as the position of cash registers or the standard of CCTV that is installed

 Where premises are subject to age-restrictions, the procedures in place to 
conduct age verification checks

 The likelihood of any violence, public order or policing problem if the licence is 
granted

14.5 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.
This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission has stated 
that it would generally not expect Licensing Authorities to become concerned 
with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be 
addressed by the operator and personal licensing system. 



16

14.6 Should this Licensing Authority suspect that gambling is not being conducted 
in a fair and open way this will be brought to the attention of the Gambling 
Commission.

14.7 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.

14.8 The Licensing Authority will have particular regard to whether staff are able to 
adequately supervise premises to prevent underage gambling.  

14.9 Appropriate measures may include supervision of access points, segregation 
of areas, CCTV, the use of floor walkers, the position of counters etc. 

If the operator fails to satisfy this Licensing Authority that the risks to 
underage gambling are sufficiently mitigated, it may be appropriate for us to 
conduct a review of the Premises Licence.

14.10 In reference to the term “vulnerable persons” we note that the Gambling 
Commission or statute law does not seek to offer a definition but the 
Commission states that “it will for regulatory purposes assume that this group 
includes:

 People who gamble more than they want to

 People who gamble beyond their means

 People who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs”.

14.11 This Licensing Authority will consider promotion of this Licensing Objective on 
a common sense, case by case basis. This Licensing Authority will interpret 
vulnerable persons in its widest possible concept and does not limit the 
definition to individuals who participate in gambling but recognises that it may 
include individuals who are affected by those who gamble, for example, 
children of adults who gamble beyond their means.  This will be reflected in 
the local area profile and will be balanced with the legal requirement to aim to 
permit the use of premises for gambling.  Whilst there is a presumption in 
favour of permitting the relevant premises to be used for gambling, this 
Licensing Authority may not do so unless satisfied that such use would be in 
accordance with the Guidance to Licensing Authorities, any relevant 
Commission Code of Practice, its own statement of Licensing Policy, and the 
Licensing Objectives.  Should a practical definition prove possible in future 
then this policy statement will be updated with it, by way of a revision.

15.0 Conditions

15.1 Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:

 Relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
facility



17

 Directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for

 Fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises

 Reasonable in all other respects 

15.2 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will 
consider utilising, should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc.  There are specific 
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below.  This 
Licensing Authority will also expect the Licence Applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to ways in which the Licensing Objectives can be met 
effectively.

15.3 This Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be 
required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such 
measures may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling 
from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of 
gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue 
the Licensing Objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance.

15.4 This Authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are 
on offer in premises to which children are admitted:

 All such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance

 Only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located

 Access to the area where the machines are located is supervised

 The area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by the staff or the licence holder

 At the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18

15.5 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable.

15.6 It is noted that there are conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot 
attach to Premises Licences, they are

 Any condition on the Premises Licence which makes it impossible to comply 
with an Operating Licence condition

 



18

 Conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation

 Conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required. (The 
Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for 
casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated)

 Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes

16.0 Door Supervisors

16.1 The Gambling Commission advises in its “Guidance to Licensing Authorities” 
that if a Licensing Authority is concerned that a premises may attract disorder 
or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example by children and 
young persons) then it may require that the entrances to the premises are 
controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a premises licence 
condition to this effect. 

16.2 Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for 
particular cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or 
not will be necessary.  It will not be automatically assumed that they need to 
be licensed, as the statutory requirements for different types of premises vary 
(as per the Guidance, Part 33).

17.0 Adult Gaming Centres

17.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect an applicant to satisfy the Authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that persons under the age of 18 do not have access to 
the premises.  

17.2 This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the Licensing Objectives, appropriate measures or licence conditions 
may cover issues such as:

 Proof of age schemes

 CCTV

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas

 Physical separation of areas

 Location of entry

 Notices/signage

 Specific opening hours



19

 Self-exclusion schemes

 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of 
example measures.

18.0 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres

18.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the Authority, for example, that there 
will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machine areas.  

18.2 This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the Licensing Objectives, appropriate measures / licence conditions may 
cover issues such as:

 CCTV

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas

 Physical separation of areas

 Location of entry

 Notices / signage

 Specific opening hours

 Self-exclusion schemes

 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare.

 Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

18.3 This Licensing Authority will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
guidance, refer to the Commission to see any conditions that apply to 
Operating Licences covering the way in which the area containing the 
category C machines should be delineated.  This Licensing Authority will also 
make itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions on these premises 
licences as well as the requirements under the Social Responsibility Code.



20

19.0 Casinos

19.1 No Casinos resolution - This Licensing Authority has not passed a ‘no 
casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware 
that it has the power to do so.   Should this Licensing Authority decide in the 
future to pass such a resolution, it will update this policy statement with details 
of that resolution.  Any such decision will be made by the Full Council.  

20.0 Bingo Premises

20.1 This Licensing Authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
states:

18.5 Licensing Authorities will need to satisfy themselves that Bingo can be 
played in any bingo premises for which they issue a Premises Licence. This 
will be a relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo 
premises applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing 
premises from its ambit and then applies for a new premises licence, or 
multiple licences, for that or those excluded areas. 

20.2 Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however they are 
not permitted to participate in the Bingo and if category B or C machines are 
made available for use these must be separated from areas where children 
and young people are allowed. 

20.3 If the Licensing Authority receives an application to vary a Premises Licence 
for bingo or betting in order to extend the opening hours, the Authority will 
need to satisfy itself that the reason for the application is in line with the 
requirements on primary gambling activity (i.e. the need for operating licence 
holders to ensure that the gambling activity appropriate to the licence type 
(‘the primary activity’ or ‘the principal activity’) is actually offered at those 
premises and not replaced by the making available of gaming machines).  
Therefore, the applicant should be able to demonstrate that the extension of 
the opening hours is not designed solely to benefit from the machine 
entitlement and activity which is ancillary to the primary activity of the 
premises, namely betting or bingo.

21.0 Bingo in Clubs and Alcohol Licensed Premises

21.1 Bingo will be permitted on Alcohol Licensed Premises, and in Clubs and 
Miners’ Welfare Institutes, under the allowances for exempt gaming in Part 12 
of the Act.  Where the level of Bingo played in these premises, under the 
exempt gaming allowances, reaches a certain threshold, it will no longer be 
authorised by these allowances, and a Bingo Operating Licence will have to 
be obtained from the Commission for future Bingo games.  The aim of these 
provisions is to prevent Bingo becoming a predominant commercial activity on 
such non-gambling premises.

21.2 The threshold is that if the bingo played during any seven-day period exceeds 
£2,000 (either in money taken or prizes awarded) once a year, referred to as 



21

“high turnover Bingo”.  There is a legal duty on the licensee or club to inform 
the Commission if at any point its bingo in any seven-day period exceeds this 
threshold.  That allows the Commission to monitor the bingo activity on the 
premises, and discuss with the relevant licensee or club the point at which a 
Bingo Operating Licence may be needed.  A ‘high turnover period’ begins with 
the first day of the seven day period in which the threshold was exceeded and 
lasts for a year.  If a second period of high turnover Bingo occurs within that 
year, a Bingo Operating Licence will be required.  Where bingo is played in a 
Members Club under a Bingo Operating Licence no premises licence will be 
required.

21.3 The Commission will be informed if it comes to the attention of this Licensing 
Authority that alcohol-licensed premises or clubs or institutes are playing bingo 
during the course of a week which involves significant stakes and prizes, 
which makes it possible that the £2,000 in seven days is being exceeded.

22.0 Betting Premises

22.1 Betting machines This Licensing Authority will, in accordance with the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, 
the number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, 
and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and 
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable 
people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer.

22.2 It is not permissible for an operator to offer gaming machines on a premises 
which is licensed for non-remote betting but not to offer sufficient facilities for 
non-remote betting. A non-remote betting operating licence authorises its 
holder to ‘provide facilities for betting’ (s.65(2)(c) of the Act). Likewise, a 
betting premises licence authorises premises to be used for ‘the provision of 
facilities for betting…’ (s.150(1)(e) of the Act). The ability to make up to four 
gaming machines, within categories B2 – D, available is an additional 
authorisation conferred upon the holder of a betting premises licence (s.172(8) 
of the Act); it is not a free standing right to make gaming machines available 
for use. It follows that unless a betting premises operator offers sufficient 
facilities for betting it should not be making gaming machines available on the 
premises in question. 

22.3 This Licensing Authority supports the Commission’s view that it is also 
important, in relation to the licensing objective of protecting vulnerable persons 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling, that customers should be offered 
a balanced mix of betting and gaming machines in licensed betting premises. 

22.4 Accordingly, an Operating Licence condition provides that gaming machines 
may be made available for use in Licensed Betting Premises only at times 
when there are also sufficient facilities for betting available. In this respect, 
such facilities must include information that enables customers to access 
details of events on which bets can be made, make such bets, learn of the 
outcome and collect any winnings.



22

23.0 Travelling Fairs

23.1 This Licensing Authority is responsible for deciding whether, where category D 
machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities 
for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is 
met.

23.2 This Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair.

23.3 It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used 
as a fair, is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which 
the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling 
fairs occupying the land.  This Licensing Authority will work with its 
neighbouring Authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is 
monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

24.0 Provisional Statements

24.1 Developers may wish to apply to this Authority for Provisional Statements 
before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge 
whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a 
Premises Licence. There is no need for the applicant to hold an Operating 
Licence in order to apply for a provisional statement. 

24.2 Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application 
to the Licensing Authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises 
that he or she:

 expects to be constructed;
 expects to be altered; or
 expects to acquire a right to occupy.

24.3 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the 
same as that for a Premises Licence application. The applicant is obliged to 
give notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises 
licence. Responsible Authorities and interested parties may make 
representations and there are rights of appeal. 

24.4 In contrast to the Premises Licence application, the applicant does not have to 
hold or have applied for an Operating Licence from the Gambling Commission 
(except in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy 
the premises in respect of which their Provisional application is made. 

24.5 The holder of a Provisional Statement may then apply for a Premises Licence 
once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The Licensing 
Authority will be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining 
the Premises Licence application, and in terms of representations about 



23

Premises Licence applications that follow the grant of a Provisional Statement, 
no further representations from relevant Authorities or interested parties can 
be taken into account unless:

 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the 
provisional statement stage, or

 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  

24.6 In addition, the Authority may refuse the Premises Licence (or grant it on 
terms different to those attached to the Provisional Statement) only by 
reference to matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the Provisional 
Statement stage; 

 which in the Authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances; or

 where the Premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application. This must be a substantial change to the 
plan and this Licensing Authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it 
has with the applicant before making a decision. 

25.0 Reviews

25.1 Requests for a review of a Premises Licence can be made by interested 
parties or Responsible Authorities, or may be initiated by the Licensing 
Authority. 

25.2 The ‘aim to permit’ framework provides wide scope for Licensing Authorities to 
review Premises Licences where there is an inherent conflict with the 
Commission’s codes of practice and this Guidance, the licensing objectives or 
the licensing authorities own policy statement.

25.3 In relation to a class of premises, we may review the use made of premises 
and, in particular, the arrangements that Premises Licence holders have made 
to comply with licence conditions. In relation to these general reviews, it is 
likely that we will be acting as a result of concerns or complaints about 
particular types of premises or following an inspection of a premises which 
may result in them looking at, for example, default conditions that apply to that 
category of licence. 

25.4 In relation to particular premises, we may review any matter connected with 
the use made of the premises if: 

• we have reason to suspect that premises licence conditions are not 
being observed

 



24

• the premises is operating outside of the principles set out in the 
Licensing Authority’s Policy Statement 

• there is evidence to suggest that compliance with the Licensing 
Objectives is at risk 

• for any other reason which gives us cause to believe that a Review 
may be appropriate, such as a complaint from a third party. 

25.5 In particular, the Licensing Authority may also initiate a review of a Premises 
Licence on the grounds that a Premises Licence holder has not provided 
facilities for gambling at the premises. This is to prevent people from applying 
for licences in a speculative manner without intending to use them.

25.6 A formal review would normally be at the end of a process of ensuring 
compliance by the operator(s) which might include an initial investigation by a 
Licensing Authority Officer, informal mediation or dispute resolution. If the 
concerns are not resolved then, after a formal review, the Licensing Authority 
may impose additional conditions or revoke the Licence.

25.7 The determination of whether a review should be carried out will give 
consideration to the following in respect of whether the way in which the 
premises is operating is:

 In accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 Reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives

 In accordance with the Authority’s Statement of Principles

25.8 The Licensing Authority will also take into consideration whether the request is 
either frivolous, vexatious or would certainly not cause this Authority to wish to 
alter/revoke/suspend the Licence.  The Licensing Authority will also consider 
whether the representations made in the application for a Review are 
substantially the same as previous representations or requests for Review.  In 
determining this matter, the Licensing Authority will take into account how 
much time has passed since any earlier application for a Review or since the 
Licence was granted.

25.9 The Licensing Authority can also initiate a Review of a Licence on the basis of 
any reason which it thinks is appropriate.

25.10 Once a valid application for a Review has been received by the Licensing 
Authority, representations can be made by Responsible Authorities and 
Interested Parties during a 28 day period. This period begins 7 days after the 



25

application was received by the Licensing Authority, who will publish notice of 
the application within 7 days of receipt. 

The Licensing Authority must carry out the review as soon as possible 
after the 28 day period for making representations has passed. 

25.11 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the Licensing 
Authority should take any action in relation to the Licence. If action is 
justified, the options open to the Licensing Authority are to:- 

(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the Licensing 
Authority;

(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State or Scottish 
Ministers (e.g. opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion;

(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; 
and

(d) revoke the premises licence.

25.12 In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the 
Licensing Authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of 
the Act, as well as any relevant representations.

Once the review has been completed, the Licensing Authority must, as soon 
as possible, notify its decision to:

- the Licence holder
- the applicant for review (if any)
- the Commission
- any person who made representations
- the Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable; and
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs



26

PERMITS/TEMPORARY AND OCCASIONAL USE NOTICE

26.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits. 

26.1 Unlicensed family entertainment centres (UFEC) are able to offer only 
category D machines in reliance on a Gaming Machine Permit. Any number of 
category D machines can be made available with such a permit, although 
there may be other considerations, such as Fire Regulations and health and 
safety, to take into account. Permits cannot be issued in respect of vessels or 
vehicles. 

26.2 UFECs are premises which are ‘wholly or mainly’ used for making gaming 
machines available. The permit cannot therefore be granted for an entire 
shopping centre, airport or bowling alley, for example. 

26.3 A permit lapses if the Licensing Authority informs the permit holder that the 
premises are not being used as a Family Entertainment Centre (FEC). 

26.4 If the operator wishes to make category C machines available in addition to 
category D machines, the Operator will need to apply for a ‘Gaming Machine 
General Operating Licence (Family Entertainment Centre)’ from the 
Commission and a premises licence from the licensing authority.

26.5 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance states: “…..An application for a 
permit may be granted only if the Licensing Authority is satisfied that the 
premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the Chief Officer of Police 
has been consulted on the application. In accordance with the Guidance, this 
Licensing Authority will expect applicants to demonstrate:

 A full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs

 That an applicant has no relevant convictions, those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act

 That staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and 
prizes 

26.6 We note that a Licensing Authority can grant or refuse a licence but cannot 
attach conditions to this type of permit.

26.7 This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to submit a plan of the 
premises and show that there are policies and procedures in place to protect 
children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from gambling 
but includes wider child protection considerations. 

26.8 The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on 
their merits, however, they may include appropriate measures / training for 



27

staff as regards suspected truant school children on the premises, measures / 
training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children 
being on the premises, or children causing perceived problems on / around 
the premises. 

27.0 Premises Licensed to Sell Alcohol

Automatic Entitlement: 2 Machines

27.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the Licensing 
Authority.  The Licensing Authority can remove the automatic authorisation in 
respect of any particular premises if:

 The person ceases to be the holder of the on-premises alcohol licence for the 
premises, the automatic entitlement to the two gaming machines also ceases.  
Whoever applies for the new premises alcohol licence would also need to 
apply under section 282(2), notifying the Licensing Authority of their intention 
to make the gaming machines available for use and paying the prescribed fee

 Provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
Licensing Objectives

 Gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of Section 
282 for example the gaming machines have been made available that do not 
comply with requirements on the location and operation of gaming machines 

 The premises are mainly used for gaming

 An offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises

Permit: 3 or more machines

27.2 If a Premises Licence Holder wishes to have more than 2 machines, then they  
need to apply for a permit and the Licensing Authority must consider that 
application based upon the Licensing Objectives, any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005,  
and “such matters as they think relevant.”

27.3 This Licensing Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a 
case by case basis, but generally there will be regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or being exploited by 
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the Authority that there will be 
sufficient measures to ensure that persons under the age of 18 do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machines.  

27.4 Measures which will satisfy the Authority that there will be no access may 
include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who 
will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18. Notices 



28

and signage on the machines or in the premises may also help and are 
encouraged by this Authority.  As regards the protection of vulnerable 
persons, applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets / 
helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

27.5 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a Premises 
Licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would 
normally need to be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre 
Premises Licence.

27.6 It should be noted that we as the Licensing Authority can decide to grant the 
application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of 
machines than that applied for.  Conditions other than these cannot be 
attached to a permit.

27.7 It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code 
of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine(s).

27.8 The Licensing Authority is able to cancel a permit. It may only do so in 
specified circumstances which include if the premises are used wholly or 
mainly by children or young persons or if an offence under the Act has been 
committed. Before it cancels a permit the Licensing Authority must notify the 
holder, giving 21 days notice of intention to cancel, consider any 
representations made by the holder, hold a hearing if requested, and comply 
with any other prescribed requirements relating to the procedure to be 
followed. Where the Licensing Authority cancels the permit, the cancellation 
does not take effect until the period for appealing against that decision has 
elapsed or, where an appeal is made, until the appeal is determined.

28.0 Prize Gaming Permits 

28.1 A Prize Gaming Permit is a permit issued by the Licensing Authority to 
authorise the provision of facilities for gaming with prizes on specified 
premises.

28.2 An applicant for a Prize Gaming Permit should set out the types of gaming that 
he or she is intending to offer, a plan of the premises and the applicant should 
be able to demonstrate: 

 That they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations

 
 That the gaming offered is within the law

 Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm.

28.3 In making its decision on an application for this type of permit the Licensing 
Authority does not need, but may, have regard to the Licensing Objectives but 
must have regard to any Gambling Commission Guidance.  The Licensing 



29

Authority will consult the Safeguarding Children Board where it considers it 
appropriate to do so.

28.4 It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which 
the permit holder must comply, but that the Licensing Authority cannot attach 
conditions.  The conditions in the Act are:

 The limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied 
with

 All chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on one day 

 The game must be played and completed on the day the chances are 
allocated 

 The result of the game must be made public in the premises on the day that it 
is played 

 The prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize) 

 Participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling 

29.0 Application for Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

29.1 The Licensing Authority may only refuse an application on the grounds that:

 The applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a Members’ or Commercial 
Club or Miners’ Welfare Institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the 
type of permit for which it has applied

 The applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons

 An offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities

 A permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years

 An objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police

29.2 If the Authority is satisfied that either or the first two points is the case, it must 
refuse the application.  Licensing Authorities shall have regard to relevant 
guidance issued by the Commission and (subject to that guidance), the 
Licensing Objectives.



30

29.3 In cases where an objection has been lodged by the Commission or  
Merseyside Police, the Licensing Authority is obliged to determine whether the 
objection is valid.

29.4 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises 
which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 
(Schedule 12 paragraph 10).

29.5 As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities states: "Under 
the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by 
the Commission or the Police and the grounds upon which an Authority can 
refuse a permit are reduced” and "The grounds on which an application under 
the process may be refused are:

 That the Club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming 
prescribed by Regulations under Section 266 of the Gambling Act 2005.

 That in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 
other gaming.

 That a Club Gaming Permit or Club Machine Permit issued to the applicant in 
the last ten years has been cancelled."

29.6 Club Gaming Permit

29.7 The Licensing Authority will seek to satisfy itself that the Club meets the 
requirements of the Act to obtain a Club Gaming Permit. Therefore applicants 
will be asked to supply sufficient information and documents to enable the 
Licensing Authority to determine whether the Club is a genuine Members 
Club. 

29.8 In determining whether a club is a genuine Members’ Club, the Licensing 
Authority will take account of a number of matters, such as:

 Is the primary purpose of the club’s activities something other than the
provision of gaming to its members? 

 Are the profits retained in the Club for the benefit of the members?

 Are there 25 or more members? 

 Are there genuine domestic addresses on the register of members? Are
domestic addresses listed for every member? Are members local to the club?  

 Do members participate in the activities of the club via the internet? 

 What information is provided on the Club’s website?

 Do guest arrangements link a member to every guest? Is there evidence of a 
signing-in register for guests? 



31

 Is the 48 hour rule between applying for membership and participating in any 
gaming properly applied? 

 Are there annual accounts for more than one year? 

 How is the Club advertised and listed in directories, including on the internet?  

 Are children permitted into the Club? 

 Does the Club have a Constitution and can it provide evidence that the
Constitution was approved by the members of the Club? 

 Is there a list of committee members and evidence of their election by the 
members of the Club? Can the Club provide minutes of committee and other 
meetings? 

29.9 The Constitution of the Club could also indicate whether it is a legitimate 
Members’ Club.  Amongst the things the Authority will consider when 
examining the constitution are the following:

 Who makes commercial decisions on behalf of the Club and what are the 
governance arrangements? Clubs are normally run by a Committee made up 
of members of the Club, rather than individuals or managers, who make 
decisions on behalf of the members. There will normally be a system 
(consultation, voting, paper ballots, annual general meetings, special 
meetings, etc) which allows members to be involved in major decisions 
concerning the management and running of the Club. Such arrangements 
would normally be spelt out in the Constitution

 Are the aims of the Club set out in the Constitution? A lack of aims or aims 
which involve gaming could indicate that it is not a genuine Members' Club

 Are there shareholders or members? Shareholders would indicate a business 
enterprise linked to a Commercial Club

 Is the Members’ Club permanently established? Clubs can’t be temporary and 
must be permanent in nature

 Can people join with annual or quarterly membership? This would indicate that 
the Club is permanent in nature

 Are there long term membership benefits? This would also indicate that the 
Club is permanent in nature and that it is a genuine Members' Club. The 
benefits of membership would normally be set out in the rules of membership.

29.10 Other than Bridge and Whist Clubs, which are separately catered for in 
Regulations, a Club cannot be established wholly or mainly for purposes of 
gaming. In applying for a Club Gaming Permit, a Club must therefore provide 



32

substantial evidence of activities other than gaming. Questions that the 
Licensing Authority will consider include:

 How many nights is gaming made available? 

 Is the gaming advertised? 

 What are the stakes and prizes offered? 

 Is there evidence of leagues with weekly/monthly/annual winners? 

 Is there evidence of non-playing members? 

 Are there teaching sessions to promote gaming, such as poker? 

 Is there tie-in with other Clubs offering gaming, such as poker, through 
tournaments or leagues? 

 Is there sponsorship by gaming organisations, for example on-line poker 
providers? 

 Are participation fees within limits? 

The Authority will undertake a visit to the premises before granting of the 
permit to assist the Licensing Officer to understand how the club will operate. 

29.11 Club Machine Permit

29.12 The Licensing Authority will seek to satisfy itself that the gaming on offer 
meets the conditions set out in the Act and relevant regulations. To do this, the 
Licensing Authority will ask questions of the applicant or ensure that the 
exempt gaming complies with these conditions. The conditions are:

 There must be no rake from the pot (that is, the organiser cannot take any 
money from the prize fund, or deduct money from the stakes or winnings). 
Licensing Authorities should examine the records for gaming or, if possible, 
observe or get statements about the pot.

 There must be no side bets. This is probably only going to be possible to verify 
through observations.

 Participation fees must be within the limits prescribed in the Regulations. Is 
there evidence of excess participation fees in Club records, adverts for gaming 
in or outside of the club or from complaints? 

 Prizes must be within the limits prescribed in the Regulations. Is there 
evidence that they are excessive from records at the Club, in adverts for 
gaming, etc? 



33

 Where the games are poker tournaments or leagues, the Licensing Authority 
will consult part 29 of the Guidance which sets out how the law applies to 
Poker. This should help the Licensing Authority to determine whether the 
gaming is within the law from evidence such as records in the club and adverts 
for gaming.

30.0 Temporary Use Notices

30.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might 
be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling 
Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.

30.2 The Licensing Authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant Operating Licence, i.e. a non-remote casino 
operating licence. 

30.3 The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007 sets out 
the restrictions on the type of gambling to be offered under a Temporary Use 
Notice. These restrictions are: 

 it can only be used to offer gambling of a form authorised by the operator’s 
Operating Licence, and consideration should therefore be given as to whether 
the form of gambling being offered on the premises will be remote, non-
remote, or both 

 gambling under a Temporary Use Notice may only be made available on a 
maximum of 21 days in any 12 month period for any or all of a named set of 
premises 

 it can only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance 
gaming, and where the gaming in each tournament is intended to produce a 
single overall winner 

 gaming machines may not be made available under a Temporary Use Notice

30.4 A Temporary Use Notice must be lodged with the Licensing Authority not less 
than three months and one day before the day on which the gambling event 
will begin. A fee is payable to the Licensing Authority to whom the notification 
is sent. The application must be copied to: 

 the Commission 
 the Police 
 HM Commissioners for Revenue and Customs 
 if applicable, any other Licensing Authority in whose area the premises are 

also situated



34

30.5 The person who is giving the Temporary Use Notice must ensure that the 
notice and copies are with the recipients within seven days of the date of the 
notice.

30.6 The Licensing Authority and the other bodies to which the notice is copied 
should consider whether they wish to give a notice of objection. In considering 
whether to do so, they must have regard to the Licensing Objectives and if 
they consider that the gambling should not take place, or only with 
modifications, they must give a notice of objection to the person who gave the 
Temporary Use Notice. Such a notice must be copied to the Licensing 
Authority. The Notice of Objection and the copy to the Licensing Authority 
must be given within 14 days, beginning with the date on which the Temporary 
Use Notice is given. An objection may be withdrawn by giving written notice to 
those to whom the notice of objection was sent and copied.

30.7 If objections are received, the Licensing Authority must hold a hearing to listen 
to representations from the person who gave the Temporary Use Notice, all 
the objectors and any person who was entitled to receive a copy of the notice. 
If all the participants agree that a hearing is unnecessary, it may be dispensed 
with.

30.8 This Licensing Authority expects to object to notices where it appears that 
their effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be 
described as one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling 
Commission’s “Guidance to Licensing Authorities”.

31.0 Occasional Use Notices

31.1 The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these notices 
aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not 
exceeded.



35



36

Appendix A - Scheme of Delegation

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH

FULL COUNCIL LICENSING ACT 
2003 COMMITTEE

SUB-COMMITTEE OF 
LICENSING ACT 2003 
COMMITTEE

OFFICERS

Three year Licensing policy X

Policy not to permit casinos X

Fee Setting – when 
appropriate

X

Application for premises 
licences

Where Representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/representations have 
been withdrawn

Application for a  Variation to a 
licence

Where Representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no Representations 
received/representations have 
been withdrawn

Application for a transfer of a 
licence

Where representations have 
been received from the 
Commission

Where no representations 
received from the Commission

Application for a provisional 
statement

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/representations have 
been withdrawn

Review of a premises licence X

Application for club gaming/ 
club machine permits

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no objections received/  
Representations have been 
withdrawn

Cancellation of club  Gaming/ 
club machine Permits 

X

Applications for other permits X

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming  Machine 
permits

X

Consideration of temporary 
use notice

X

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a temporary use 
notice

X

Determination as to whether a 
person is an Interested Party

X

Determination as to whether 
representations are relevant

X

Determination as whether a 
Representation if frivolous, 
vexatious or repetitive

X



37



38

Appendix B – List of Consultees

This draft document is being been circulated to a number of consultees including 
those listed below.  

 Elected Councillors, Metropolitan Borough of Wirral

 Head of Regeneration and Environment, Metropolitan Borough of Wirral

 Trading Standards Manager, Metropolitan Borough of Wirral

 Environmental Health Manager, Metropolitan Borough of Wirral

 Planning Officer, Metropolitan Borough of Wirral

 Local Safe Guarding Children Board

 Wirral Federation of Tenants and Residents Association

 The Gambling Commission 

 The Chief Officer of Police

 The Fire and Rescue Authority

 H. M. Revenue & Customs

 Public Health

 Citizen’s Advice Bureau

 The Bingo Association

 Association of British Bookmakers

 British Casino Association

 Casino Operators Association of the UK

 British Holiday & Home Parks Association

 British Beer & Pub Association

 Gaming Machine Suppliers

 All persons who hold a Betting Office Premises Licence

 All persons who hold a Bingo Premises Licence

 Amusement Arcades that hold Adult Gaming Centre and Family Entertainment 

Centre Premises Licences

 Representatives holders of various licences 



39



40

Appendix C – Responsible Authorities

Environmental Health (Pollution 
Control)

Environmental Health
Town Hall
Brighton Street
Wallasey
CH44 8ED

Body Responsible for the Protection 
of Children from Harm

Local Safe Guarding Children Board
Hamilton Building
Conway Street
Birkenhead
CH41 4FD

Chief Officer of Merseyside Police

Police Licensing Section
Walton Lane Police Station
Walton Lane
Liverpool
L4 5XF

Licensing Authority

Wirral Borough Council
Town Hall
Brighton Street
Wallasey
CH44 8ED

Planning Authority

Development Control
Town Hall
Brighton Street
Wallasey
CH44 8ED

Fire and Rescue Authority

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service
Wirral District Fire Safety
The Fire Station
Mill Lane
Wallasey
CH44 5UE

Environmental Health (Health & 
Safety)

Environmental Health
Town Hall
Brighton Street
Wallasey
CH44 8ED

H.M. Revenue & Customs

Portcullis House
21 India Street
Glasgow
G2 4PZ

The Gambling Commission

Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP



MINUTE EXTRACT: 

STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

23 NOVEMBER 2015

10 AMENDMENT TO SCHEME OF DELEGATION - OBJECTIONS TO HIGHWAY 
PROPOSALS 

The Head of Environment and Regulation introduced his report that set out proposed 
changes to the existing Scheme of Delegation in respect of unresolved objections to 
traffic management measures, including traffic regulation orders. The report 
recommended that delegated powers to decide on such objections be devolved to 
the Head of Service (in consultation with the Portfolio Holder) in cases where 
unresolved objections were below a set threshold. Members were informed that the 
views of both the Regeneration & Environment Policy & Performance and Standards 
and Constitutional Oversight Committee were being sought in advance of seeking 
approval for the change to the Constitution at Council in December.

The Head of Environment and Regulation informed of the procedures as operated 
under the current Scheme of Delegation, whereby detailed reports regarding 
objections are put to the Highways & Traffic Representation Panel, which considers 
the officer’s report and invites representations from objectors. He further informed of 
the actions undertaken following consideration by the Panel.

The Head of Environment and Regulation explained that the proposed amendment 
to the procedures recommended that the Scheme of Delegation in relation to 
unresolved objections to traffic management measures be altered such that it 
operates in a similar manner to the Scheme of Delegation for objections to planning 
applications

It was proposed to alter the Scheme of Delegation so that the Head of Service for 
Environment and Regulation, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport, would have delegated authority to reach a decision on those 
proposals which have attracted objections, except those which have attracted a 
petition of objection containing 25 or more signatories from individual households or 
alternatively where there are 15 (or more) individual objections in writing. 

Members noted that although effective, the current scheme was over bureaucratic 
when it came to highway and traffic proposals where in some instances highways 
officers, the majority of residents and Ward Members were in agreement i.e. 
supportive of a proposal, but a single objection had triggered delay placing proposals 
at risk of non-delivery, jeopardising any associated funding and the identified 
highway benefits.

A Member commented on the current procedures for notifying Ward Councillors of 
planning applications, and questioned how Members would be alerted of local 



highways matters under the new procedures. The Member also proposed that the 
words ‘traffic management’ be removed from para 3.3. of the proposal to allow a 
broader, more practical, approach to supporting objections. A further amendment to 
para 3.2 was proposed, namely the removal of the words ‘from individual 
households’. The Head of Environment and Regulation confirmed that the 
amendments would be incorporated into the new procedures. 

Resolved: That

(1) the proposed changes to the Council’s Constitution as outlined in the 
report be endorsed; and

(2) Council be recommended to approve the changes to the Council 
Constitution in respect of Part 3, Schedule 5, Scheme of Delegation - 
Objections to Highway Proposals. 



WIRRAL COUNCIL

STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE – 23 
NOVEMBER 2015

REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT POLICY & PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEE – 2 DECEMBER 2015

COUNCIL – 14 DECEMBER 2015 

SUBJECT AMENDMENT TO SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION – OBJECTIONS TO 
HIGHWAY PROPOSALS

WARDS AFFECTED ALL
REPORT OF MARK SMITH, HEAD OF 

ENVIRONMENT & REGULATION
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDERS

CLLR STUART WHITTINGHAM, 
HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORT

KEY DECISION? NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report considers a change to the existing Scheme of Delegation in 
respect of unresolved objections to traffic management measures, 
including traffic regulation orders.  The report recommends that 
delegated powers to decide on such objections be devolved to the 
Head of Service (in consultation with the Portfolio Holder) in cases 
where the number of unresolved objections is below a set threshold.

1.2 The views of the Regeneration & Environment Policy & Performance 
and Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee are sought in 
advance of seeking approval for this change to the Constitution at 
Council.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1 In relation to this report, “traffic management measures” means all 
proposed highway and traffic management matters (as outlined in Part 
3, Schedule 5 of the current Scheme of Delegation) that require public 
consultation, objections to which would be considered by Highways & 
Traffic Representation Panel and/or Regeneration & Environment 
Policy & Performance Committee.

2.2 The current Scheme of Delegation for these issues is covered in Part 
3, Schedule 5 of the Council’s Constitution, which is reproduced in 
Appendix 1 to this report.

2.3 In accordance with the current Scheme of Delegation, detailed reports 
regarding objections are put to the Highways & Traffic Representation 
Panel, which considers the officer’s report and invites representations 



from objectors.  Members of the Panel will then reach a decision and 
will make an appropriate recommendation on the objection to be 
reported to and considered at a subsequent meeting of the 
Regeneration & Environment Policy & Performance Committee.  The 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport then has delegated 
authority to approve the recommendation of the Policy & Performance 
Committee if he/she agrees.

2.4 The above process is presently necessary regardless of the scale of 
objections to a particular proposal, and whether it is a single objection 
or a petition from many individual addresses.

2.5 The current process involves significant Officer resources in discussing 
concerns with objectors.  Officers will try to alleviate objectors concerns 
such that they feel able to withdraw their objections.  If this is not 
possible, the process of writing a detailed report for Panel can take 
Officers significant time depending upon the complexity of the issues.  
The frequency of Panel and Committee meetings means that it can be 
several months before a decision is reached on a particular proposal.

2.6 Due to the delay, proposals can be at risk of non-delivery, jeopardising 
any  associated funding and the identified highway benefits whether 
driven by highway safety, sustainability or economic regeneration, etc. 
which the proposal would bring.

3.0 PROPOSAL

3.1 It is therefore recommended to alter the Scheme of Delegation in 
relation to unresolved objections to traffic management measures such 
that it operates in a similar manner to the Scheme of Delegation for 
objections to planning applications.

3.2 Specifically it is proposed to alter the Scheme of Delegation so that the 
Head of Service for Environment and Regulation, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport and Ward Members, 
would have delegated authority to reach a decision on those proposals 
which have attracted objections, except those which have attracted a 
petition of objection containing 25 or more signatories from individual 
households or alternatively where there are 15 (or more) individual 
objections in writing.

3.3 In addition, Ward Councillors may also request to take out of 
delegation those proposals within their Ward that have attracted 
unresolved objections but which have not reached the thresholds 
above, by giving notice in writing to the Head of Service. Such notice 
must include a statement why he/she considers it appropriate for the 
matter to be taken out of delegation and include valid traffic 
management reasons in support of the objection.  



3.4 Decisions taken under this amended Scheme of Delegation could be 
the subject of a short report to a subsequent Regeneration & 
Environment Policy & Performance Committee for noting. 

3.5      The proposed amendments to Part 3, Schedule 5 of the Council 
Constitution are set out in Appendix 2 of this report.

4.0 RELEVANT RISKS

4.1 The current Scheme of Delegation involves significant Officer time in 
preparing a detailed report for Highways & Traffic Representation 
Panel / Regeneration & Environment Policy & Performance Committee.

4.2 The frequency of Panel and Committee meetings means that it can be 
several months before a decision is reached on a particular proposal.

4.3 Due to the delay, proposals can be at risk of non-delivery, jeopardising 
any associated funding and the identified highway benefits whether 
driven by highway safety, sustainability or economic regeneration, etc. 
that the proposal would bring.

4.4 The proposed amended Scheme of Delegation would still require 
Officers to discuss proposals with objectors, with a view to alleviating 
their concerns.  In addition, reports would still be generated but these 
could be in the form of a briefing note for those proposals where the 
number of unresolved objections did not meet the thresholds above.  
These would then be discussed with the Cabinet Member and, if 
he/she agreed with the recommendation, would be decided under 
these delegated powers.

4.5 If the Cabinet Member disagreed with the recommendation, or if a 
Ward Member asked for the matter to be taken  out of delegation, or if 
the number of unresolved objections met the threshold, a full report 
would be generated and reported to the Highways & Traffic 
Representation Panel and subsequently the  Regeneration & 
Environment Policy & Performance Committee for their consideration.

5.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

5.1 Retention of the existing Scheme of Delegation in respect of Part 3 
Schedule 5 of the Council Constitution as detailed in Appendix 1 of this 
report. 

6.0 CONSULTATION

6.1 There are no specific implications under this heading arising from the 
recommendation of this report.



7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH 
GROUPS

7.1 There are no specific implications under this heading arising from the 
recommendation of this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FININCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND 
ASSETS

8.1 The proposal will reduce the risk of non-delivery of funded schemes 
thereby reducing the risk on associated funding and the identified 
highway benefits (such as highway safety, sustainability and economic 
regeneration, etc) related to such schemes.

8.2 The proposal would reduce Officer time in dealing with the 
administration process of unresolved objections.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1 None.  The Council would still meet its statutory obligations for 
consultation if this amendment to the Scheme of Delegation were 
implemented.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard 
to equality?

(a) Yes and the impact review can be found at the link below;

Regeneration & Environment 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-
living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-
april-2014/eias-regeneration-envir

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

11.1 There are no specific implications under this heading arising from the 
recommendation of this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1 There are no specific implications under this heading arising from the 
recommendation of this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION

13.1 Members of the Regeneration & Environment Policy & Performance 
and Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committees are requested 
to:

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-regeneration-envir
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-regeneration-envir
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-regeneration-envir
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-regeneration-envir
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-regeneration-envir


(1) Note and endorse the proposed changes to the Council’s 
Constitution outlined in this report;

(2) Recommend to full Council for approval. 

14.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

14.1 To streamline the Scheme of Delegation in relation to unresolved 
objections to traffic management measures.

REPORT AUTHOR: Keith Rodgers
Traffic Network Manager
telephone: (0151) 606 2101
email: keithrodgers@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1:  Council Constitution - extract from Part 3, Schedule 5

Appendix 2:  Proposed Amendment to Council Constitution Part 3, Schedule 5

REFERENCE MATERIAL

Council Constitution:
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/council-and-democracy/how-council-
governed/constitution-council

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/council-and-democracy/how-council-governed/constitution-council
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/council-and-democracy/how-council-governed/constitution-council


AMENDMENT TO SCHEME OF DELEGATION – OBJECTIONS TO 
HIGHWAY PROPOSALS

APPENDIX 1

Council Constitution – Extract from Part 3, Schedule 5;

Functions delegated to the Cabinet Member for Highways & Transport:

(1) To approve the recommendation of the Regeneration and Environment 
Policy and Performance Committee in connection with all proposed highway 
and traffic management matters, as set out below, to which objections have 
been lodged and where he/she agrees with the recommendation:- 
(a) All highway and traffic management matters governed by the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984, whether subject to a Traffic Regulation Order or 
otherwise, including (but not limited to) the following:- 
i. waiting and parking restrictions; 
ii. speed limits; 
iii. one way traffic orders; 
iv. weight limits; 
v. prohibiting or restricting the use of heavy commercial vehicles; 
vi. signalised and non signalised pedestrian/cycle/horse crossings; 
vii. provision of off street parking and parking on roads ,footpaths, pavements 
and verges 
viii. traffic signs and traffic signals. 
ix. Bus lanes and taxi ranks 
x. Siting of street furniture 

(2) To approve the recommendation of the Regeneration and Environment 
Policy and Performance Committee in connection with all proposed highway 
and traffic management matters, as set out below, to which objections have 
been lodged and where he/she agrees with the recommendation:-
(a) All highway and traffic management matters governed by the Highways 
Act 1980 including (but not limited to) the following:- 
i. road humps; 
ii. traffic calming speed reducing measures; 
iii. improvement lines for road widening; 
iv. cycle tracks. 

(3) To approve the winter maintenance arrangements



AMENDMENT TO SCHEME OF DELEGATION – OBJECTIONS TO 
HIGHWAY PROPOSALS

APPENDIX 2

Proposed amendments to Council Constitution – Part 3, Schedule 5;

(Proposed amendments underlined)

Functions delegated to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport:

(A) To approve the recommendation of; 

(1) The Head of Environment and Regulation in connection with all 
proposed highway and traffic management matters, as set out below, to which 
unresolved petitions of objection of 24 signatures or less from individual 
households, or 14 or less individual unresolved letters of objection have been 
lodged and where he/she agrees with the recommendation: -

(2) The Regeneration and Environment Policy and Performance 
Committee in connection with all proposed highway and traffic management 
matters, as set out below, to which unresolved petitions of objection of 25 
signatures or more from individual households, or 15 or more individual 
unresolved letters of objection have been lodged and where he/she agrees 
with the recommendation: - 

(3) The Regeneration and Environment Policy and Performance 
Committee in connection with all proposed highway and traffic management 
matters, as set out below, to which unresolved objections have been lodged 
which have been supported by a Ward Member(s) for a Ward(s) affected by 
the proposals, (such support, including valid traffic management / highway 
reasons, to be submitted in writing to the Head of Environment and 
Regulation) and where he/she agrees with the recommendation: -

(a) All highway and traffic management matters governed by the 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, whether subject to a Traffic 
Regulation Order or otherwise, including (but not limited to) the 
following:- 

i. waiting and parking restrictions; 
ii. speed limits; 
iii. one way traffic orders; 
iv. weight limits; 
v. prohibiting or restricting the use of heavy commercial vehicles; 
vi. signalised and non signalised pedestrian/cycle/horse crossings; 
vii. provision of off street parking and parking on roads ,footpaths, 

pavements and verges 
viii. traffic signs and traffic signals. 
ix. Bus lanes and taxi ranks 
x. Siting of street furniture 



AMENDMENT TO SCHEME OF DELEGATION – OBJECTIONS TO 
HIGHWAY PROPOSALS

APPENDIX 2 (Continued)

Proposed amendments to Council Constitution – Part 3, Schedule 5;

(Proposed amendments underlined)

(b) All highway and traffic management matters governed by the 
Highways Act 1980 including (but not limited to) the following:- 

i. road humps; 
ii. traffic calming speed reducing measures; 
iii. improvement lines for road widening; 
iv. cycle tracks. 

(B) To approve the Winter Maintenance arrangements.



MINUTE EXTRACT

STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

23 NOVEMBER 2015

11 SUMMARY OF THE WORK AND PROPOSALS OF THE STANDARDS AND 
CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT WORKING GROUP 

The Head of Legal and Member Services and Monitoring Officer introduced his 
report that set out details of the constitutional review undertaken by the Standards 
and Constitutional Oversight Working Group during this municipal year.

The Head of Legal and Member Services and Monitoring Officer reported that 
Working Group had considered the following matters and recommendations for 
consideration by the Committee as summarised in the Report Appendix included:

 Council Procedure Rules
 Call-in arrangements
 Employment and Appointment Committee’s Terms of Reference
 Scheme of Delegation to Officers – technical updates
 Procedure for Dealing with Referred Notices of Motions

Following a discussion by Members on the subject matter, procedures and reasoning 
behind the proposals i.e. to better reflect the working of Council, focus on the 
opportunity for debate at Council, streamlining of ordinary business and revised 
procedures to incorporate what worked well, and address those issues requiring 
improvement, a Member moved acceptance of the report.

The Committee agreed that in the interests of ensuring that a true reflection of the 
Committees views be recorded, a separate vote be put on each Amendment. As 
follows:

Amendment No. 1 – Change of Ordinary Council Meeting Times (Start 6.00pm and 
Finish 9.15pm).

Agreed unanimously.

Amendment No. 2 – Commencement time for Matters Requiring Approval and 
Debates (NOMs).

Agreed unanimously.

Amendment No. 3 - Only Proposer and Seconder required to sign Notice of Motion.

Agreed unanimously.



Amendment No. 4 - Change of Order for dealing with Notices of Motion.

Agreed unanimously.

Amendment No. 5 – Submission of Amendments to Notices of Motion.

Agreed unanimously.

Amendment No. 6 – Procedure for Dealing with Referred Notices of Motion.

A Member re-iterated an early comment that such referrals also resulted in a two tier 
system for the handling of Notices of Motion (NoM) in so far as NoMs debated at 
Council would not take evidence from witnesses. 

Agreed by majority vote.

Amendment No. 7 – Public and Member Question Time (Reduce allocation of time 
and change how questions are asked).

Agreed unanimously.

Amendment No. 8 – Order of Business (Council Meetings).

Agreed unanimously.

Amendment No. 9 – Speeches, restrictions and time limits.

Agreed unanimously.

Amendment No. 10 – Call In.

Given disagreement between political groups on the proposed amendment, a vote 
was requested.

For the Amendment  5:  Against: 4.

Agreed by majority vote.

Amendment No. 11 – Employment and Appointments Committee (Terms of 
Reference).

Agreed unanimously.

Amendment No. 12 - Technical amendments.

Agreed unanimously.



Resolved: That

1) the work of the Working Group to date and the planned work to be 
undertaken be noted;

2) RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL – that the proposed changes to the 
Council’s Constitution set out at Appendix 1 to this report be agreed;

3) RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL - that the Head of Legal and Member 
Services be authorised to make the necessary changes to the 
Constitution to give effect to the proposed changes set out at Appendix 
1 to this report; and 

4) Subject to Council approving the proposed amendments to the 
Constitution at (2) above, the Procedure for Dealing with Referred 
Notices of Motion as set out in Appendix 2 to this report be approved 
and shall take effect as from 15 December 2015 onwards.





WIRRAL COUNCIL
STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
23 NOVEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: SUMMARY OF THE WORK AND 
PROPOSALS OF THE STANDARDS 
WORKING GROUP 

WARDS AFFECTED ALL
REPORT OF: HEAD OF LEGAL AND MEMBER 

SERVICES AND MONITORING OFFICER

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides details of the constitutional review undertaken by the Standards 

and Constitutional Oversight Working Group during this municipal year.

1.2 The Working Group has considered the following matters and made recommendations 
for consideration by the Committee:

 Council Procedure Rules
 Call-in arrangements
 Employment and Appointment Committee’s Terms of Reference
 Scheme of Delegation to Officers – technical updates
 Procedure for Dealing with Referred Notices of Motions

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The Committee at its meeting on 1 July 2015 re-established its Standards and 

Constitutional Oversight Working Group. 

2 The work of the Working Group during this municipal year focused on the specific 
areas detailed at paragraph 1.2 above.

2.2 The Working Group has now completed its review on the above matters and has 
made recommendations to the Committee for consideration which are set out in the 
Appendices to this report. 

Review of the Council’s Constitution

2.3 The Working Group concluded the review of the Council’s Procedure Rules which the 
Working Group commenced last municipal year.

2.4 The Working Group had regard to the benchmarking exercise that was undertaken 
which consisted of the Procedure Rules and Council Agendas of a number (16) of 
Councils. This helped the Working Group appraise the Council’s current arrangements 



in greater detail and facilitate debate and discussion about how the Council’s 
democratic and decision-making arrangements could be improved.

Council Procedure Rules

2.5 The Working Group recognised that ordinary council meetings needed to change to 
become more engaging and provide greater opportunity for debate.

2.6 With this in mind, the Working Group has recommended changes to the Council’s 
Procedures Rules that seek to streamline the business of council and allow greater 
time for debates.

2.7 The proposed changes include:

i. Changes to the start and end times for Ordinary Council meetings - to 6.00pm 
and 9.15pm respectively.

ii. Changes to how Executive and Policy and Performance Chairs Reports and 
questions are dealt with. The change reduces the time spent on such matters 
to thirty minutes rather than one and half hours. Questions on Executive and 
Policy and Performance Reports are to be taken in any order.

iii. The order of business of ordinary council has been varied so that Notices of 
Motion are dealt with last (save for any urgent business).

iv. Council will be required to deal with its other business save for Notices of 
Motion and Any Urgent Business by 7.15pm so that Council has more time to 
debate Notices of Motion.

v. Valid Notices of Motion will only require a Proposer and Seconder to sign the 
Notice rather than a Proposer and five other supporting members.

vi. Notices of Motion would be debated in a specific order based on the size of 
political groups. 

vii. To ensure Council time is utilised more effectively, the time allowed for 
speeches/replies are to be revised – A proposer of a motion will have 5 
minutes rather than 7 to introduce it; the Seconder will have 3 minutes rather 
than 5 and rights of reply shall be limited to 3 minutes rather than 7. 

viii. The Council Agenda will only include Items that require Council to deal with a 
matter – for example, if there are no vacancies to address, the Agenda will not 
include that item.

Call-In 

2.8 The Working Group also reviewed how effective the Council’s arrangements are for 
dealing with call-ins. Particular regard was had to recent call-ins that related to high 
profile matters and adjournments.



2.9 The Working Group recognised that it was not satisfactory for call-in hearings to last 
late into the evening, particularly when members of the public were in attendance 
(sometimes with children). Moreover, the Working Group acknowledged that it was not 
appropriate that call-ins that were adjourned could not be heard for several 
weeks/months dues to availability issues. 

2.10 Accordingly, the Working Group agreed that:

i. All call-in meetings start at 4pm unless otherwise agreed by the Chairperson;

ii. A call-in panel consisting of 9 voting members (together with any relevant co-
opted members as required) be established to hear call-ins;

iii. The call-in panel shall be quorate if 6 voting members are in attendance; and

iv. If a call-in is adjourned, it must be re-convened within 7 working days 
thereafter or abandoned if that is not possible and the matter be re-heard from 
the start.

2.11 The Working Group considered the issue of whether Minority reports should be 
permitted which allowed a political group that is not satisfied with the call-in outcome 
to refer the subject matter to Council. Council can debate the subject matter but has 
no jurisdiction to review/change the Executive decision.

2.12 The Working Group debated the continuation of Minority Reports being permitted; 
however by majority vote, agreed that there be no such provision.

Employment and Appointment Committee’s Terms of Reference

2.13 The Working Group was requested to review the current terms of reference for the 
Employment and Appointments Committee. The current terms primarily relate to 
appointments and disciplinary matters of senior officers.

2.14 The Working Group agreed that the terms of reference be extended to include the 
approval of workforce/employment related policies and schemes; the monitoring of 
performance and management matters; and that the Chairperson been granted 
authority to make minor amendments to workforce/employment policies and schemes.

Scheme of Delegation of Functions to Officers

2.15 The Working Group reviewed technical amendments to the Scheme of Delegation 
which relate to statutory updates and authorisations to named post holders following 
restructure changes and a generic provision to allowed delegation to be exercised by 
relevant authorised officers.

APPENDIX 1

2.16 Appendix 1 to this sets out the proposed amendments to the Constitution which 
relates to the areas detailed above. For illustrative purposes a draft Council Summons 
showing the proposed ordering of items is also included.  



Procedure for Dealing with Referred Notices of Motion

2.17 The Working Group debated the issue of the Civic Mayor continuing to review Notices 
of Motion and determining which should be referred to the Executive or a Committee 
of the Council rather than be debated.

2.18 The Working Group was not able to reach a unanimous decision on this issue but it 
was agreed by majority vote that the status quo should remain.

2.19 In view of the Working Group’s decision, it was also agreed that where Notices of 
Motion have been referred by the Civic Mayor, the Standards and Constitutional 
Oversight Committee shall have the responsibility of determining the procedure for 
how such referrals are dealt with.

2.20 To assist the Committee in this regards a draft Procedure has been prepared and 
agreed by the Working Group and is set out at Appendix 2 for approval (subject to 
Council agreeing the Committee’s onward recommendations on this matter).

Working Group Work Programme

2.21 The Working Group will continue to meet during the municipal year and will focus its 
attention on the following:

i. Members’ Code of Conduct;
ii. Protocol for Dealing with Complaints Against Members;
iii. Promoting High Standards of Conduct; and
iv. Members’ ICT Policy.

2.22 A further report will be provided to the committee in due course in relation to the work 
of the Working Group (which will be depending on what work is completed).

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 The Council must ensure that the Constitution and other working 

arrangements/practices are effective and compliant with relevant legislation.

3.2 By undertaking a regular review of the Constitution and Ethical Framework and other 
key aspects of the Council’s practices, the risks to the Council are mitigated.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 The Working Group considered relevant information available and benchmarking 

information to help inform its decision making. 

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 The Standards Working Group has a consultative role by virtue of its cross-party 

membership. No formal consultation is necessary in respect of the matter falling within 
this report.



6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
6.1 There are no such implications arising.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
7.1 There are no such implications arising.

8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
8.1 The legal implications have been set out in this report.

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
9.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

(a) No EIA is required.

11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1 There are no such implications arising.

12.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
12.1That the Committee:

(a) Notes the work of the Working Group to date and the planned work to be 
undertaken.

(b) Agrees the proposed changes to the Council’s Constitution set out at 
Appendix 1 to this report and recommends the same to Council for approval.

(c) Recommends to Council that the Head of Legal and Member Services be 
authorised to make the necessary changes to the Constitution to give effect to 
the proposed changes set out at Appendix 1.

(d) Subject to Council approving the proposed amendments to the Constitution at 
(b) above, the Procedure for Dealing with Referred Notices of Motion as set 
out in Appendix 2 to this report be approved and shall take effect as from 15 
December 2015 onwards.

13.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1 The recommendations are necessary to ensure compliance with legal obligations and 

improve governance arrangements.

REPORT AUTHOR: Surjit Tour
Head of Legal & Member Services
and Monitoring Officer
Telephone:  0151 691 8569
Email:   surjittour@wirral.gov.uk 

mailto:surjittour@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDICES
Appendix 1 - Schedule of Proposed Changes to the Council’s Constitution.

Appendix 2 - Procedure for Dealing with Referred Notices of Motion



1

APPENDIX 1
PROPOSED CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS

Proposed amendments to the Constitution recommended by the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Working Group.

Amendment No. 1 – Change of Ordinary Council Meeting Times (Start 6.00pm and Finish 9.15pm)

Amendment No. 2 – Commencement time for Matters Requiring Approval and Debates (NOMs)

Council 
Constitution 
Section

Current Provision Proposed Amendment

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure

Section 1 

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Page 148

Standing Order 1(2) – Meetings of the Council

(1) The Annual Meeting shall be held at 7.00 pm or 
at such other time as the Council decides, at 
the Town Hall, Wallasey, or at such other place 
as the Council decides, and ordinary meetings 
of the Council shall be held at 6.15 pm, or at 
such other time decided by the Head of Legal 
and Member Services after consultation with 
the Leader of the Council, at the Town Hall, 
Wallasey.

(2) Each ordinary meeting of the Council shall be 
concluded by 9:00pm on the day of the 
meeting in accordance with the procedure 
contained in Standing Order 9, unless the 
Council agrees to suspend that standing order 
before it comes into operation at the meeting.

Standing Order 1(2) – Meetings of the Council

(1) The Annual Meeting shall be held at 7.00 pm or at 
such other time as the Council decides, at the 
Town Hall, Wallasey, or at such other place as the 
Council decides, and ordinary meetings of the 
Council shall be held at 6.00pm, or at such other 
time decided by the Head of Legal and Member 
Services after consultation with the Leader of the 
Council, at the Town Hall, Wallasey.

(2) Each ordinary meeting of the Council shall be 
concluded by 9:15pm on the day of the meeting 
in accordance with the procedure contained in 
Standing Order 9, unless the Council agrees to 
suspend that standing order before it comes into 
operation at the meeting.



2

Page 154 Standing Order 9 - Conclusion of Council 
Meeting

(1) If the Council has not disposed of all Business 
by 9.00 pm on the day of the meeting it shall 
dispose of the item then under consideration 
as if the motion 'That the question be now put' 
had been carried, i.e. the debate shall be 
concluded by the seconder and by the 
Member who has the right of reply (see 
Standing Order 12(14)(b) below).

Standing Order 9 - Conclusion of Council Meeting

(1) If the Council has not disposed of all Business by 
9.15pm on the day of the meeting it shall dispose 
of the item then under consideration as if the 
motion 'That the question be now put' had been 
carried, i.e. the debate shall be concluded by the 
seconder and by the Member who has the right 
of reply (see Standing Order 12(14)(b) below).

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure

Section 1 

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Page 150

N/a Standing Order 5(5) – Order of Business (Council 
Meetings)

Council shall conclude all business other than:

i. motions (and amendments thereto) to be 
debated pursuant to Standing Order 7; and

ii. any urgent business agreed by the Civic 
Mayor 

by no later than 7.15pm (unless otherwise permitted by 
the Civic Mayor).
 



3

Amendment No. 3 - Only Proposer and Seconder required to sign Notice of Motion

Amendment No. 4 - Change of Order for dealing with Notices of Motion

Amendment No. 5 – Submission of Amendments to Notices of Motion

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure

Section 1

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Page 153

Standing Order – Rule 7(1) Notices of Motion

Subject to Standing Order 17, notice of every motion 
except of one under Standing Order 8 shall be given 
in writing, signed by the member in whose name it 
stands and by at least five other members and 
delivered no later than the Monday of the second 
week before each ordinary meeting of the Council 
to the Head of Legal and Member Services, who 
shall arrange for it to be dated, numbered in the order 
in which it is received, and entered in a book which 
shall be open to inspection by every member of the 
Council.

Standing Order – Rule 7(1) Notices of Motion 

Subject to Standing Order 17, notice of every motion 
except of one under Standing Order 8 shall be given in 
writing, signed by the Elected Member in whose name it 
stands (“the Proposer”) and seconded by another 
Elected Member (“the Seconder”) no later than the 
Monday of the second week before each ordinary 
meeting of the Council to the Head of Legal and 
Member Services, 

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure

Section 1

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Page 153

Standing Order – Rule 7(2) Notices of Motion

The Head of Legal and Member Services shall set 
out in the Summons for every meeting of the Council 
all motions of which notice has been duly given, in 
the order in which they have been received, unless 
the member giving such a notice has since withdrawn 
it in writing.

Standing Order – Rule 7(2) Notices of Motion

The Head of Legal and Member Services shall set out in 
the Summons for every meeting of Ordinary Council all 
motions of which notice has been duly given under 
Standing Order 7(1) and to be debated (as determined 
under Standing Order 7(4)) in the following order, unless 
the Proposer of the motion has since withdrawn it in 
writing:

1. Largest Political Group Notice of Motion;



4

2. Second largest Political Group Notice of Motion;
3. Third largest Political Group Notice of Motion;
4. A Notice of Motion not received from a Political 

Group;
5. The order above thereafter to be repeated.

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure
Section 1

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 
Page 153

Standing Order – Rule 7(6) Notices of Motion

A member of the Council who has moved a motion 
which has been referred to any committee shall be 
given notice of the meeting at which it is to be 
considered. The members shall have the right to 
attend the meeting and an opportunity of explaining 
the motion.

Standing Order – Rule 7(6) Notices of Motion

The Proposer and Seconder of a motion which has 
been referred to the executive or any committee shall be 
given notice of the meeting at which it is to be 
considered. Either the Proposer or Seconder shall have 
the right to attend the meeting and an opportunity of 
explaining the motion.

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure
Section 1

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 
Insert at 
Page 154

N/a New Standing Order – Rule 7(9) Notices of Motion

All amendments to motions submitted under Standing 
Order 7(1) and to be debated (as determined under 
Standing Order 7(4)) must be submitted to the Head of 
Legal and Member Services by 10.00am on the Friday 
immediately preceding the Ordinary Council meeting at 
which the motion is to be debated. All such 
amendments shall be published by the Head of Legal 
and Member Services.



5

Amendment No. 6 – Procedure for Dealing with Referred Notices of Motion

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure

Section 1

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Insert at 
Page 154

N/a New Standing Order – Rule 7(10) Notices of Motion

In the case of a Notice of Motion being referred to the 
Leader, Cabinet or a Committee of the Council by the 
Civic Mayor, the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee shall determine the procedure for how such 
a referral shall be dealt with. 

Amendment No. 7 – Public and Member Question Time (Reduce allocation of time and change how questions are asked) 

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure

Section 1

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Page 156

Standing Order 11 - Restrictions and time limits 
on

questions

(a) Any question shall be limited to 2 minutes.
(b) The total number of questions on any one 

report shall not usually exceed five.
(c) Responses to any question will be reserved to 

the conclusion of all the questions on a 
particular report, when all the questions will be 
answered individually or as a composite 
response as appropriate.

(d) Any response to questions on a particular report 
shall not exceed ten minutes.

Standing Order 11 - Restrictions and time limits on
questions

(a) Any question shall be limited to 2 minutes.
(b) Questions by members on written report 

submitted under Standing Order 5(2)(h) may be 
asked in any order – the total number of questions 
on any one report shall not usually exceed five. 

(c) Response to questions should be brief, succinct 
and to the point.

(d) The total time allocated to member questions and 
responses on the written reports submitted under 
Standing Order 5(2)(h) shall not exceed 30 
minutes. 



6

(e) The total time allocated to members questions 
shall not exceed one and a half hours.

(f) The Mayor will broadly endeavour to call 
members and allocate the time for questions 
such that each political party has that proportion 
of the time which reflects their relative 
membership of the council.

(g) The Mayor as an exception may agree to an 
extension of these numbers and time limits.

(e) Where a verbal response cannot be provided to 
any question asked by a member under Standing 
Order 10(2), a written response shall be provided 
within 10 working days thereafter.

(f) The Civic Mayor will broadly endeavour to call 
members and allocate the time for questions fairly 
and equitably.

(g) The Civic Mayor as an exception may agree to an 
extension of these numbers and time limits.

Amendment No. 8 – Order of Business (Council Meetings)

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure
Section 1 

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Page 149-150

Order of Business (Council Meetings)

(1) This Standing Order shall be subject to 
Standing Order 5A below as respects Annual 
Meetings of the Council.

(2) Subject to paragraph (3) below, the order of 
business at every meeting of the Council shall 
be as follows:

(a) to choose a person to preside if the Mayor 
and Deputy Mayor are absent;

(b) to receive the Mayor's announcements;
(c) to deal with any business required by 

statute to be done before any other 
business;

(d) to receive petitions without debate in 
accordance with Standing Order 21;

(e) to deal with questions from members of the 

Order of Business (Council Meetings)

(1) This Standing Order shall be subject to Standing 
Order 5A below as respects Annual Meetings of 
the Council.

(2) Subject to paragraph (3) below, the order of 
business at every meeting of the Council shall be 
as follows:

(a) Selection of Chairperson - to choose a 
person to preside if the Civic Mayor and 
Deputy Civic Mayor are absent;

(b) Declarations of Interest - to receive 
declarations of interest from Members;

(c) Civic Mayor’s Announcements - to receive 
the Civic Mayor's announcements; 

(d) Minutes - to approve as a correct record and 
sign the minutes of the last meeting of the 



7

public in accordance with the procedure set 
out in Appendix 1 to these standing orders;

(f) to approve as a correct record and sign the 
minutes of the last meeting of the Council;

(g) to dispose of business (if any) remaining 
from the previous meeting;

(h) to receive the written reports of the Leader 
and the Cabinet Members and the Chairs of 
the Policy & Performance Committees and 
receive questions and answers on any of 
those reports;

(i) to consider any recommendations of the 
Leader / Cabinet and Committees which 
require the approval of the Council;

(j) to deal with questions in accordance with 
Standing Order 11;

(k) to deal with any references from the Policy 
and Performance Committees;

(l) to consider and decide upon active petitions 
referred to Council for debate under 
Standing Order 34(1); on a motion to be 
formally moved by the Mayor and duly 
seconded to note the contents of the 
petition;

(m) to deal with any other business, if any, 
specified in the Summons;

(n) to consider any notices of motion submitted 
in accordance with Standing Order 7 which 
the Council agrees should be debated 
rather than being referred to the Leader or 
the appropriate Committee(s).

Council; 
(e) Business Required by Statute - to deal with 

any business required by statute to be done 
before any other business; 

(f) Outstanding Business - to dispose of 
business (if any) remaining from the previous 
meeting;

(g) Petitions - to receive petitions without debate 
in accordance with Standing Order 21;

(h) Petitions - to consider and decide upon active 
petitions referred to Council for debate under 
Standing Order 34(1); on a motion to be 
formally moved by the Civic Mayor and duly 
seconded to note the contents of the petition;

(i) Public Questions - to deal with questions 
from members of the public in accordance with 
the procedure set out in Appendix 1 to these 
standing orders;

(j) Leader’s, Executive Members’ and Chair’s 
Reports - to receive the written reports of the 
Leader and the Cabinet Members and the 
Chairs of the Policy & Performance 
Committees and receive questions and 
answers on any of those reports in accordance 
with Standing Order 10(2)(b);

(k) Members’ Questions - to deal with Members 
questions in accordance with Standing Order 
10(2)(a); 

(l) Matters Referred from Policy and 
Performance Committee or Other Council 
Committees - to deal with any references from 
the Policy and Performance Committee or 



8

(3) The order of items (a), (b), (c), and (d) of 
paragraph (1) cannot be changed. The order 
of other items may be varied:

(a) at the discretion of the Mayor; or
(b) by a resolution duly moved and seconded, 

without discussion.

(4) Notices of motion shall be dealt with in the order 
in which they are received.

other Council Committees; 
(m) Vacancies – to receive nominations, in 

accordance with Standing Order 25(6) in 
respect of proposed changes in the 
membership of Committees or appointments to 
outside organisations;

(n) Matters Requiring Approval or 
Consideration by the Council - to consider 
any recommendations of the Leader / Cabinet 
and Committees which require the approval of 
the Council;

(o) Notices of Motion - to consider any notices of 
motion submitted in accordance with Standing 
Order 7 which the Council agrees should be 
debated rather than being referred to the 
Leader or the appropriate Committee(s).

(p) Other Business that the Mayor Considers 
Urgent  - to deal with any other urgent 
business.

(3) The order of items (a - f) of paragraph (1) cannot 
be changed. The order of other items may be 
varied:

(a) at the discretion of the Civic Mayor; or
(b) by a resolution duly moved and seconded, 

without discussion.

(4) Notices of Motion shall be dealt with in the order in 
which they are received (unless otherwise stated 
within this Constitution).



9

Amendment No. 9 – Speeches, restrictions and time limits

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure
Section 1 

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Page 157

12(1) Speeches, restrictions and time limits

A member shall direct any speech to the matter 
under discussion or to a point of order as defined in 
paragraph (15) of this standing order. The following 
time limits shall apply to speeches:-

(a) the Chair, Cabinet Member or mover of the 
motion - not exceeding 7 minutes;

(b) the seconder of the motion or notice of motion 
- not exceeding 3 minutes;

(c) the Chair, Cabinet member or the mover of 
the motion, having the right to reply - not 
exceeding 7 minutes;
The Chair having the right to reply shall be 
entitled to give an explanation immediately 
after the motion has been moved and 
seconded but the total time allowed for the 
explanation and for the reply at the end of the 
debate shall not exceed 7 minutes.

(d) any other speakers - not exceeding 3 minutes.
The Mayor as an exception may agree to an 
extension of these time limits for a period or 
successive periods of 2 minutes.

12(2) Speeches, restrictions and time limits

A member shall direct any speech to the matter under 
discussion or to a point of order as defined in paragraph 
(15) of this standing order. The following time limits shall 
apply to speeches:-

(a) the Chair, Cabinet Member or mover of the 
motion - not exceeding 5 minutes;

(b) the seconder of the motion or notice of motion - 
not exceeding 3 minutes;

(c) the Chair, Cabinet member or the mover of the 
motion, having the right to reply - not exceeding 3 
minutes;
The Chair having the right to reply shall be 
entitled to give an explanation immediately after 
the motion has been moved and seconded but 
the total time allowed for the explanation and for 
the reply at the end of the debate shall not 
exceed 5 minutes;

(d) any other speakers - not exceeding 3 minutes.
The Civic Mayor as an exception may agree to an 
extension of these time limits for a period or 
successive periods of 2 minutes.



10

Amendment No. 10 – Call In

Part 4 – Rules 
of Procedure
Section 1 

Council 
Procedure 
Rules 

Page 167

CALL-IN 

Current Call-In Rules (Standing Order 35) set out 
at Annex A

Proposed Revisions 

All call-ins to commence at 4:00pm unless otherwise 
agreed by the Chairperson. 

1. A call-in panel be established consisting of nine 
(9) members of the Co-Ordinating Committee 
(including deputies) to hear all call-ins. A Panel of 
nine (9) members ensures all three parties have 
at least one seat (i.e ratio 5:3:1).

 
2. There be no provision for Minority Reports to be 

referred to Council. 
 
3. Should a call-in be adjourned part-heard it must 

be convened within 7 working days thereafter 
otherwise it shall be abandoned and a new panel 
convened within 7 working days.
 

4. The panel shall be quorate if 6 members are in 
attendance.  

Revised Call-In Rules (Standing Order 35) set out at 
Annex B



11

Amendment No. 11 – Employment and Appointments Committee (Terms of Reference)

Responsibility 
for Functions

Table 2 – 
Responsibility 
for Council 
Functions 
(Table)

Page 63

Membership 

8 Members of the Authority

Where the matter to be considered relates to the 
dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer, the Employment 
and Appointments Committee membership shall 
include a minimum of two Independent Persons on 
the Committee as determined and defined by The 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015 (SI 2015/881) or as 
may be amended from time to time.

Functions

Appointment of Chief Officers and Deputies.

To act as the Appeals Body in respect of 
misconduct of chief officers.

Functions relating to Pensions as an Employer.

To provide advice, views or recommendations to 
Full Council on a matter proposing the dismissal of 
the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or 
Chief Finance Officer in accordance with the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment)  Regulations 2015 (SI 2015/881) or 
as may be amended from time to time.

Include:

To approve, amendment and/or revise Council 
employment/ workforce policies and schemes.

To monitor and exercise oversight of workforce 
performance and management matters.

The Chairperson shall, in consultation with Party 
Spokespersons and the Head of Human Resources and 
Organisation Development, have authority to make 
minor amendments to employment/workforce policies 
and schemes.   



12

Amendment No. 12 - Technical amendments

SCHEDULE 4A 
PART 2 
para (1)
Page 123 - 133

N/a [Insert] 

‘Control of Horses Act 2015’

Mobile Homes Act 2010 Mobile Homes Act 2013

(4) (a) Personally or, where legislation requires it, 
through the Trading Standards Manager authorise 
suitably qualified members of staff in the Trading 
Standards Division to carry out enforcement 
functions as authorised officers under trading 
standards, consumer and related legislation;

(4) (a) Personally or, where legislation requires it, 
through the Senior Manager Trading Standards or 
Trading Standards Operations Manager (or equivalent 
post holders) authorise suitably qualified members of 
staff in the Trading Standards Division to carry out 
enforcement functions as authorised officers under 
trading standards, consumer and related legislation;

(4) (b) personally or through the Senior Manager 
(Trading Standards) authorise the commencement 
of legal proceedings on behalf of the Council under 
trading standards, consumer and related legislation;

(4) (b) personally or through the Senior Manager Trading 
Standards or Trading Standards Operations Manager (or 
equivalent post holders) authorise the commencement of 
legal proceedings on behalf of the Council under trading 
standards, consumer and related legislation;

(4) (d) authorise the post-holders listed below, in 
the Trading Standards Division, to charge alleged 
offenders in police stations:

Trading Standards Manager
Divisional Officer (Business Support)
Divisional Officer Community Support and 
Regulation);

(4) (d) authorise the Trading Standards Operational 
Manager (or equivalent post holder) to charge alleged 
offenders in police stations:

.



13

The Head of Regeneration and Planning, assisted 
by the Development Management Manager has 
authority to determine all minor and other 
applications submitted by or on behalf of the 
Borough Council other than those listed under (A) 
below;

The Head of Regeneration and Planning, assisted by the 
Development Management Manager to determine on 
behalf of the Council all minor and other applications, 
including those submitted by the authority, excluding 
those applications listed under (A) below;

(iii) To exercise all the powers and duties of the 
Council arising under the provisions of Safety of 
Sports Grounds Act 1975 in relation to the issuing 
of notices prohibiting the admission of spectators to 
sports grounds and make agreed amendments to 
safety certificates.

Remove provision from Head of Regeneration and 
Planning responsibility area.

Transfer provision to Head of Corporate & Community 
Safety.  

SCHEDULE 4A 
PART 2 
para (1)

Page 123

N/a [Insert] after first paragraph ending with words ‘with 
express delegations below’, the following paragraph:

The delegations below may be exercised by any Council 
Officer duly authorised by the post holder to whom the 
delegation(s) have been given or by any other person 
duly authorised by the Chief Executive or Head of Legal 
and Member Services.





APPENDIX 1 - ANNEX A
35. Calling-In of decisions

(1) All decisions of:

(i) the Cabinet;
(ii) an individual member of the Cabinet; or
(iii) a committee of the Cabinet; and
(iv) key decisions taken by an officer

shall be published, and shall be available at the main offices of the 
Council normally within 2 days of being made. All members of the 
Council will be sent a copy of the decision.

(2) That Minute(s) will bear the date on which it is published and will 
specify that the decision will come into force, and may then be 
implemented, unless the decision is called in for scrutiny by 5:00p.m. 
on the final day of the Call-In period of within five clear working days 
from the date of publication. (Adjusted by a maximum of one day if 
there is one or more Bank Holidays in that period).

(3) (a) During that period, the Chief Executive shall Call-In a 
decision for scrutiny by the Co-ordinating Committee if so 
requested by any six members of the Council who have given 
detailed reasons for the Call- In of the decision. The detailed 
reasons must be provided by the Lead signatory, by the Call-In 
deadline. When a Call-In is requested the Chief Executive shall 
liaise with the Member listed first on the Call-In schedule, to 
ensure there is sufficient information provided to enable the Call-
In to proceed. As long as there is a clear reason given, the Call-
In should be allowed. He/she shall then notify the decision-taker 
of the Call-In. He/she shall call a meeting of the Committee on 
such date as he/she may determine, where possible after 
consultation with the Chair of the Co-ordinating Committee, and 
in any case within 15 working days of the decision to Call-In.

(b) The relevant Chief Officer and all members will be notified of a 
Call-In immediately and no action will be taken to implement the 
decision until the Call-In procedure has been completed. A 
decision of the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or individual 
Cabinet member may be called in only once.

(4) Having considered the decision, the Co-ordinating Committee may:-

(i) refer it back to the decision making person or body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns 
or;



(ii) refer the matter to full Council. Such a referral should only be 
made where the Co-ordinating Committee believes that the 
decision is outside the policy framework or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the budget. The procedures set out in 
those rules must be followed prior to any such referral.

(5) If a decision is referred back to the decision making person or body it 
shall be reconsidered in the light of the written concerns of the Co-
ordinating Committee before a final decision is made.

(6) If following a Call-In, the Co-ordinating Committee does not refer the 
matter back to the decision making person or body and does not refer 
the matter to Council, the decision shall take effect on the date of the 
Co-ordinating Committee meeting. If the Co-ordinating Committee does 
not meet the decision shall take effect from the date when the 
Committee should have met.

(7) If the matter is referred to full Council and the Council does not object 
to a decision which has been made, then the decision will become 
effective on the date of the Council meeting.

(8) If the Council does object the Council may take a decision, which is 
outside the policy and budgetary framework. Otherwise the Council will 
refer any decision to which it objects back to the decision-making 
person or body, together with the Council’s views on the decision. That 
decision making body or person shall choose whether to amend the 
decision or not before reaching a final decision and implementing it. 
Where the decision was taken by the Executive Board as a whole or a 
committee of it, a meeting will be convened to reconsider within ten 
working days of the Council request. Where the decision was made by 
an individual, the individual will reconsider within ten working days of 
the Council request.

(9) Call-In should only be used in exceptional circumstances where 
members have evidence which suggests that the decision was not 
made in accordance with the principles of decision making in the 
constitution.

(10) Call-In and urgency

(a) The Call-In procedure set out above shall not apply where the 
decision being taken by the Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be 
urgent if any delay is likely to be caused by the Call-In process 
would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest. 
The record of the decision and the notice by which it is made 
public shall state whether, in the opinion of the decision making 
person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not 
subject to Call-In. The Chief Executive must agree both that the 
decision proposed is reasonably in all the circumstances and to 
it being treated as a matter of urgency. Decisions taken as a 



matter of urgency must be reported to the next available meeting 
of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency.

(b) The operation of the provisions relating to Call-In and urgency 
shall be monitored annually, and a report submitted to Council 
with proposals for review if necessary.





APPENDIX 1 - ANNEX B
35. Calling-In of decisions

(1) All decisions of:

(i) the Cabinet;
(ii) an individual member of the Cabinet; or
(iii) a committee of the Cabinet; and
(iv) key decisions taken by an officer

shall be published, and shall be available at the main offices of the 
Council normally within 2 days of being made. All members of the 
Council will be sent a copy of the decision.

(2) That Minute(s) will bear the date on which it is published and will 
specify that the decision will come into force, and may then be 
implemented, unless the decision is called in for scrutiny by 5:00p.m. 
on the final day of the Call-In period of within five clear working days 
from the date of publication. (Adjusted by a maximum of one day if 
there is one or more Bank Holidays in that period).

(3)
(i) During that period, the Chief Executive shall Call-In a decision 

for scrutiny by the Co-ordinating Committee if so requested by 
any six members of the Council who have given detailed 
reasons for the Call- In of the decision. The detailed reasons 
must be provided by the Lead signatory, by the Call-In deadline. 
When a Call-In is requested the Chief Executive shall liaise with 
the Member listed first on the Call-In schedule, to ensure there is 
sufficient information provided to enable the Call-In to proceed. 
As long as there is a clear reason given, the Call-In should be 
allowed. He/she shall then notify the decision-taker of the Call-In. 
He/she shall call a meeting of the Committee on such date as 
he/she may determine, where possible after consultation with the 
Chairperson of the Co-ordinating Committee, and in any case 
within 15 working days of the decision to Call-In.

(ii) The relevant Chief Officer and all members will be notified of a 
Call-In immediately and no action will be taken to implement the 
decision until the Call-In procedure has been completed. A 
decision of the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or individual 
Cabinet member may be called in only once.

(iii) A Call-In Panel be established consisting of nine (9) members of 
the Co-Ordinating Committee (including deputies) to hear all call-
ins. The Panel of nine (9) members shall be politically 
proportionate (5:3:1). The panel shall be quorate if six (6) or 
more members are in attendance.



(iv) The Call-In Panel meetings shall commence at 4:00pm unless 
otherwise agreed by the Chairperson. 

(v) Should a call-in be adjourned part-heard it must be convened 
within 7 working days thereafter otherwise it shall be abandoned 
and a new Call-In Panel convened within 7 working days.

(4) Having considered the decision, the Co-ordinating Committee may:-

(i) refer it back to the decision making person or body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns 
or;

(ii) refer the matter to full Council. Such a referral should only be 
made where the Co-ordinating Committee believes that the 
decision is outside the policy framework or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the budget. The procedures set out in 
those rules must be followed prior to any such referral.

(5) If a decision is referred back to the decision making person or body it shall 
be reconsidered in the light of the written concerns of the Co-ordinating 
Committee before a final decision is made.

(6) If following a Call-In, the Co-ordinating Committee does not refer the 
matter back to the decision making person or body and does not refer the 
matter to Council, the decision shall take effect on the date of the Co-
ordinating Committee meeting. If the Co-ordinating Committee does not 
meet the decision shall take effect from the date when the Committee 
should have met.

(7) If the matter is referred to full Council and the Council does not object to a 
decision which has been made, then the decision will become effective on 
the date of the Council meeting.

(8) If the Council does object the Council may take a decision, which is 
outside the policy and budgetary framework. Otherwise the Council will 
refer any decision to which it objects back to the decision-making person 
or body, together with the Council’s views on the decision. That decision 
making body or person shall choose whether to amend the decision or not 
before reaching a final decision and implementing it. Where the decision 
was taken by the Executive Board as a whole or a committee of it, a 
meeting will be convened to reconsider within ten working days of the 
Council request. Where the decision was made by an individual, the 
individual will reconsider within ten working days of the Council request.

(9) Call-In should only be used in exceptional circumstances where members 
have evidence which suggests that the decision was not made in 
accordance with the principles of decision making in the constitution.

(10) Call-In and urgency



(i) The Call-In procedure set out above shall not apply where the 
decision being taken by the Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be 
urgent if any delay is likely to be caused by the Call-In process 
would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest. 
The record of the decision and the notice by which it is made 
public shall state whether, in the opinion of the decision making 
person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not 
subject to Call-In. The Chief Executive must agree both that the 
decision proposed is reasonably in all the circumstances and to 
it being treated as a matter of urgency. Decisions taken as a 
matter of urgency must be reported to the next available meeting 
of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency.

(ii) The operation of the provisions relating to Call-In and urgency 
shall be monitored annually, and a report submitted to Council 
with proposals for review if necessary.





APPENDIX 2
Protocol for Dealing with 

Referred Notices of Motion

i) This Protocol shall apply where a Notice of Motion has been referred by the Civic Mayor to 

the Executive or a Committee of the Council under Standing Order 7(4) of the Constitution.

 

ii) The Proposer and Seconder of a motion which has been referred under (i) above shall be 

given at least 7 days notice of the meeting at which the motion is to be considered. The 

Proposer (or in his/her absence, the Seconder) shall be expected to attend the meeting and 

explain the Motion.

iii) The Chairperson may call an extraordinary meeting of the Committee if he/she considers 

the matter to be time sensitive and the matter should be considered before the next 

scheduled meeting of the Committee.

iv) At the discretion of the Chairperson, other persons with expertise on the subject of the 

Motion may be invited to attend the meeting at which it is to be considered.

v) The following shall apply to speakers:-

(a) the Proposer (or in his/her absence, the Seconder) of the Motion – shall 

have up to 5 minutes to explain the motion (unless otherwise permitted by 

the Chairperson).

(b) any other person – up to 3 minutes (unless otherwise permitted by the 

Chairperson).

(c) the Proposer (or in his/her absence, the Seconder) of the Motion shall have  

the right of reply - not exceeding 3 minutes (unless otherwise permitted by 

the Chairperson).

(d) Questions may be asked of speakers by the Committee – not to exceed 5 

minutes (unless otherwise permitted by the Chairperson).



vi) Should both the Proposer and Seconder of the motion be unable to attend, no written 

submission on their behalf will be permitted and the motion shall be considered in their 

absence. 

vii) Consideration of the motion may be deferred to a future meeting to allow further 

information to be provided or other persons to attend.

viii) Subject to (vii) above, the Committee shall debate the Motion and reach a decision.

ix) Any decision taken in respect of the motion shall be referred to the next Ordinary Council 

meeting for consideration.



WIRRAL COUNCIL

TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES POLICY & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE

3 DECEMBER 2015

SUBJECT: SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY
WARD/S AFFECTED ALL
REPORT OF: ACTING HEAD OF HUMAN RESOURCES 

AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
RESPONSIBLE PORFOLIO 
HOLDER

CLLR A JONES

KEY DECISION NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report sets out proposals for a new Social Media Policy for Council 
employees.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1 The Council’s Human Resources policies are subject to an ongoing review to 
ensure that they remain fit for purpose, legally compliant and provide a 
valuable and workable resource for employees and managers on employment 
related issues in the workplace. 

2.2 The Council uses social media sites to proactively promote and market the 
Council’s communication messages related to campaigns, events and 
services, as well as interact with its customers and residents. As 87% of 
Wirral Council staff live in Wirral, a very high percentage of our employees 
(and in turn their families and friends) are also our customers.  

2.3 Currently, only a limited number of Council employees with a proven business 
need can access social media sites such as Facebook and Twitter on their 
council PCs. Another number have permission, based on a business case, to 
run and manage social media feeds on behalf of council services. This is a 
historical position but does not reflect how social media has changed. 

2.4 As a consequence of this we are not able to use the same channels of 
communication that we use externally with our own staff or utilise the full 
opportunities that social media offers. This includes promotional council 
videos hosted on the council’s You Tube channel.  

2.5 The Council’s Senior Leadership Team has agreed to broaden access to 
social media sites for all employees. This means that employees will be able 
to use their Wirral Council IT equipment to access social media sites, 
including Council marketing campaigns and promotional information.

2.6 This presents an opportunity to improve staff engagement through the sharing 
of Council news and information and by giving employees more opportunities 



to feedback and offer ideas using the modern channels that employees and 
residents are using outside of work.

2.7 The Council wishes to maximise the benefits and opportunities social media 
offers. The aim of the Social Media policy is primarily to safeguard both our 
staff and our service users while using social media, to protect the Council 
from the legal risks of social media and also to ensure the reputation of the 
authority is protected. Many organisations have Social Media Policies to 
ensure that employees are clear about the rules and that the organisation 
effectively manages the corporate use of social media.

2.8 This policy sets out what is expected of employees when accessing social 
media for personal use, while at work and also officially on behalf of the 
Council.

2.9 The policy refers to existing and related HR and IT polices. It remains the 
case that employees should limit their use of social media to their official rest 
breaks such as their lunch break/times and any serious breaches of the social 
media policy could result in disciplinary action being taken.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

3.1 There are various risks associated with the use of social media such as 
disclosure of confidential information, damage to the reputation of the Council, 
and breach of legislation. In light of these risks, there is a need for the Council 
to provide guidance so that employees operate within existing policies, 
guidelines and relevant legislation, and to ensure a consistent approach is 
adopted and maintained in the use of social media.

3.2 The Council recognises that there is potential for some employees to abuse the 
use of social media within the workplace for personal use. The policy provides 
guidance on acceptable use and outlines the implications for misuse.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

4.1 As use of Social Media as a communication tool continues to grow and evolve, 
there is a requirement for a policy to safeguard employees and the Council and 
this is therefore the most appropriate option.

5.0 CONSULTATION 

5.1 Trade Unions were formally consulted on the draft Policy. 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

6.1 There are no specific implications arising out of this report.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 

7.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. The IT 
implications of opening up access to social media have been discussed with IT 



Services.  The Social Media Policy will be applicable to all Council staff. The 
policy applies to employees whether they are using social media personally, on 
behalf of the Council, or in other ways. It sets out what is expected of 
employees when accessing social media for personal use, while at work and 
also officially on behalf of the Council.

8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 There are no specific legal implications arising out of this report. 

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

9.1. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

(a)  Is an EIA required? Yes

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0

10.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 There are no specific implications arising out of this report.

11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1 There are no specific implications arising out of this report.

12.0 RECOMMENDATION/S

12.1 That Policy and Performance Committee recommends to Council;

a) Approval of the Social Media Policy.

13.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

13.1 To maximise the benefits and opportunities social media offers as a modern 
approach to communication. 

13.2 To safeguard staff while using social media.

13.3 To ensure the reputation of the Council is protected arising from use of social 
media

REPORT AUTHOR: Tony Williams

Acting Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development 

telephone:  (0151) 691 8678

email: tonywilliams@wirral.gov.uk

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0
mailto:tonywilliams@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Draft Social Media Policy

REFERENCE MATERIAL

None

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date



APPENDIX ONE

1

Social Media Policy

1. Policy Statement

The Council values the use of social media as an important way of communicating 
with local residents and businesses and the people who use our services. Our 
employees should also be able to see and have access to the Council’s work on 
social media and should also be able to benefit from using social media for their own 
professional development.

The Council wishes to maximise the benefits and opportunities social media offers. 
The aim of this policy is primarily to safeguard both our staff and our service users 
while using social media, to protect the Council from the legal risks of social media, 
and also to ensure the reputation of the authority is protected at all times. This policy 
applies to employees whether they are using social media personally, on behalf of 
the Council, or in other ways.

2. Definition of social media

For the purposes of this policy, social media is a type of interactive online media that 
allows parties to communicate instantly with each other or to share data in a public 
forum. This includes online social forums such as Twitter, Facebook and LinkedIn. 
Social media also covers blogs and video and image-sharing websites such as 
YouTube, Instagram, Snapchat and Flickr.

Employees should be aware that there are many more examples of social media 
than can be listed here and this is a constantly changing area. Employees should 
follow these guidelines in relation to any social media that they use.

3. Use of social media at work

Employees are allowed to make reasonable and appropriate use of social media 
websites from the organisation's computers or devices, provided that this does not 
interfere with their duties. Employees should limit their use of social media to their 
official rest breaks such as their lunch break/times.

The organisation understands that employees may wish to use their own computers 
or devices, to access social media websites while they are at work. Employees 
should also limit their use of social media on their own equipment to their official rest 
breaks such as their lunch break/times.

In using the Council’s computers or devices for private social media use, employees 
must be aware that in accordance with the Council ICT policies, accessing of 
inappropriate material is unacceptable and may result in disciplinary action. 

Employees must be aware of accessing social media content on a Council PC or 
device which they access on their personal device but which may cause offence if it 
was visible or audible to others in a workplace or public environment. 



APPENDIX ONE

2

4. Excessive use of social media at work

Employees should not spend an excessive amount of time while at work using social 
media websites. They should ensure that use of social media does not interfere with 
their other duties. This is likely to have a detrimental effect on employees' 
productivity and could result in disciplinary action.

5. Monitoring use of social media during work time

The organisation reserves the right to monitor employees' internet usage, but will 
endeavour to inform an affected employee when this is to happen and the reasons 
for it. The organisation considers that valid reasons for checking an employee's 
internet usage include suspicions that the employee has:

 Been using social media websites when he/she should be working; or

 Acted in a way that is in breach of the rules set out in this policy.

The organisation reserves the right to retain information that it has gathered on 
employees' use of the internet for a period of one year, or for the duration of any 
related disciplinary sanctions.

Access to social media websites or the internet generally, may be withdrawn in any 
case of misuse.

6. Use of social media for work purposes

The Council has a number of authorised, managed and monitored social media 
feeds. Employees must not set up or contribute to any social media activities, 
on behalf of the Council, without seeking advice and permission from the 
Marketing and Communications team first. This is in all instances. 

If you would like to request permission to set up and manage a new social media 
feed, you will need to provide a business case, which will be reviewed by Marketing 
and Communications. You will also need your manager’s support and agreement. 
However, even with this, your request may be turned down if there is not a strong 
enough business case.

If you are given permission to run a Council feed:

Employees must be aware at all times that, while contributing to the organisation's 
social media activities, they are representing the organisation. Staff who use social 
media as part of their job must adhere to the following rules.

Employees should use the same safeguards as they would with any other form of 
communication about the organisation in the public sphere. These safeguards 
include:

 Making sure that the communication has a purpose and a benefit for the 
organisation; 



APPENDIX ONE

3

 Obtaining permission from a manager before embarking on a public campaign 
using social media; and

 Getting a colleague to check the content before it is published.

Any communications that employees make in a professional capacity through social 
media must not:

 Bring the organisation into disrepute, for example by: 

o Criticising or arguing with customers, service users, colleagues or 
rivals;

o Making defamatory comments about individuals or other organisations 
or groups; or

o Posting images that are inappropriate or links to inappropriate content;

 Breach confidentiality or the Data Protection Act, for example by: 

o Revealing trade secrets or information owned by the organisation;

o Giving away confidential information about an individual (such as a 
colleague or customer contact) or organisation; or

o Discussing the organisation's internal workings (such as contracts it 
may be entering in to or its future business plans that have not been 
communicated to the public);

o Revealing personal information about another individual;

 Breach copyright, for example by: 

o Using someone else's images or written content without permission;

o Failing to give acknowledgement where permission has been given to 
reproduce something; or

 Do anything that could be considered discriminatory against, or bullying or 
harassment of, any individual, for example by: 

o Making offensive or derogatory comments relating to sex, gender 
reassignment, race (including nationality), disability, sexual 
orientation, religion or belief or age;

o Using social media to bully or harass another individual (such as an 
employee of the organisation); or

o Posting images that are discriminatory or offensive [or links to such 
content]. 

Employees should not spend an excessive amount of time while at work using social 
media websites, even if they claim to be doing so as part of their work. If managing a 
feed, a campaign or an issue starts to need excessive time, you should discuss this 
with your manager.



APPENDIX ONE

4

7. Private use of social media

The organisation recognises that many employees make use of social media in a 
personal capacity. While they are not acting on behalf of the organisation, 
employees must be aware that their behaviour can impact on the organisation if they 
are recognised as being one of our employees.

The organisation recognises that it is natural for its staff sometimes to want to 
discuss their work on social media. However, the employee's online profile (for 
example, the name of a blog or a Twitter name) must not contain the organisation's 
name.

In addition to the bullet points on page 2 and 3, any communications that employees 
make in a personal capacity through social media must not:

 Bring the organisation into disrepute, for example by: 

o Using the Council logo or giving the impression that you are expressing 
the views of the Council;

 Breach confidentiality or the Data Protection Act, for example by: 

o Revealing personal information about another individual. This includes 
posting photographs of service users, or commenting about service 
users or posting details or photographs of colleagues without their 
permission;

Employees should not set up vulnerable children or adults who are service users, as 
friends or associates.

8. Protecting yourself on social media

You may wish to consider carefully who can see the information you post to social 
media, including your profile information, particularly employees in direct contact with 
service users and customers. Each social media platform offers information about 
how to adjust your privacy settings.

Employees and others associated with the Council should assume that anything 
posted on social media sites, even where privacy settings have been used, will 
become publicly available.

You should be aware that if you identify that you work for the Council on social 
media sites, this could link your behaviour outside of work to the reputation of the 
Council.

9. Disciplinary action over social media use

All employees are required to adhere to this policy. Employees should note that any 
breaches of this policy may lead to disciplinary action. Serious breaches of this 
policy, for example incidents of bullying of colleagues or social media activity causing 



APPENDIX ONE

5

serious damage to the organisation, even if carried out in personal time or on 
personal feeds, may constitute gross misconduct and lead to summary dismissal.

Employees should be aware that any reports of inappropriate activity linked to the 
Council will be investigated. Hard copies of social media entries/web records may be 
used in disciplinary proceedings.

It is important for employees in politically restricted posts to remain politically neutral. 
Employees should therefore not express any political views, either positive or 
negative, on social media, or post any content that could be seen as generating or 
discouraging public support for a political party. 

Employees should also be aware of the Code of Practice for employees when using 
the internet, e-mail and telecommunications, the IT Security policy, the Employee 
Code of Conduct and the Attendance Management Policy.

10.Who else is covered by this policy?

This policy applies to all employees of the Council, including those working from 
home or at non-Council locations.

The following groups should also have regard to this policy when working on Council 
business or when interacting with the Council:

 Elected Members 
 Consultants
 Agency staff
 Volunteers and contractors
 External organisations (when working with the Council)

11.Commitment to Equality 

Please identify which, if any, of the following Equality Duties this policy addresses:

Eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, 
harassment and 
victimisation

To advance equality of 
opportunity

To foster good 
relations between 
different groups of 
people

One of the main purposes of the policy is to safeguard both our staff and our service 
users while using social media, to protect the Council from the legal risks of social 
media and also to ensure the reputation of the authority is protected at all times.



APPENDIX ONE

6

12.Related Policies

 Disciplinary Policy and Procedure
 Capability (Performance) 
 Code of Practice for employees when using the internet, e-mail and 

telecommunications. 
 IT Security Policy
 The Employee Code of Conduct 
 The Attendance Management Policy



Council – 14 December, 2015

Motions

The following motions have been submitted in accordance with the notice required 
by Standing Order 7(10 and are listed in the order received.

1. Hamilton Square – Effective Scrutiny of Controversial Scheme (the Civic 
Mayor to refer to Policy and Performance Regeneration and Environment 
Committee)

Proposed by Councillor Alan Brighouse
Seconded by Councillor Pat Cleary

Council notes that a public consultation was recently carried out regarding the 
redesign of the access to Hamilton Square, Hamilton Street and the area in front of 
Birkenhead Town Hall.

Council is aware that many principled objections have been raised to this scheme, 
with concerns around the re-introduction of unnecessary traffic and noise, the 
removal of the expensive landscaping and paved areas introduced by the Hamilton 
Quarter and the overall purpose of the scheme.

Given the Council's limited financial resources, it is important that this project is 
tested against the 2020 Vision.  Before an investment of £1.1 m is committed, the 
Regeneration and Environment Policy and Performance Committee is requested to 
examine, in detail, the criteria used to justify this investment.

Council, therefore, suggests that the Highways and Traffic Representation Panel is 
not the most appropriate forum for this fundamental study and requests that the 
project be the subject of full consideration by the Policy and Performance 
Committee. 

2. Investing in our Constituencies (the Civic Mayor to refer to Cabinet) 

Proposed by Councillor Phil Gilchrist
Seconded by Councillor Dave Mitchell

Council:

a. notes the Capital receipts position reported to Cabinet on 5th November 2015.    

b. observes that the incoming receipts have been projected as £15m in 2016/17 
and £10.5m in 2017/18 and  is especially anxious to hear of the progress on 
obtaining the receipt from the
sale of land at Acre Lane.

Council believes that the Cabinet  should recognise that:



(i) the receipt from Acre Lane will be one of the most substantial receipts 
received since the Borough was created.

(ii) Constituency Committees, to date, have operated on modest devolved 
budgets and their ability to invest in capital schemes has been hampered by 
limited resources.

Council therefore suggests that:

1. Cabinet should place a sum of £4 million from the sale of Acre Lane into a 
fund to be accessed by the Constituency Committees and that this should be 
regarded as a dowry to give them resources to make a greater impact with 
their work.

2. Cabinet should consider allocating £1m from this asset sale into each 
Constituency Committee; in line with the 2020 vision and in the spirit of 
devolution to Constituency Committees, they should be enabled to determine 
the use of these funds.

3. A Strong, Stable Economy and Benefits for Wirral Residents (to be 
debated)

Proposed by Councillor Jeff Green
Seconded by Councillor Leslie Rennie

Council notes that there are two million more jobs in the country since 2010 - the 
highest rate of employment on record. 

Council further notes that over 31 million people up and down the country are in 
work, receiving a regular pay packet for themselves and their families. 

Council congratulates the Conservative Government and the predecessor Coalition 
Government on the successful delivery of their long term economic plan to date.

Council realises that a strong and stable economy is vital to pay for the services that 
all our residents deserve and expect. 

Council welcomes the tangible benefits that are being realised in Wirral from a strong 
and stable economy; Cammell Laird’s has recently announced that it has secured 
the contract to build a £200 million polar research ship for the Government-funded 
Natural Environment Research Council (NERC).  

Council is delighted that this project will secure around 500 local jobs and further 
contribute to the brighter economic outlook Government policies have secured. 

Council notes that the Conservative Government has not only developed sound 
economic policies to guarantee economic recovery but has also committed 
significant  investment across the City Region including:



£250 million for the New Alder Hey Hospital 
£470 million for The Mersey Gateway Crossing
£429 million for the new Royal Liverpool Hospital
£232 million for the City Region’s Growth Deal
£400 million for the Northern Powerhouse Investment Fund
£50 million to support Transport for the North
£150 million to support the delivery of smart and integrated ticketing across local 
transport and rail services in the North

Council therefore welcomes the commitment within its 2020 Plan to increase 
employment opportunities for Wirral residents and the refreshing of its Regeneration 
Strategy to support the achievement of this objective.  

Council calls upon all Members to do all that we can to ensure the opportunities 
provided by the Government’s long-term economic plan and Northern Powerhouse 
are taken and not squandered to benefit Wirral families.

4. Trade Union Bill (to be debated)

Proposed by Councillor Janette Williamson
Seconded by Councillor Treena Johnson

That this Council recognises the positive contribution that trade unions and trade 
union members make in our workplaces. This Council values the constructive 
relationship that we have with our trade unions and we recognise their commitment, 
and the commitment of all our staff, to the delivery of good quality public services. 

This Council notes with concern the Trade Union Bill which is currently being 
proposed by the Government and which would affect this Council’s relationship with 
our trade unions and our workforce as a whole. This Council rejects this Bill’s attack 
on local democracy and the attack on our right to manage our own affairs.

This Council is clear that facility time, negotiated and agreed by us and our trade 
unions to suit our own specific needs, has a valuable role to play in the creation of 
good quality and responsive local services. Facility time should not be determined or 
controlled by Government in London. 
This Council is happy with the arrangements we currently have in place for deducting 
trade union membership subscriptions through our payroll. We see this as an 
important part of our positive industrial relations and a cheap and easy to administer 
system that supports our staff. This system is an administrative matter for the 
Council and should not be interfered with by the UK Government.    
 
This Council resolves to support the campaign against the unnecessary, anti-
democratic and bureaucratic Trade Union Bill.

This Council further resolves to seek to continue its own locally agreed industrial 
relations strategy and will take every measure possible to maintain its autonomy with 
regard to facility time and the continuing use of check-off.  



5. Wirral Youth Zone (to be debated)

Proposed by Councillor Phil Davies
Seconded by Councillor Jean Stapleton

This Council welcomes the recent ground breaking ceremony to mark the start of the 
construction of the Wirral Youth Zone next to Birkenhead Fire Station. This £6m 
facility, designed by young people from Wirral, will provide world class sport and 
recreation facilities for young people throughout Wirral and is an excellent example 
of a successful public-private partnership. 

Council recognises that the evidence shows that where Youth Zones have been 
built, anti-social behaviour has reduced massively, levels of ill-health have fallen and 
young people engaging in Youth Zones have developed good social skills, and 
improved their self-esteem and confidence.

Council looks forward to the opening of Wirral Youth Zone at the end of 2016 and 
agrees to write to John Syvret, CEO of Cammell Laird and Chair of the Wirral Youth 
Zone Board, and offer our congratulations to everyone involved in this excellent 
facility.

6. CSR and Autumn Statement (to be debated)

Proposed by Councillor Phil Davies
Seconded by Councillor Ann Maclachlan

Council notes: 

 During the Comprehensive Spending Review and Autumn Statement the 
Chancellor performed embarrassing U turns on his plans to remove tax credits 
to hard working families and to cut the police budget for Merseyside.

Council recognises: 
 The Government saw the error of its ways in light of strong campaigns, 

lobbying and protest from the Labour Party, local residents and even the 
House of Lords, but is dismayed to hear the Government’s commitment to 
slash services in local authorities wasn’t similarly tempered. 

 While we await the final local government allocation, the indications are that a 
further £126million will be lost from Wirral’s coffers this Parliament, on top of 
the £151million lost in the previous 5 years.

 The example set by Conservative Leader of Oxford County Council who set 
the Prime Minister straight when he told him "I cannot accept your description 
of a drop in funding of £72m... as a 'slight fall' and the Conservative Chair of 
Local Government Association who said the Spending Review was “a 
knockout blow to cherished local services”. 



Council Resolves: 
 To condemn these cuts which mean Wirral residents and businesses will have 

seen a quarter of a billion pounds pinched from their pockets by this 
Government between 2010 and 2020.

 To write to the 4 Wirral MPs to ask them to lobby government for a fairer deal 
for Wirral residents.




	Agenda
	5 MINUTES
	Minutes , 19/11/2015 Council

	6 LEADER'S, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' AND CHAIRS REPORTS
	Cllr Ann McLachlan
	Cllr George Davies
	Cllr Pat Hackett
	Cllr Adrian Jones
	Cllr Christine Jones
	Cllr Christine Meaden
	Cllr Bernie Mooney
	Cllr Tony Smith
	Cllr Stuart Whittingham
	P&P Chairs' Report to Council 14.12.15

	7 MATTERS REQUIRING APPROVAL BY THE COUNCIL
	Capital Monitoring Q2 Report, 05/11/2015 Cabinet
	MINUTE EXTRACT CABINET 67
	Budget Council Arrangements Report, 05/11/2015 Cabinet
	MINUTE EXTRACT CABINET 69
	Devonshire Park Cabinet Report, 05/11/2015 Cabinet
	Appendix - Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Plan for Adoption, 05/11/2015 Cabinet
	Neighbourhood Plan for Adoption Text Only
	Devonshire Park Plan Figure 1
	Devonshire Park Plan Figure 2

	MINUTE EXTRACT LAC 11
	Statement of Principles - Gambling Act
	MINUTE EXTRACT SCOS 10
	rep3642, 23/11/2015 Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee
	MINUTE EXTRACT SCOS 11
	REPORT - Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee (23 November 2015) Constitutional Changes, 23/11/2015 Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee
	20151112_Proposed Amendments to the Constitution revised, 23/11/2015 Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee
	ANNEX A, 23/11/2015 Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee
	ANNEX B, 23/11/2015 Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee
	20151112_Protocol on Dealing with Notices of Motion Referrals revised, 23/11/2015 Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee
	Social Media Report FV, 03/12/2015 Policy and Performance - Transformation and Resources Committee
	Social Media Policy Appendix, 03/12/2015 Policy and Performance - Transformation and Resources Committee

	11 NOTICES OF MOTION



